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About Invacare Holdings Corporation

Invacare Holdings Corporation (OTC: IVCRQ) is a leading manufacturer and distributor in its markets for medical equipment, 
and services used in non-acute care settings. Invacare Holdings Corporation became the successor to Invacare Corporation upon its 
emergence from bankruptcy on May 5, 2023. References to “Invacare” and the “company” refer to Invacare Holdings Corporation and 
its predecessor Invacare Corporation, as the context requires. At its core, the company designs, manufactures and distributes products, 
services and solutions Making Life’s Experiences Possible® for people with congenital, acquired and degenerative conditions. The 
company's products are important parts of care for people with a wide range of challenges, from those who are active and heading to 
work or school each day and may need additional mobility to those who are cared for in residential care settings, at home and in 
rehabilitation centers in North America, Europe and Asia Pacific. For more information about the company and its products, visit the 
company's website at www.invacare.com.



Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The discussion and analysis presented below is concerned 
with material changes in financial condition and results of 
operations between the periods specified in the condensed 
consolidated balance sheets at March 31, 2023 and 
December 31, 2022, and in the condensed consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income (loss) for the three months 
ended March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022. 

The European segment's fiscal calendar runs December 
1st through November 30th in order to meet filing deadlines. 
For the first quarter, the financial results are consolidated for 
the European segment using a February 28 quarter end for 
2023 and 2022. This is consistent with prior filings the 
company has made historically. No material subsequent events 
have occurred related to the European segment, which would 

require disclosure or adjustment to the company's financial 
statements. All significant intercompany transactions are 
eliminated. The results of operations for the three months 
ended March 31, 2023 are not necessarily indicative of the 
results to be expected for the full year.

All comparisons presented are with respect to the same 
period last year, unless otherwise stated. This discussion and 
analysis should be read in conjunction with the condensed 
consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes that 
appear elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and 
the MD&A included in the company's Annual Report on Form 
10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022. For some 
matters, SEC filings from prior periods may be useful sources 
of information.

OVERVIEW

OVERVIEW

Invacare is a multi-national company with integrated 
capabilities to design, manufacture and distribute durable 
medical devices. The company makes products that help 
people move, rest and perform essential hygiene, and with 
those products the company supports people with congenital, 
acquired and degenerative conditions. The company's 
products, services and solutions are important parts of care for 
people with a range of challenges, from those who are active 
and involved in work or school each day and may need 
additional mobility support, to those who are cared for in 
residential care settings, at home and in rehabilitation centers. 
The company operates in facilities in North America, Europe 
and Asia Pacific, which are the result of dozens of acquisitions 
made over the company's forty-three year history. Some of 
these acquisitions have been combined into integrated 
operating units, while others have remained relatively 
independent.

Chapter 11 Bankruptcy

On January 31, 2023 (the “Petition Date”), the company 
and two of its U.S. subsidiaries (collectively, the “Debtors” or 
“Company Parties”) filed voluntary petitions under chapter 11 
of the United States Bankruptcy Code (the “Bankruptcy 
Code”) in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern 
District of Texas (the “Bankruptcy Court”). Invacare’s other 
businesses throughout the rest of the world (i.e., Europe, Asia 
Pacific, Canada), remain strong and are not included in these 
filings. The Debtors obtained joint administration of their 
chapter 11 cases under the caption In re Invacare Corporation, 
et al., Case No. 23-90068 (CML) (the “Chapter 11 Cases”).  

On March 29, 2023, the Company Parties filed the First 
Amended Joint Plan of Reorganization and First Amended 
Disclosure Statement (the “Amended Disclosure Statement”). 
On March 30, 2023, the Bankruptcy Court approved the 
adequacy of the Amended Disclosure Statement as well as the 
solicitation and notice procedures with respect to confirmation 
of the Plan, approved the forms of ballots and notices in 
connection therewith, approved the rights offering procedures 
and related materials, approved the scheduling of certain dates 
with respect thereto, and granted related relief.

The Debtors continued to operate their business and 
managed their properties as “debtors-in-possession” under the 
jurisdiction of the Bankruptcy Court and in accordance with 
the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code and orders 
of the Bankruptcy Court through May 5, 2023. To ensure 
ordinary course operations, the Company Parties obtained 
approval from the Bankruptcy Court for certain “first day” 
motions, including motions to obtain customary relief intended 
to continue ordinary course operations after the Petition Date.

Chapter 11 Plan

On April 28, 2023, the Bankruptcy Court entered an 
order (the “Confirmation Order”) confirming the First 
Amended Joint Chapter 11 Plan Reorganization of Invacare 
Corporation and its Debtor Affiliates (Technical 
Modifications) (the “Plan”). The Plan is attached to the 
Confirmation Order as Exhibit A. The following is a summary 
of the material terms of the Plan as approved and confirmed 
by the Bankruptcy Court. This summary highlights only 
certain substantive provisions of the Plan and is not intended 
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to be a complete description of the Plan. This summary is 
qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the Plan 
and the Confirmation Order.

• Other than the DIP Claims, Administrative Claims, 
Professional Fee Claims, and Priority Tax Claims, the 
Claims and Interests in the Debtors have been 
classified into 10 classes, the treatment of which is 
set forth in Article III of the Plan.

• Holders of claims arising under the prepetition senior 
secured term loan facility (the “Term Loan Claims”) 
(Class 3) will receive: (i) with respect to Allowed 
Term Loan Claims representing principal amounts 
owed, its Pro Rata share of the Exit Term Loan 
Facility and (ii) with respect to all other Allowed 
Term Loan Claims, payment in full in Cash.

• Holders of claims arising under the (a) 5.68% 
Convertible Senior Secured Notes due 2026, Tranche 
I and (b) 5.68% Convertible Senior Secured Notes 
due 2026, Tranche II, each issued by Invacare 
Corporation pursuant to the Secured Notes Indentures 
(the “Secured Notes Claims”) (Class 4) will receive:  
(i) with respect to Allowed Secured Notes Claims 
representing principal amounts owed, its Pro Rata 
share of the Exit Secured Convertible Notes and (ii) 
with respect to all other Allowed Secured Notes 
Claims, payment in full in Cash; provided that, if 
applicable pursuant to and in accordance with Article 
IV.C.3. of the Plan, such Holder will also receive its 
Pro Rata share of the applicable portion of the Excess 
New Money in Cash.

• Holders of claims arising under the (a) 4.25% 
Convertible Senior Notes due 2026, (b)  5.00% series 
I Convertible Senior Exchange Notes due 2024, and 
(c) 5.00% series II Convertible Senior Exchange 
Notes due 2024, all issued by certain Debtors 
pursuant to the Unsecured Notes Indentures (the 
“Unsecured Notes Claims”) (Class 5) will receive  its 
Pro Rata share of:  (i) the Unsecured Noteholder 
Rights, in accordance with the Rights Offering 
Procedures, (ii) with respect to any Residual 
Unsecured Notes Claims, its share (on a Pro Rata 
basis with other Residual Unsecured Notes Claims 
and Residual General Unsecured Claims) of 100% of 
the New Common Equity (subject to dilution on 
account of the Exit Secured Convertible Notes, the 
New Preferred Equity, the Backstop Equity Premium, 
and the Management Incentive Plan), and (iii) the 
distribution in respect of its Litigation Trust Interests 
to the extent provided in Article IV.K of the Plan.

• Holders of general unsecured claims  (the “General 
Unsecured Claims”) (Class 6) will receive either (x) 
if such Holder of an Allowed General Unsecured 
Claim does not elect to receive the Class 6 Equity 
Option, the GUC Cash Settlement and (y) its Pro 
Rata share of the distributions in respect of its 
Litigation Trust Interests, to the extent provided in 
Article IV.K of the Plan, or (y) if such Holder of an 
Allowed General Unsecured Claim elects to receive 
the Class 6 Equity Option in lieu of the GUC Cash 
Settlement, its share (on a Pro Rata basis with 
Holders of Allowed Unsecured Notes Claims in 
respect of their Residual Unsecured Notes Claims 
and other Holders of Allowed General Unsecured 
Claims that select the Class 6 Equity Option) of 
100% of the New Common Equity after the 
distribution of the New Common Equity on account 
of the Backstop Commitment Premium (subject to 
dilution on account of the Exit Secured Convertible 
Notes, the New Convertible Preferred Equity, and the 
Management Incentive Plan) and (z) its Pro Rata 
share of the distributions in respect of its Litigation 
Trust Interests, to the extent provided in Article IV.K 
of the Plan.

• All Existing Equity Interests in the Company (Class 
9), including the Company’s common stock, will be 
discharged, cancelled, released, and extinguished 
without any distribution, and will be of no further 
force or effect, and such holders will not receive or 
retain any distribution, property, or other value on 
account of such Existing Equity Interest.

• Classes 7, 8 and 10 were not compromised.

On May 5, 2023, the company emerged from bankruptcy 
and consummated the transactions contemplated in the Plan.  
The company’s operations and ability to develop and execute 
its business plan are subject to the risks and uncertainties 
associated with the Chapter 11 process. As a result of these 
risks and uncertainties, the amount and composition of the 
company’s assets, liabilities, officers and/or directors could be 
significantly different following the outcome of the Chapter 11 
Cases, and the description of the company’s operations, 
properties and liquidity and capital resources included in this 
quarterly report may not accurately reflect its operations, 
properties and liquidity and capital resources following the 
Chapter 11 process. Refer to “Item 1A. Risk Factors – 
Bankruptcy” in its Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 2022 for further discussion of potential 
adverse effects on the company of the Bankruptcy.

MD&A Overview

Table of Contents

2



Supply Chain Impacts

In the U.S., the supply chain was interrupted as a 
consequence of the bankruptcy filing which primarily 
impacted revenues and profit for the North America business 
as the team focused on restarting the supply chain to secure a 
steady flow of components into the operating locations to 
fulfill demand, including experiencing production stoppages 
and difficulty in fulfilling orders to meet demand. The 
company has seen favorable trends in some input costs at the 
start of 2023 (i.e., certain component material costs and freight 
costs), although there continue to be challenges with 
availability and higher costs associated with electronic 
components. While the company has implemented actions to 
mitigate the negative impact of higher input costs, including 
pricing actions, it is expected that there could continue to be a 
difference between the timing of when the benefits of 
mitigation actions are realized and when the cost inflation is 
incurred. 

The company continues to experience elevated open 
orders across all product categories and regions, with some 
reduction versus the previous quarter. The company has, and 
continues to, experience availability issues with components 
which has limited and may continue to limit the ability to 
increase output and meet demand across product categories.

The extent to which the company’s operations will 
continue to be impacted by the supply chain disruptions will 
depend on component and product availability.  Supply chain 
disruptions and inflation continue to negatively impact the 
global economy and have affected and may continue to affect 
the business including availability and cost of components and 
freight, which may continue to have a negative impact on the 
company and results of operations, if mitigation actions are 
not effective.

Strategy

The company's anticipated business optimization actions 
balance product portfolio changes across all regions and cost 
improvements in supply chain and administrative functions. 
Key elements of the global business optimization plans are:

• Focus on lifestyle and mobility and seating product 
lines based on their potential to achieve a leading 
market position and to support profitability goals;

• Simplify the organization to leverage a reduced cost 
structure while allocating resources to the business 
units or product categories which deliver improved 
financial returns;

• Product rationalization and discontinuance with 
consideration of cost increases incurred by the company 
and those anticipated to continue. Adjust the product 
portfolio to consistently grow profitability amid cost 

increases by adding new products, reducing costs and 
continuing to improve customer experiences; 

• Expand sales call points through new channels in the 
lifestyle category with a focus on home healthcare and 
augmenting the sales force to increase coverage to drive 
improved customer satisfaction; and

• Take actions globally to reduce working capital and 
improve free cash flow.

As it navigates the uncertain business environment, the 
company continues to allocate more resources to the business 
units experiencing increased demand and expects to continue 
taking actions to mitigate the potential negative financial and 
operational impacts on other parts of the business that have 
declined. 

The company intends to continue to make investments in 
its business improvement initiatives with a focus on improving 
profitability and free cash flow generation. As a result, the 
company may take actions which may reduce sales in certain 
areas, refocus resources away from less profitable activities, 
and look at its global infrastructure for opportunities to further 
optimize the business. As part of the company’s efforts to 
streamline its operations and focus its resources on core 
product lines that provide the greatest value and financial 
returns, the company continuously evaluates opportunities and 
activities, including potential divestitures, which it considers 
from time to time, particularly if they involve businesses or 
assets outside of the company’s primary areas of focus.

Outlook

The company participates in durable healthcare markets 
and serves a persistent need for its products. By continuing to 
drive for improved operating efficiency, the company seeks to 
grow revenue and profit, and improve its cash flow 
performance into the future.

Cost pressures on the business due to supply chain 
disruptions and inflationary economic conditions are 
anticipated to continue through 2023. The company continues 
to see historically higher input costs related to materials, 
increasing the challenges to schedule deliveries of key 
components, including electronic components. Freight costs 
have improved versus prior year and sequential quarter and 
have contributed to improved gross profit. While the company 
has implemented actions to mitigate these cost increases, 
additional restructuring actions may be implemented to drive 
profit and improve cash flows. These actions are expected to 
include organization and supply chain changes and a 
narrowing of the product portfolio for those items which no 
longer meet customer or business needs. These actions are 
anticipated to continue through 2023, and as a result, the 
company anticipates incurring additional costs related to its 
restructuring actions.
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On a consolidated basis, the company expects to realize 
profit improvement driven by favorable product mix, higher 
gross profit attributable to operational efficiencies, and 
restructuring benefits partially offset by continued higher input 
costs specifically related to electronic components. Revenue is 
anticipated to decline as compared to 2022 as a result of the 
exit of respiratory products and other portfolio rationalization 
initiatives. The company expects to incur restructuring charges 
in the remainder of 2023 as it focuses on improving the 
profitability of the business for the long-term related to supply 
chain footprint projects, including severance costs. 

The company's earnings performance for the long-term is 
expected to benefit from: (1) margin expansion related to 
favorable product mix results from product rationalization 
efforts and improved efficiencies in our operations offset our 
higher material and freight costs; and (2) restructuring actions.

The company continues to focus on executing its 
transformation plan to drive revenue growth and deliver 
significant improvement in financial performance.  

Favorable Long-term Demand

Ultimately, demand for the company's products and 
services is based on the need to provide care for people with 
certain conditions. The company's medical devices provide 
solutions for end-users and caregivers. Therefore, the demand 
for the company's medical equipment is largely driven by 
population growth and the incidence of certain conditions 
where treatment may be supplemented by the company's 
devices. 

Contributing factors to the industry's favorable long-term 
demand include: 

• As healthcare costs continue to increase, the interests 
of patients and healthcare providers are converging to 
focus on the most cost-effective delivery of the best 
care. As healthcare payors become more judicious in 
their spending, companies that provide better care or 
demonstrate better clinical outcomes will have an 
advantage. With its diverse product portfolio, clinical 
solutions, global scale and focus on the non-acute 
care setting, the company believes it is well 
positioned to serve this growing market.

• Macro trends are impacting the world's aging 
population. While institutional care will likely remain 
an important part of healthcare systems in the 
wealthiest economies, the company believes care 
settings other than traditional hospitals will 
increasingly provide higher acuity care. With a broad 
product offering, diversified channels of trade, and 
infrastructure capable of serving many of the largest 
healthcare economies, the company believes it is well 
positioned to benefit from these global demographic 
trends and changes to the provision of healthcare.

• The population of the United States is growing and 
aging. As a result, there is a greater prevalence of 
disability among major U.S. population groups and 
an increasing need for assistance and care. The U.S. 
Census Bureau has projected the U.S. population will 
continue to grow to an estimated 400 million by 
2050. Along the way, Baby Boomers are expected to 
continue to raise the average age of the U.S. 
population. By 2030, the government estimates that 
more than 20% of the U.S. population will consist of 
individuals over the age of 65, a 50% increase 
compared to the population in 2010.

• In the United States, healthcare provision is 
supported by reimbursement from the federal Centers 
for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”), the 
Department of Veterans Affairs, state agencies, 
private payors and healthcare recipients themselves. 
In total, CMS estimates U.S. national healthcare 
expenditures will grow by more than 5% annually 
between 2019 and 2028. At this rate, healthcare 
spending would exceed GDP growth by 1%, which 
will sustain pressure to deploy care in ways that 
deliver the best outcomes for lower cost.

• In the United States, healthcare provision is 
supported by reimbursement from the federal Centers 
for Medicare and Medicaid Services (“CMS”), the 
Department of Veterans Affairs, state agencies, 
private payors and healthcare recipients themselves. 
In total, CMS estimates U.S. national healthcare 
expenditures will grow by more than 5% annually 
between 2019 and 2028. At this rate, healthcare 
spending would exceed GDP growth by 1%, which 
will sustain pressure to deploy care in ways that 
deliver the best outcomes for lower cost.

The company also provides solutions to help equipment 
providers and residential care operators deliver cost-effective 
and high-quality care. The company believes that its 
commercial team, customer relationships, products and 
solutions, supply chain infrastructure, and new product 
opportunities will create favorable business potential.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS - NET SALES

The company operates in two primary business segments: North America and Europe with each selling the company's primary product 
categories, which include: lifestyle, mobility and seating and respiratory therapy products. Sales in Asia Pacific are reported in All Other and 
include products similar to those sold in North America and Europe.

($ in thousands USD) 1Q23 1Q22
% Change 

Fav/(Unfav)

Foreign 
Exchange % 

Impact

Constant 
Currency % 

Change
Fav/(Unfav)

Europe  104,923  118,079  (11.1)  (7.0)  (4.1) 
North America  52,364  75,319  (30.5)  (0.4)  (30.1) 
All Other (Asia Pacific)  8,194  7,590  8.0  (6.1)  14.1 
Consolidated  165,481  200,988  (17.7)  (4.5)  (13.2) 

The table above provides net sales change as reported and 
as adjusted to exclude the impact of foreign exchange 
translation (constant currency net sales). “Constant currency 
net sales" is a non-Generally Accepted Accounting Principles 
("GAAP") financial measure, which is defined as net sales 
excluding the impact of foreign currency translation. The 
current year's functional currency net sales are translated using 
the prior year's foreign exchange rates. These amounts are 
then compared to the prior year's sales to calculate the 
constant currency net sales change. 

Consolidated constant currency sales declined 13.2%. 
Excluding the divestiture of respiratory products, constant 
currency net sales declined 7.7% with largest decline in North 
America as result of the bankruptcy filing and global product 
discontinuations.

The company continued to experience strong demand for 
its lifestyle and mobility and seating products globally. Open 
orders related to lifestyle and mobility and seating products 
remain elevated due to global component shortages, primarily 
related to electronic components and other key input materials, 
as well as the impact leading up to and as a result of the 
bankruptcy process in North America.

Global supply chain challenges and availability limits due 
to past-due payables to suppliers continued to delay receipt of 
components and limit conversion of orders to sales, which 
continued to impact each of the regions in 1Q23 but most 
prominently in North America. The bankruptcy process 
permitted payment of pre-petition liabilities up to an 
aggregated maximum of $20 million. The company has and 
continues to work with suppliers to access components in 
order to continue production and anticipates to normalize 
supply chain payment terms with the emergence from 
bankruptcy.  

Europe - Constant currency net sales decreased 
$4,885,000, or 4.1% in 1Q23 compared to 1Q22 in lifestyle 

and mobility and seating products.  Lifestyle product net sales 
in the quarter were primarily impacted by product 
discontinuations; supply chain challenges which primarily 
impacted electronic components for mobility and seating 
product.

North America - Constant currency net sales for 1Q23 
decreased $22,650,000 or 30.1% compared to 1Q22 with 
decreases in all categories. Respiratory product sales 
decreased by $13,929,000, which the company exited in the 
early part of 1Q23. Excluding the divestiture of respiratory 
products, constant currency sales declined $8,720,000 or 
14.6%. This decline was influenced by the bankruptcy filing in 
1Q23 negatively impacted the fulfillment of orders as the 
supply chain was disrupted leading up to and as a result of the 
bankruptcy filing.  

All Other - Constant currency net sales, which relates 
entirely to the Asia Pacific region, increased $1,067,000 or 
14.1% for 1Q23 compared to 1Q22, primarily related to 
respiratory and lifestyle products. 

MD&A Net Sales

Table of Contents

5



GROSS PROFIT
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Gross profit decreased $3,885,000 and gross profit as a 
percentage of net sales for 1Q23 increased 280 basis points to 
26.5% primarily attributable to lower freight costs and benefit 
of increased pricing across product categories, partially offset 
by lower volumes. Foreign currency translation impact on 
gross margin was unfavorable $2,899,000.  

Gross profit drivers by segment:

Europe - Gross profit dollars for 1Q23 increased 
$1,015,000 compared to 1Q22. Gross profit as a percentage of 
net sales increased 390 basis points compared to 1Q22. The 
favorable impact of price increases and reduced freight costs 
was partially offset by lower net sales as compared to prior 
year. 

 
North America - Gross profit dollars decreased 

$5,279,000 and gross profit as a percentage of net sales 
decreased 50 basis points for 1Q23 compared to 1Q22 driven 
primarily by lower net sales and unfavorable operational costs 
partially offset by the benefits of price increases and reduced 
freight costs.  

All Other - Asia Pacific gross profit dollars were flat 
compared to prior year, and gross profit as a percentage of net 
sales decreased 240 basis points for 1Q23 compared to 1Q22 
driven primarily by higher material costs.

All Other also includes the impact of intercompany profit 
eliminations for the consolidated company. 
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SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

($ in thousands USD) 1Q23 1Q22
Reported 
Change

Foreign 
Exchange 

Impact

Constant 
Currency 
Change

SG&A expenses - $  53,809  60,564  (6,755)  (1,781)  (4,974) 
SG&A expenses - % change  (11.2)  (2.9)  (8.2) 
% to net sales  32.5  30.1 

The table above provides selling, general and 
administrative (SG&A) expenses change as reported and as 
adjusted to exclude the impact of foreign exchange translation 
(constant currency SG&A). "Constant currency SG&A" is a 
non-GAAP financial measure, which is defined as SG&A 
expenses excluding the impact of foreign currency translation. 
The current year's functional currency SG&A expenses are 
translated using the prior year's foreign exchange rates. These 
amounts are then compared to the prior year's SG&A expenses 
to calculate the constant currency SG&A expenses change. 
Management believes this financial measure provides 
meaningful information for evaluating the core operating 
performance of the company.

Constant currency SG&A decreased $4,974,000 or 8.2% 
for 1Q23 compared to the same period last year primarily 
attributable to lower employee and IT costs.  Lower employee 
costs reflect the benefits of restructuring actions (headcount 
reductions) implemented in 2022.     

SG&A expense drivers by segment:

Europe - SG&A expenses for 1Q23 decreased $1,930,000 
or 7.3% compared to 1Q22 with foreign currency translation 
decreasing SG&A expenses by $1,554,000, or 5.9%. Constant 
currency SG&A expenses decreased $376,000, or 1.4% 
primarily driven by employee costs. 

North America - SG&A expenses for 1Q23 decreased 
$3,301,000, or 13.6%, compared to 1Q22. Constant currency 
SG&A expenses decreased $3,231,000, or 13.3% primarily 
attributable to employee costs. 

All Other - SG&A expenses for 1Q23 decreased 
$1,524,000 compared to 1Q22 with foreign currency 
translation decreasing SG&A expenses by $157,000. Constant 
currency SG&A expenses decreased by $1,367,000. All Other 
includes SG&A related to the Asia Pacific businesses and non-
allocated corporate costs. Constant currency SG&A expenses 
related to Asia Pacific businesses for 1Q23 decreased 9.8% or 
$258,000. Unallocated corporate costs decreased $1,112,000 
primarily due to IT costs. 
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OPERATING INCOME (LOSS)

($ in thousands USD) 1Q23 1Q22 $ Change
Europe  6,170  3,225  2,945 
North America  (10,315)  (8,336)  (1,979) 
All Other  (5,820)  (7,724)  1,904 
Net gain on sale of businesses  4,212  —  4,212 
Charges related to restructuring  (4,694)  (3,790)  (904) 
Consolidated Operating Income (Loss)  (10,447)  (16,625)  6,178 

Consolidated operating loss decreased compared to last 
year primarily due to the net gain on sale of businesses, 
improved performance in Europe and overall lower SG&A 
expense on global basis.

Operating income (loss) by segment:

Europe - Operating income for 1Q23 increased 
$2,945,000.  The increase in operating income for 1Q23 was 
primarily due to higher gross profit due to lower costs, and 
SG&A costs savings.

North America - Operating loss for 1Q23 increased by 
$1,979,000 primarily due to lower gross profit driven by lower 
sales, partially offset by SG&A costs savings.

All Other - Operating loss for All Other includes the 
operating results of the Asia Pacific businesses, as well as 
unallocated SG&A expenses and intercompany eliminations. 
Operating loss decreased $1,904,000 primarily driven by 
improved profitability in the Asia Pacific business primarily 
driven by revenue growth and reduced SG&A expense, as well 
as lower IT costs in Corporate unallocated costs. 

Net Gain on Sales of Businesses

In the first quarter of 2023, the company completed the 
sale of its respiratory business assets and its Top End™® 
sports and recreational wheelchair and handcycle business net 
assets.  The net gain realized on the sale for these businesses 
was $4,212,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2023.

Charges Related to Restructuring Activities

Restructuring charges were $4,694,000 for 1Q23 
compared to $3,790,000 for 1Q22 which includes severance, 
contract terminations and other restructuring costs (primarily 
professional fees). Restructuring charges for 1Q23 were 
incurred in the Europe segment of $972,000 and North 
America segment of $3,722,000. 
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OTHER ITEMS

Net gain on convertible debt derivatives 

($ in thousands USD) 1Q23 1Q22
$ 

Change
% 

Change
Net gain on convertible 
debt derivatives  (85)  —  (85) NM

The company recognized a net gain of $85,000 for the 
three months ended March 31, 2023 related to the fair value of 
convertible debt derivatives related to the Secured 2026 Notes.  
Refer to "Long-Term Debt" in the notes to the condensed 
consolidated financial statements.  

Interest 

($ in thousands USD) 1Q23 1Q22
$ 

Change
% 

Change
Interest expense  9,101  6,252  2,849  45.6 
Interest income  (17)  —  (17) NM

The increase in interest expense for 1Q23 compared to the 
same period of prior year was primarily related to higher debt 
levels for the full periods of 2023 compared to 2022, as well 
as higher interest rate debt related to the Debtor in Possession 
Term Loan and ABL financing in 1Q23. The weighted 
average interest rate on borrowings, excluding finance leases, 
was 9.5% for the three months ended March 31, 2023, 
respectively, and 4.5% for the three months ended March 31, 
2022.

Reorganization items - net 

($ in thousands USD) 1Q23 1Q22
$ 

Change
% 

Change
Reorganization items, 
net  20,791  —  20,791 NM

Reorganization items - net relate to the Chapter 11 
bankruptcy process and are primarily attributable to 
professional fees, DIP financing fees and the write down of 
debt issuance costs. 

Income Taxes 

The company had an effective tax rate of 2.3% and 5.8% 
on losses before tax for the three months ended March 31, 
2023 and March 31, 2022, respectively, compared to a 
statutory benefit of 21.0% on the pre-tax loss for each period. 
The company's effective tax rate for the three months 
ended March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022 
was unfavorable as compared to the U.S. federal statutory rate, 
principally due to the negative impact of the company's 
inability to record tax benefits related to the significant losses 
in countries which had tax valuation allowances. The effective 
tax rate was increased for the three months ended March 31, 
2023 and March 31, 2022 by certain taxes outside the United 

States, excluding countries with tax valuation allowances, that 
were at an effective rate higher than the U.S. statutory rate.
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Key balances on the company's balance sheet and related metrics are presented below:

($ in thousands USD) March 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 $ Change % Change
Cash and cash equivalents $ 66,284 $ 58,792 $ 7,492  12.7 
Working capital (1)  44,196  79,183  (34,987)  (44.2) 
Total debt (2)  464,352  430,394  33,958  7.9 
Long-term debt (2)  425,534  427,134  (1,600)  (0.4) 
Total shareholders' equity  45,939  81,092  (35,153)  (43.3) 
DIP ABL & Prior ABL borrowing availability (3)  14,023  15,288  (1,265)  (8.3) 

(1) Current assets less current liabilities without the reclassification of Liabilities Subject to Compromise.
(2) Total debt and Long-term debt include finance leases but exclude debt issuance costs and discount recognized as a deduction 

from the carrying amount of debt liability and operating leases. In addition, the amounts do not consider any treatment as 
Liabilities Subject to Compromise.

(3) Reflects the availability of the company's prior asset-based revolving (“Prior ABL”) credit facility for December 31, 2022 
and DIP ABL credit facility for March 31, 2023 before borrowings. At March 31, 2023, the company had $13,870,000 of 
borrowings outstanding on its DIP ABL credit facility.  

 
The company's cash and cash equivalents balances were 

$66,284,000 and $58,792,000 at March 31, 2023 and 
December 31, 2022, respectively. The increase in cash in the 
first three months of 2023 is primarily attributable to DIP 
financing transactions as a result of the bankruptcy filing 
offset by cash used from operations.  

Refer to “Long-Term Debt” in the notes to the condensed 
consolidated financial statements included in this report for a 
summary of the material terms of the company's long-term 
indebtedness. 

Debt repayments, acquisitions, divestitures, the timing of 
vendor payments, the timing of customer rebate payments, the 
granting of extended payment terms to significant national 
accounts and other activity can have a significant impact on 
the company's cash flow and borrowings outstanding such that 
the cash reported at the end of a given period may be 
materially different than cash levels during a given period. 

The company's total debt outstanding, inclusive of the 
company's unsecured convertible senior notes due 2024 and 
2026 (which are subject to compromise as a result of the 
bankruptcy), secured convertible senior notes due 2026, 
secured term loan due 2026, DIP ABL, DIP Term Loan, and 
finance leases, increased by $33,958,000 to $464,352,000 at 
March 31, 2023 from $430,394,000 as of December 31, 2022. 
The increase is primarily driven by DIP Term Loan financing 
in 1Q23 of $35,000,000 and accretion on convertible 
unsecured senior notes due 2024 (prior to Bankruptcy 
petition).  

Bankruptcy Impact Related to Going Concern

In accordance with Accounting Standards Update 
(“ASU”) 2014-15, Presentation of Financial Statements – 
Going Concern:  Disclosure of Uncertainties about an Entity’s 
Ability to Continue as a Going Concern, the company is 
required to evaluate whether there is substantial doubt about 
its ability to continue as a going concern each reporting 
period.  In evaluating the company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern, management evaluated the conditions and 
events that could raise substantial doubt about the company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the 
date that the financial statements are issued on May 15, 2023.

On January 31, 2023 (the “Petition Date”), the company 
and two of its U.S. subsidiaries (collectively, the “Debtors” or 
“Company Parties”) filed voluntary petitions under chapter 11 
of the United States Bankruptcy Code (the “Bankruptcy 
Code”) in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern 
District of Texas (the “Bankruptcy Court”).  The Debtors 
obtained joint administration of their chapter 11 cases under 
the caption In re Invacare Corporation, et al., Case No. 
23-90068 (CML) (the “Chapter 11 Cases”).

In light of the company's Chapter 11 Cases and such 
status as of the end of the first quarter of 2023, the company's 
ability to continue as a going concern was contingent upon, 
among other things, the company's ability to, subject to 
approval by the Bankruptcy Court, implement a plan of 
reorganization, emerge from the Chapter 11 proceedings and 
generate sufficient liquidity following the reorganization to 
meet contractual obligations and operating needs. The Chapter 
11 Cases created certain risks and uncertainties related to, 
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among other things, (i) the company's ability to obtain 
requisite support for the plan of reorganization from various 
stakeholders, and (ii) the disruptive effects of the Chapter 11 
Cases on the company's business making it potentially more 
difficult to maintain business, financing and operational 
relationships.

Given the inherent risks, unknown results and inherent 
uncertainties associated with the bankruptcy process and direct 
correlation between these matters and the company’s ability to 
satisfy its financial obligations that may arise, the company 
concluded that given status of events known as of March 31, 
2023, there continued to be doubt it may continue to operate as 
a going concern.  Refer to those risk factors discussed under 
“Risk Factors” in Part II, Item 1A of the company’s Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022 
and this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for further discussion 
of risks applicable to the company’s liquidity, capital 
resources and financial condition.  

The company may incur additional financing in the 
future, which could include substantial additional debt 
(including secured debt) or equity or equity-linked financing. 
Although the terms of the agreements governing existing debt 
restrict the company's ability to incur additional debt 
(including secured debt), such restrictions are subject to 
several exceptions and qualifications and such restrictions and 
qualifications may be waived or amended, and debt (including 
secured debt) incurred in compliance with such restrictions 
and qualifications (as they may be waived or amended) may 
be substantial.

The company may from time to time seek to repay or 
purchase, exchange or otherwise retire its convertible notes or 
other debt obligations, in open market transactions, privately 
negotiated transactions, tender offers, exchange offers, 
pursuant to the term of debt or otherwise. The company may 
also incur additional debt (including secured debt) or equity or 
equity-linked financing to fund such transactions, refinance or 
restructure existing debt and/or exchange existing debt for 
newly issued debt obligations or equity or equity-like 
securities. The number of shares of common stock or 
securities convertible into common stock that may be issued in 
connection with such transactions may be material. Such 
transactions, if any, will depend on prevailing market 
conditions, trading prices of debt from time to time, the 
company's liquidity requirements and cash position, 
contractual restrictions and other factors. The amount involved 
in any such transactions, individually or in the aggregate, may 
be material. 

Subsequent Event

On May 5, 2023, the company emerged from 
Bankruptcy with a recapitalized balance sheet to include a new 
asset-based lending credit facility (“New ABL”) with 

borrowing capacity up to $40,000,000, $85,000,000 secured 
term loan due 2027, $46,475,000 7.50% secured convertible 
notes due 2028 and $75,000,000 of 9% convertible preferred 
stock. Unsecured convertible 2024 and 2026 notes, including 
accretion, of $220,367,000 and accrued interest were 
cancelled. Further, $35,500,000 of the DIP Loan and the 
$13,870,000 DIP ABL were repaid and $13,400,000 of the 
New ABL was drawn. The company believes the plan of 
reorganization, which was approved by the bankruptcy court, 
was sufficient to emerge from the Chapter 11 proceedings and 
should generate additional liquidity following the 
reorganization, as well as being  predicated on improved 
operating performance of the business, and in particular the 
North America business, to meet contractual obligations and 
operating needs. 

If the company's operating results decrease as the result 
of pressures on the business due to, for example, prolonged, or 
worsening of, negative impacts on the company's supply 
chain, or political or geopolitical crises such the Russian war 
with Ukraine, and actions taken in response on global and 
regional economies and economic activity, inflationary 
economic conditions, increases in interest rates on floating-
rate debt, currency fluctuations or regulatory issues, or the 
company's failure to execute its business plans or if the 
company's business improvement actions take longer than 
expected to materialize or development of one or more of the 
other risks discussed in "Item 1A. Risk Factors" of the 
company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K and this Quarterly 
Report on Form 10-Q, the company may require additional 
financing, or may be unable to comply with its obligations 
under the credit facilities or its other obligations, and its 
lenders or creditors could demand repayment of any amounts 
outstanding. If additional financing is required, there can be no 
assurance that it will be available on terms satisfactory to the 
company, if at all. The company also may evaluate and 
implement further changes to its strategic goals and business 
plans, which may involve additional restructuring of its 
operations. If and to the extent undertaken, any such 
restructuring may be substantial and involve significant effort 
and expense, and the company can make no assurances that 
such efforts, if undertaken, would be successful and result in 
improvements to the company’s business performance and 
financial condition. Refer to “Item 1A. Risk Factors” in the 
company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K and this Quarterly 
Report on Form 10-Q for a further discussion of risks 
applicable to the company's liquidity, capital resources and 
financial condition.

The company also has an agreement with De Lage 
Landen, Inc. (“DLL”), a third-party financing company, to 
provide lease financing to the company's U.S. customers. 
Either party could terminate this agreement with 180 days' 
notice or 90 days' notice by DLL upon the occurrence of 
certain events. Should this agreement be terminated, the 
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company's borrowing needs under its credit facilities could 
increase.

The company expects that it would be able to absorb 
modest rate increases without material impact on its liquidity 
or capital resources. The weighted average interest rate on 
borrowings, excluding finance leases, was 9.5% for the three 
months ended March 31, 2023 and 5.3% for the year ended 
December 31, 2022. This weighted average interest rate will 
increase in the second quarter of the year as a result of the 
refinancing transactions upon emergence from Bankruptcy on 
May 5, 2023. Refer to "Long-Term Debt" and "Leases and 
Commitments" in the notes to the condensed consolidated 
financial statements for more details regarding the company's 
debt transactions and balances as well as lease liabilities.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

The company estimates that capital investments for 2023 
could be approximately $9,000,000 to $15,000,000 compared 
to actual capital expenditures of $3,778,000 in 2022. Capital 
expenditures for 2023 are limited by covenants related to the 
exit Term Loan facility upon bankruptcy emergence to not 
exceed $15,000,000. The company believes that its balances 
of cash and cash equivalents and borrowing facilities will be 
sufficient to meet its operating cash requirements and fund 
capital expenditures (refer to “Liquidity and Capital 
Resources”). 
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CASH FLOWS
$ 

in
 th

ou
sa

nd
s

Net Cash Used by Operating Activities

$(27,698)
$(30,614)

1Q22 1Q23

The increase in cash used by operating activities for the 
three months ended March 31, 2023 was driven primarily by 
funding of an operating loss, accrued expenses and accounts 
payable partially offset by accounts receivable collections and 
lower inventory levels. In addition, 1Q23 cash flows from 
operations included funding of $10,706,000 in restructuring 
costs payments and $2,800,000 to fund a Directors and 
Officers insurance premium as a result of the bankruptcy 
filing.  

$ 
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Net Cash Provided (Used) by Investing Activities

$(2,213)

$9,080

1Q22 1Q23

The year over year change in cash flows related to 
investing activities was driven primarily by the proceeds from 
the sale of the respiratory business in 1Q23.
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Net Cash Provided (Used) by Financing Activities

$(1,180)

$28,613

1Q22 1Q23

Cash flows provided by financing activities in the first 
three months of 2023 included debtor-in-possession (DIP) 
financings of $35,000,000, credit facility borrowings and 
repayments, and payments of financing costs and finance 
leases. 
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Free cash flow is a non-GAAP financial measure and is 
reconciled to the corresponding GAAP measure as follows:

 ($ in thousands USD) 1Q23 1Q22
Net cash used by operating activities $ (30,614) $ (27,698) 
Plus: Sales of property and 
equipment  —  5 
Less: Purchases of property and 
equipment  (1,978)  (2,131) 
Free Cash Flow (usage) $ (32,592) $ (29,824)  

Free cash flow (usage) for the first three months 2023 and 
2022 was primarily impacted by the same items that affected 
cash flows used by operating activities. Free cash flow is a 
non-GAAP financial measure that is comprised of net cash 
provided (used) by operating activities less purchases of 
property and equipment plus proceeds from sales of property 
and equipment. Management believes that this financial 
measure provides meaningful information for evaluating the 
overall financial performance of the company and its ability to 
repay debt or make future investments (including acquisitions, 
etc.).

Generally, the first half of the year is cash consumptive 
and impacted by significant disbursements related to annual 
customer rebate payments which normally occur in the first 
quarter of the year. In addition, investment in inventory is 
typically heavy in the first half of the year.
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The company's approximate cash conversion days at March 31, 2023, December 31, 2022 and March 31, 2022 were as follows:

Cash Conversion

43.4

72.5

67.4

48.5

37.3

73.9

58.8

52.4

44.3

83.4

68.5

59.2

March 31, 2023 December 31, 2022 March 31, 2022

Days in receivables

Days in inventory

Days in accounts payable

Total cash conversion days

0 10 20 30 40 50 60 70 80 90

Days in receivables are equal to current quarter net 
current receivables divided by trailing four quarters of net 
sales multiplied by 365 days. Days in inventory and accounts 
payable are equal to current quarter net inventory and accounts 
payable, respectively, divided by trailing four quarters of cost 
of sales multiplied by 365 days. Total cash conversion days 
are equal to days in receivables plus days in inventory less 
days in accounts payable. 

The company provides a summary of days of cash 
conversion for the components of working capital so investors 
may see the rate at which cash is disbursed, collected and how 
quickly inventory is converted and sold.
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ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND PRONOUNCEMENTS

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES

The condensed consolidated financial statements in the 
report include accounts of the company and all majority-
owned subsidiaries. The preparation of financial statements in 
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in 
the United States requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions in certain circumstances that affect amounts 
reported in the accompanying condensed consolidated 
financial statements and related footnotes. In preparing the 
financial statements, management has made its best estimates 
and judgments of certain amounts included in the financial 
statements, giving due consideration to materiality. However, 
application of these accounting policies involves the exercise 
of judgment and use of assumptions as to future uncertainties 
and, thus, actual results could differ from these estimates. 
Refer to the Critical Accounting Estimates section within 
MD&A of company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 
period ending December 31, 2022.

RECENTLY ISSUED ACCOUNTING 
PRONOUNCEMENTS

For the company’s disclosure regarding recently issued 
accounting pronouncements, refer to Accounting Policies - 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements in the notes to the 
condensed consolidated financial statements contained in this 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q.
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

This Form 10-Q contains forward-looking statements 
within the meaning of the “Safe Harbor” provisions of the 
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. Forward-
looking statements are those that describe future outcomes or 
expectations that are usually identified by words such as will,” 
"may," “should,” “could,” “plan,” “intend,” “expect,” 
“continue,” "forecast," “believe” and “anticipate,” as well as 
similar comments, denote forward-looking statements that are 
subject to inherent uncertainties that are difficult to predict. 
These include, for example, statements related to the 
company’s business and financial condition following its 
restructuring under Chapter 11. Actual results and events may 
differ significantly from those expressed or anticipated as a 
result of various risks and uncertainties, including the 
potential adverse effects of the Chapter 11 Cases on the 
company's liquidity and results of operations; employee 
attrition and the company’s ability to retain senior 
management and other key personnel due to the distractions 
and uncertainties; the company’s ability to comply with the 
restrictions imposed by the terms and conditions of its post-
bankruptcy emergence financing arrangements; the 
company’s ability to maintain relationships with suppliers, 
customers, employees and other third parties and regulatory 
authorities as a result of the Chapter 11 Cases; the effects of 
the Chapter 11 Cases on the company and on the interests of 
various constituents, including holders of the company’s 
common stock; the Bankruptcy Court’s rulings in the Chapter 
11 Cases, including the approvals of the terms and conditions 
of the plan of reorganization and financing arrangements, and 
the outcome of the Chapter 11 Cases generally; the length of 
time that the company operated under Chapter 11 protection 
and the continued availability of operating capital following 
the Chapter 11 Cases; increased administrative and legal 
costs related to the Chapter 11 process; and other  inherent 
risks involved in a bankruptcy process, on-going supply chain 
challenges and component shortages; sales and free cash flow 
trends; the impact of contingency plans and cost containment 
actions; the company’s liquidity and working capital 
expectations; the company’s future financial results including 
expectations as to consolidated and segment revenue, net sales 
and profitability; the company’s future business plans and 
similar statements. The availability and cost to the company of 
needed products, components or raw materials from the 
company’s suppliers, including delivery delays and production 
interruptions from global supply chain challenges and 
supplier delivery holds resulting from past due payables; 
global shortages in, or increasing costs for, transportation 
and logistics services and capacity; the impact of political or 
geopolitical crises, such as the Russian war with Ukraine, and 
actions taken in response on global and regional economies 
and economic activity; general economic uncertainty in key 
global markets and a worsening of global economic 
conditions or low levels of economic growth, including 
negative conditions attributable to inflationary economic 
conditions, rising interest rates and credit market volatility; 
the effects of steps the company has taken or will take to 
reduce operating costs; the ability of the company to sustain 

profitable sales growth, achieve anticipated improvements in 
segment operating performance, convert high inventory levels 
to cash or reduce its costs; the ability of the company to 
successfully improve output and convert order backlog into 
sales; the ability of the company to successfully focus on 
lifestyle and mobility and seating products; lack of market 
acceptance of the company's new product innovations; 
potential adverse effects of revised product pricing and/or 
product surcharges  on revenues or the demand for the 
company's products; circumstances or developments that may 
make the company unable to implement or realize the 
anticipated benefits, or that may increase the costs, of its 
current and planned business initiatives, in particular the key 
elements of its growth plans, such as its new product 
introductions, commercialization plans, additional investments 
in demonstration equipment, product distribution strategy in 
Europe, supply chain actions and global information 
technology insourcing and ERP implementation activities; 
possible adverse effects on the company's liquidity, including 
the company's ability to address future debt maturities or 
other obligations, including additional debt that may be 
incurred in the future; potential limitations on the company’s 
business activities from obligations in the company’s debt 
agreements; adverse changes in government and third-party 
payor reimbursement levels and practices; consolidation of 
dealers or healthcare providers; decreased availability or 
increased costs of materials which could increase the 
company’s cost of producing or acquiring the company’s 
products, including the adverse impacts of tariffs and 
increases in commodity costs or freight costs; increasing 
pricing pressures in the markets for the company's products; 
risks of failures in, or disruptions to, legacy IT systems; risks 
of cybersecurity attack, data breach or data loss and/or delays 
in or inability to recover or restore data and IT systems; 
adverse effects of the company's consent decree of injunction 
with the U.S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA), including 
but not limited to, compliance costs, inability to rebuild 
negatively impacted customer relationships, unabsorbed 
capacity utilization, including fixed costs and overhead; any 
circumstances or developments that might adversely impact 
the company's quality systems at the facilities impacted by the 
consent decree, including any possible failure to comply with 
the consent decree or FDA regulations or the inability to 
adequately address the matters identified in the FDA Letters; 
regulatory proceedings or the company's failure to comply 
with regulatory requirements or receive regulatory clearance 
or approval for the company's products or operations in the 
United States or abroad; adverse effects of regulatory or 
governmental inspections of the company's facilities at any 
time and governmental enforcement actions; product liability 
or warranty claims; product recalls, including more extensive 
warranty or recall experience than expected; possible adverse 
effects of being leveraged, including interest rate or event of 
default risks; exchange rate fluctuations, particularly in light 
of the relative importance of the company's foreign operations 
to its overall financial performance; legal actions, including 
adverse judgments or settlements of litigation or claims in 
excess of available insurance limits; tax rate fluctuations; 
additional tax expense or additional tax exposures, which 
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could affect the company's future profitability and cash flow; 
uncollectible accounts receivable; risks inherent in managing 
and operating businesses in many different foreign 
jurisdictions; heightened vulnerability to a hostile takeover 
attempt or other shareholder activism; provisions of Delaware 
law or in the company's debt agreements, charter documents 
or other agreements that may prevent or delay a change in 
control, as well as the risks described elsewhere in this 
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and from time to time in the 
company's reports as filed with the Securities and Exchange 
Commission. The company may not be able to predict and may 
have little or no control over many factors or events that may 
influence its future results and, except to the extent required 
by law, the company does not undertake and specifically 
declines any obligation to review or update any forward-
looking statements or to publicly announce the results of any 
revisions to any of such statements to reflect future events or 
developments or otherwise.
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Part I. FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements.

INVACARE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
(Debtor-in-Possession)

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) (unaudited)

 (In thousands, except per share data) Three Months Ended March 31,

2023 2022
Net sales $ 165,481 $ 200,988 
Cost of products sold  121,637  153,259 

Gross Profit  43,844  47,729 
Selling, general and administrative expenses  53,809  60,564 
Net gain on sale of businesses  (4,212)  — 
Charges related to restructuring activities  4,694  3,790 

Operating Loss  (10,447)  (16,625) 
Net gain on convertible debt derivatives  (85)  — 
Interest expense (excludes contractual interest of $2,269 for the three months ended March 31, 2023)  9,101  6,252 
Interest income  (17)  — 
Reorganization items, net  20,791  — 

Loss Before Income Taxes  (40,237)  (22,877) 
Income tax provision  940  1,320 

Net Loss $ (41,177) $ (24,197) 

Net Loss per Share—Basic $ (1.08) $ (0.69) 
Weighted Average Shares Outstanding—Basic  37,994  35,046 

Net Loss per Share—Assuming Dilution $ (1.08) $ (0.69) 
Weighted Average Shares Outstanding—Assuming Dilution  38,037  35,419 

Net Loss $ (41,177) $ (24,197) 
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Foreign currency translation adjustments  5,813  (6,342) 
Defined benefit plans:

Amortization of prior service costs and unrecognized losses  30  224 
Deferred tax adjustment resulting from defined benefit plan activity  (5)  (47) 
Valuation reserve associated with defined benefit plan activity  5  47 

Current period gain on cash flow hedges  —  880 
Deferred tax provision related to gain on cash flow hedges  —  (56) 

Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)  5,843  (5,294) 
Comprehensive Loss $ (35,334) $ (29,491) 

See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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INVACARE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
(Debtor-in-Possession)

Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

(unaudited)
March 31,

2023
December 31,

2022
Assets (In thousands)

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents $ 66,284 $ 58,792 
Trade receivables, net  82,659  87,952 
Installment receivables, net  263  311 
Inventories, net  103,635  112,561 
Other current assets  32,947  39,702 

Total Current Assets  285,788  299,318 
Other Assets  4,610  5,159 
Intangibles, net  21,771  21,669 
Property and Equipment, net  50,514  51,533 
Finance Lease Assets, net  55,809  56,272 
Operating Lease Assets, net  12,111  10,737 
Goodwill  331,513  326,281 
Total Assets $ 762,116 $ 770,969 

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities

Accounts payable $ 72,588 $ 104,590 
Accrued expenses  77,712  106,091 
Current taxes payable  2,636  2,774 
Current portion of long-term debt  35,656  154 
Current portion of finance lease obligations  3,162  3,106 
Current portion of operating lease obligations  4,142  3,420 

Total Current Liabilities  195,896  220,135 
Long-Term Debt  137,241  354,087 
Finance Lease Long-Term Obligations  57,808  57,994 
Operating Leases Long-Term Obligations  7,956  7,259 
Other Long-Term Obligations  29,650  50,402 
Liabilities Subject to Compromise  287,626  — 
Shareholders’ Equity

Preferred Shares (Authorized 300 shares; none outstanding)  —  — 
Common Shares (Authorized 150,000 shares; 42,518 and 42,540 shares issued and outstanding at March 31, 
2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively)—no par  10,812  10,812 
Class B Common Shares (Authorized 12,000 shares; 4 and 4 shares issued and outstanding at March 31, 2023 
and December 31, 2022, respectively)—no par  2  2 
Additional paid-in-capital  281,547  281,366 
Retained earnings (accumulated deficit)  (119,603)  (78,426) 
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)  (18,880)  (24,723) 
Treasury Shares (4,536 and 4,536 shares at March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively)  (107,939)  (107,939) 

Total Shareholders’ Equity  45,939  81,092 
Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity $ 762,116 $ 770,969 

See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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INVACARE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
(Debtor-in-Possession)

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows (unaudited)
 

For the Three Months Ended 
March 31,

2023 2022
Operating Activities (In thousands)
Net loss $ (41,177) $ (24,197) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used by operating activities:

Net gain on sale of businesses  (4,212)  — 
Depreciation and amortization  3,570  3,942 
Amortization of operating lease right of use assets  1,226  1,375 
Provision for losses on trade and installment receivables  24  96 
Provision (benefit) for deferred income taxes  (38)  95 
Provision (benefit) for other deferred liabilities  169  (44) 
Provision for equity compensation  181  310 
Gain on disposals of property and equipment  (87)  (34) 
Reorganization items, net (1)  5,464  — 
Amortization of convertible debt discount, term loan original issuance discount and accretion of 
convertible debt  960  911 
Amortization of debt fees  1,817  615 
Net gain on convertible debt derivatives  (85)  — 
Other non-cash  184  — 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Trade receivables  5,605  10,481 
Installment sales contracts, net  110  247 
Inventories, net  2,980  (3,615) 
Other current assets  6,976  (3,361) 
Accounts payable  (3,201)  (8,323) 
Accrued expenses  (10,765)  (4,372) 
Other long-term liabilities  (315)  (1,824) 

Net Cash Used by Operating Activities  (30,614)  (27,698) 
Investing Activities

Purchases of property and equipment  (1,978)  (2,131) 
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment  —  5 
Proceeds from sale of businesses  11,596  — 
Change in other long-term assets  2  (91) 
Other  (540)  4 

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Investing Activities  9,080  (2,213) 
Financing Activities

Proceeds from revolving lines of credit and long-term borrowings  43,042  3,484 
Payments on revolving lines of credit and finance leases  (10,274)  (4,420) 
Payment of financing costs (1)  (4,155)  (244) 

Net Cash Provided (Used) by Financing Activities  28,613  (1,180) 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash  413  (317) 
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  7,492  (31,408) 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  58,792  83,745 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 66,284 $ 52,337 

(1) Includes cash outflows of $3,664 for DIP financing costs.

See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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INVACARE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
(Debtor-in-Possession)

Condensed Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity (unaudited)

(In thousands)
Common

Shares
Class B
Shares

Additional
Paid-in-
Capital

Retained
Earnings 

(Accumulated 
Deficit)

Accumulated 
Other

Comprehensive
Income (Loss)

Treasury
Shares Total

January 1, 2023 Balance $ 10,812 $ 2 $ 281,366 $ (78,426) $ (24,723) $ (107,939) $ 81,092 
Performance awards  —  —  (54)  —  —  —  (54) 
Restricted share awards  —  —  235  —  —  —  235 
Net loss  —  —  —  (41,177)  —  —  (41,177) 
Foreign currency translation adjustments  —  —  —  —  5,813  —  5,813 
Defined benefit plans:  Amortization of prior 
service costs and unrecognized losses and 
credits  —  —  —  —  30  —  30 
Total comprehensive loss  —  —  —  —  —  —  (35,334) 
March 31, 2023 Balance $ 10,812 $ 2 $ 281,547 $ (119,603) $ (18,880) $ (107,939) $ 45,939 

January 1, 2022 Balance $ 9,977 $ 2 $ 276,665 $ 22,645 $ 16,988 $ (107,788) $ 218,489 
Performance awards  —  —  (345)  —  —  —  (345) 
Restricted share awards  —  —  655  —  —  —  655 
Net loss  —  —  —  (24,197)  —  —  (24,197) 
Foreign currency translation adjustments  —  —  —  —  (6,342)  —  (6,342) 
Unrealized gain on cash flow hedges  —  —  —  —  824  —  824 
Defined benefit plans:  Amortization of prior 
service costs and unrecognized losses and 
credits  —  —  —  —  224  —  224 
Total comprehensive loss  —  —  —  —  —  —  (29,491) 
March 31, 2022 Balance $ 9,977 $ 2 $ 276,975 $ (1,552) $ 11,694 $ (107,788) $ 189,308 

See notes to condensed consolidated financial statements.
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Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation: The condensed consolidated 
financial statements include the accounts of the company and 
its wholly owned subsidiaries and include all adjustments, 
which were of a normal recurring nature, necessary to present 
fairly the financial position of the company as of March 31, 
2023 and the results of its operations and changes in its cash 
flow for the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively. The European segment's fiscal calendar runs 
December 1st through November 30th in order to meet filing 
deadlines. For the first quarter, the financial results are 
consolidated for the European segment using a February 28 
quarter end for 2023 and 2022. This is consistent with prior 
filings the company has made historically. No material 
subsequent events have occurred related to the European 
segment, which would require disclosure or adjustment to the 
company's financial statements. All significant intercompany 
transactions are eliminated. The results of operations for the 
three months ended March 31, 2023 are not necessarily 
indicative of the results to be expected for the full year.

Going Concern: The company's financial statements 
have been prepared under the assumption that it will continue 
as a going concern, which contemplates continuity of 
operations, realization of assets, and satisfaction of liabilities 
in the normal course of business. In connection with the 
preparation of the condensed consolidated financial 
statements, the company conducted an evaluation as to 
whether there were conditions and events, considered in the 
aggregate, that raised substantial doubt as to the company's 
ability to continue as a going concern. 

On January 31, 2023 (the “Petition Date”), the company 
and two of its U.S. subsidiaries (collectively, the “Debtors” or 
“Company Parties”) filed voluntary petitions under chapter 11 
of the United States Bankruptcy Code (the “Bankruptcy 
Code”) in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern 
District of Texas (the “Bankruptcy Court”). The Debtors 
obtained joint administration of their chapter 11 cases under 
the caption In re Invacare Corporation, et al., Case No. 
23-90068 (CML) (the “Chapter 11 Cases”).

In light of the company's Chapter 11 Cases and such 
status as of the end of the first quarter of 2023, the company's 
ability to continue as a going concern was contingent upon, 
among other things, the company's ability to, subject to 
approval by the Bankruptcy Court, implement a plan of 
reorganization, emerge from the Chapter 11 proceedings and 
generate sufficient liquidity following the reorganization to 
meet contractual obligations and operating needs. The Chapter 
11 Cases created certain risks and uncertainties related to, 
among other things, (i) the company's ability to obtain 
requisite support for the plan of reorganization from various 
stakeholders, and (ii) the disruptive effects of the Chapter 11 

Cases on the company's business making it potentially more 
difficult to maintain business, financing and operational 
relationships. 

Given the inherent risks, unknown results and inherent 
uncertainties associated with the bankruptcy process and direct 
correlation between these matters and the company’s ability to 
satisfy its financial obligations that may arise, the company 
concluded that given status of events known as of March 31, 
2023, there continued to be doubt it may continue to operate as 
a going concern.  

On May 5, 2023, the company emerged from Bankruptcy 
with a recapitalized balance sheet to include a new asset-based 
lending credit facility (“New ABL”) with borrowing capacity 
up to $40,000,000, $85,000,000 secured term loan due 2027, 
$46,475,000 7.50% secured convertible notes due 2028 and 
$75,000,000 of 9.00% convertible preferred stock. Unsecured 
convertible 2024 and 2026 notes, including accretion, of 
$220,367,000 and accrued interest were cancelled. Further, 
$35,500,000 of the DIP Term Loan and the $13,870,000 DIP 
ABL were repaid and $13,400,000 of the New ABL was 
drawn. The company believes the business plan of 
reorganization, which was approved by the bankruptcy court, 
was sufficient to emerge from the Chapter 11 proceedings and 
should generate additional liquidity following the 
reorganization, as well as being predicated on improved 
operating performance of the business, and in particular the 
North America business, to meet contractual obligations and 
operating needs. If the company's operating results decrease as 
the result of pressures on the business due to, for example, 
prolonged, or worsening of, negative impacts on the 
company's supply chain, and actions taken in response on 
global and regional economies and economic activity, 
inflationary economic conditions, increases in interest rates on 
floating-rate debt, currency fluctuations or regulatory issues, 
or the company's failure to execute its business plans or if the 
company's business improvement actions take longer than 
expected to materialize or development of one or more of the 
other risks, the company may require additional financing, or 
may be unable to comply with its obligations under the credit 
facilities or its other obligations, and its lenders or creditors 
could demand repayment of any amounts outstanding.

Bankruptcy Accounting: For the periods following the 
Petition Date, the company has applied Accounting Standards 
Codification (“ASC”) 852 - Reorganizations in preparing the 
condensed consolidated financial statements. ASC 852 
requires the financial statements, for periods subsequent to the 
commencement of the Chapter 11 Cases, to distinguish 
transactions and events that are directly associated with the 
reorganization from the ongoing operations of the business. 
Accordingly, certain charges incurred during the three months 
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ended March 31, 2023 related to the bankruptcy proceedings, 
including unamortized long-term debt fees and discounts 
associated with debt classified as Liabilities Subject to 
Compromise, are recorded as Reorganization items, net. In 
addition, pre-petition Debtor obligations that may be impacted 
by the Chapter 11 Cases have been classified on the condensed 
consolidated balance sheet at March 31, 2023 as Liabilities 
Subject to Compromise. These liabilities are reported at the 
amounts the company anticipates will be allowed by the 
Bankruptcy Court, even if they may ultimately be settled for 
lesser amounts. See below for more information regarding 
Reorganization items.

Debtor-In-Possession: The Debtors were operating as 
debtors in possession in accordance with the applicable 
provisions of the Bankruptcy Code. The Bankruptcy Court 
approved motions filed by the Debtors that were designed 
primarily to mitigate the impact of the Chapter 11 Cases on 
the company’s operations, customers and employees. In 
general, as debtors-in-possession under the Bankruptcy Code, 
the Debtors were authorized to continue to operate as an 
ongoing business but could not engage in transactions outside 
the ordinary course of business without the prior approval of 
the Bankruptcy Court. Pursuant to first day motions and 
second day motions filed with the Bankruptcy Court, the 
Bankruptcy Court authorized the Debtors to conduct their 
business activities in the ordinary course, including, among 
other things and subject to the terms and conditions of such 
orders, authorizing the Debtors to: (i) pay employees’ wages 
and related obligations; (ii) continue to operate their cash 
management system in the ordinary course of business similar 
to pre-petition practice; (iii) use cash collateral; (iv) continue 
to maintain certain customer programs; (v) pay taxes in the 
ordinary course; and (vi) maintain their insurance program in 
the ordinary course.

Automatic Stay: Subject to certain specific exceptions 
under the Bankruptcy Code, the Bankruptcy Petitions 
automatically stayed most judicial or administrative actions 
against the Debtors and efforts by creditors to collect on or 
otherwise exercise rights or remedies with respect to pre-
petition claims. Absent an order from the Bankruptcy Court, 
substantially all of the Debtors’ pre-petition liabilities are 
subject to settlement under the Bankruptcy Code. See Note 
Condensed Combined Debtor-In-Possession Financial 
Information for additional information. On May 5, 2023, in 
connection with the company's emergence from bankruptcy, 
the automatic stay was lifted. 

Executory Contracts: Subject to certain exceptions, under 
the Bankruptcy Code, the Debtors may assume, amend or 
reject certain executory contracts and unexpired leases subject 
to the approval of the Bankruptcy Court and certain other 
conditions. Generally, the rejection of an executory contract or 
unexpired lease is treated as a pre-petition breach of such 
executory contract or unexpired lease and, subject to certain 
exceptions, relieves the Debtors from performing their future 

obligations under such executory contract or unexpired lease 
but entitles the contract counterparty or lessor to a pre-petition 
general unsecured claim for damages caused by such deemed 
breach. Generally, the assumption of an executory contract or 
unexpired lease requires the Debtors to cure existing monetary 
defaults under such executory contract or unexpired lease and 
provide adequate assurance of future performance. 
Accordingly, any description of an executory contract or 
unexpired lease with the Debtors in this document, including 
where applicable a quantification of the company’s obligations 
under any such executory contract or unexpired lease of the 
Debtors, is qualified by any overriding rejection rights the 
company has under the Bankruptcy Code.

Potential Claims: Certain holders of pre-petition claims 
that are not governmental units were required to file proofs of 
claim by the deadline for general claims, which was on March 
16, 2023 at 5:00 p.m. (the “Bar Date”).  These claims will be 
reconciled to amounts recorded in the company’s accounting 
records. Differences in amounts recorded and claims filed by 
creditors will be investigated and resolved, including through 
the filing of objections with the Bankruptcy Court, where 
appropriate. The company may ask the Bankruptcy Court to 
disallow claims that the company believes are duplicative, 
have been later amended or superseded, are without merit, are 
overstated or should be disallowed for other reasons. In 
addition, as a result of this process, the company may identify 
additional liabilities that will need to be recorded or 
reclassified to Liabilities Subject to Compromise. In light of 
the substantial number of claims filed, the claims resolution 
process may take considerable time to complete and likely will 
continue after the Company Parties emerge from bankruptcy.

Reorganization Items, Net: The Company Parties have 
incurred and will continue to incur significant costs associated 
with the reorganization, primarily legal, investment banking, 
financial advisory and other professional fees, the write-off of 
deferred long-term debt fees on debt subject to compromise, 
net expenses incurred due to the termination and modification 
of lease agreements, and gain on settlements of pre-petition 
claims. The amount of these charges, which since the Petition 
Date are being expensed as incurred, are expected to 
significantly affect the company’s results of operations. 
Professional fees incurred prior to the Petition Date but related 
to the bankruptcy filing have been recorded as charges related 
to restructuring activities in the condensed consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income (loss). In accordance with 
applicable guidance, costs associated with the bankruptcy 
proceedings subsequent to the Petition Date have been 
recorded as Reorganization items, net within the company's 
accompanying condensed consolidated statements of 
comprehensive income (loss) for the three months ended 
March 31, 2023. See Note Reorganization Items, Net.

Financial Statement Classification of Liabilities Subject 
to Compromise: The accompanying condensed consolidated 
balance sheet as of March 31, 2023 includes amounts 
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classified as Liabilities Subject to Compromise, which 
represent liabilities the company anticipates will be allowed as 
claims in the Chapter 11 Cases. These amounts represent the 
Debtors’ current estimate of known or potential obligations to 
be resolved in connection with the Chapter 11 Cases and may 
differ from actual future settlement amounts paid. Differences 
between liabilities estimated and claims filed, or to be filed, 
will be investigated and resolved in connection with the claims 
resolution process. The company will continue to evaluate 
these liabilities throughout the Chapter 11 process and adjust 
amounts as necessary. Such adjustments may be material. See 
Note Liabilities Subject to Compromise.

Plan of Reorganization: On April 28, 2023, the 
Bankruptcy Court entered an order (the “Confirmation Order”) 
confirming the First Amended Joint Chapter 11 Plan of of 
Reorganization of Invacare Corporation and its Debtor 
Affiliates (Technical Modifications) (the “Plan”). The Plan is 
attached to the Confirmation Order as Exhibit A. On May 5, 
2023, the company emerged from bankruptcy and 
consummated the transactions contemplated in the Plan.

Use of Estimates: The condensed consolidated financial 
statements are prepared in conformity with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States, which 
require management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and 
accompanying notes. Actual results may differ from these 
estimates.
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Divested Businesses

On January 30, 2023, the company completed the sale of 
its respiratory business assets to Ventec Life Systems, Inc, a 
Delaware corporation and subsidiary of React Health, LLC 
(the “Purchaser”), pursuant to an Asset Purchase Agreement 
dated as of January 30, 2023 (the “Purchase Agreement”). The 
purchase price paid by the Purchaser was $11,925,644 in cash 
payable at closing.

The Purchase Agreement contains customary 
indemnification obligations of each party with respect to 
breaches of their respective representations, warranties and 
covenants, and certain other specified matters, which are 
subject to certain exceptions, terms and limitations described 
further in the Purchase Agreement. The company agreed to 
non-competition obligations with respect to respiratory 
products for a five-year period following the Transaction, 
which are more fully described in the Purchase Agreement. In 
addition, the company entered into a supply agreement and a 
transition services agreement with the Purchaser to provide 
for, among other matters, the ongoing parts and service and 
support for the warranty and non-warranty service of 
respiratory products in the field. The foregoing description of 
the Purchase Agreement is a summary, does not purport to be 
complete and is qualified in its entirety by reference to the 
Purchase Agreement.

On January 27, 2023, the company completed the sale of 
its Top End® sports and recreational wheelchair and handcycle 
business net assets to Top End Sports, LLC. Cash proceeds on 
the sale were not material to the company.

The net gain on the sale of these businesses was 
$4,212,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2023.
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Current Assets

Receivables

Receivables consist of the following (in thousands):

March 31, 
2023

December 31, 
2022

Accounts receivable, gross $ 101,991 $ 112,659 
Customer rebate reserve  (7,853)  (11,569) 
Cash discount reserves  (7,042)  (8,756) 
Allowance for doubtful 
accounts  (3,143)  (3,279) 
Other, principally returns and 
allowances reserves  (1,294)  (1,103) 
Accounts receivable, net $ 82,659 $ 87,952 

Reserves for customer rebates and cash discounts are 
recorded as a reduction in revenue and netted against gross 
accounts receivable. Customer rebates in excess of a given 
customer's accounts receivable balance are classified in 
Accrued Expenses. Customer rebates and cash discounts are 
estimated based on the most likely amount principle as well as 
historical experience and anticipated performance. In addition, 
customers have the right to return product within the 
company’s normal terms policy, and as such, the company 
estimates the expected returns based on an analysis of 
historical experience and adjusts revenue accordingly. 

Accounts receivable are reduced by an allowance for 
amounts that may become uncollectible in the future. 
Substantially all the company’s receivables are due from 
healthcare, medical equipment providers and long-term care 
facilities predominantly located throughout the United States, 
Australia, Canada, New Zealand and Europe. A significant 
portion of products sold to providers, both foreign and 
domestic, are ultimately funded through government 
reimbursement programs such as Medicare and Medicaid in 
the U.S. As a consequence, changes in these programs can 
have an adverse impact on dealer liquidity and profitability.

The company's approach is to separate its receivables into 
good-standing and collection receivables. Good-standing 
receivables are assigned to risk pools of high, medium and 
low. The risk pools are driven by the specifics associated with 
the geography of origination. Expected loss percentages are 
calculated and assigned to each risk pool, driven primarily by 
historical experience. The historical loss percentages are 
calculated for each risk pool and then judgmentally revised to 
consider current risk factors as well as consideration of the 
impact of forecasted events, as applicable. The expected loss 
percentages are then applied to receivables balances each 
period to determine the allowance for doubtful accounts.

In North America, excluding Canada, good-standing 
receivables are assigned to the low risk pool and assigned an 
expected loss percentage of 1.0% as these receivables are 
deemed to share the same risk profile and collections efforts 
are the same. Installment receivables in North America are 
characterized as collection receivables and thus reserves are 
based on specific analysis of each customer. In Canada, good-
standing receivables are deemed low risk and assigned a loss 
percentage of 0.1%.

In Europe, expected losses are determined by each 
location in each country. Most locations have a majority of 
their receivables assigned to the low risk pool, which has an 
average expected loss percentage of 0.3%. About half of the 
locations have a portion of their receivables assigned as 
medium risk with an average expected loss percentage of 
0.8%. Only a few locations have any receivables characterized 
as high risk and the average credit loss percentage for those 
locations is 2.3%. Collection risk is generally low as payment 
terms in certain key markets, such as Germany, are immediate 
and in many locations the ultimate customer is the 
government. 

In the Asia Pacific region, receivables are characterized as 
low risk, which have an average expected loss percentage of 
1.0%. Historical losses are low in this region where the use of 
credit insurance is often customary.
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The movement in the trade receivables allowance for 
doubtful accounts was as follows (in thousands):

 

Three Months 
Ended March 31, 

2023
Balance as of beginning of period $ 3,279 

Current period provision  24 
Recoveries (direct write-offs), net  (160) 

Balance as of end of period $ 3,143 

The company did not make any material changes to the 
assignment of receivables to the different risk pools or to the 
expected loss reserves in the quarter. 

For collections receivables, the estimated allowance for 
uncollectible amounts is based primarily on management’s 
evaluation of the financial condition of each customer. In 
addition, as a result of the company's financing arrangement 
with DLL, a third-party financing company which the 
company has worked with since 2000, management monitors 
the collection status of these contracts in accordance with the 
company’s limited recourse obligations and provides amounts 
necessary for estimated losses in the allowance for doubtful 
accounts and establishes reserves for specific customers as 
needed. 

The company writes off uncollectible trade accounts 
receivable after such receivables are moved to collection status 
and legal remedies are exhausted. Refer to Concentration of 
Credit Risk in the notes to the condensed consolidated 
financial statements for a description of the financing 
arrangement. Long-term installment receivables are included 
in “Other Assets” on the condensed consolidated balance 
sheets.

The company has recorded a contingent liability in the 
amount of $286,000 related to the contingent aspect of the 
company's guarantee associated with its arrangement with 
DLL. The contingent liability is recorded applying the same 
expected loss model used for the trade and installment 
receivables recorded on the company's books. Specifically, 
historical loss history is used to determine the expected loss 
percentage, which is then adjusted judgmentally to consider 
other factors, as needed.

The company’s U.S. customers electing to finance their 
purchases can do so using DLL. Repurchased DLL receivables 
recorded on the books of the company represent a single 
portfolio segment of receivables to the independent provider 
channel and long-term care customers. The portfolio segment 
of these receivables are distinguished by geography and credit 
quality. These receivables were repurchased from DLL 
because the customers were in default. Default with DLL is 
defined as a customer being delinquent by three payments. 

The estimated allowance for uncollectible amounts and 
evaluation for both classes of installment receivables is based 
on the company’s quarterly review of the financial condition 
of each individual customer with the allowance for doubtful 
accounts adjusted accordingly. Installments are individually 
and not collectively reviewed. The company assesses the bad 
debt reserve levels based upon the status of the customer’s 
adherence to a legally negotiated payment schedule and the 
company’s ability to enforce judgments, liens, etc.

For purposes of granting or extending credit, the company 
utilizes a scoring model to generate a composite score that 
considers each customer’s consumer credit score and/or D&B 
credit rating, payment history, security collateral and time in 
business. Additional analysis is performed for most customers 
desiring credit greater than $250,000, which generally 
includes a detailed review of the customer’s financial 
statements as well as consideration of other factors such as 
exposure to changing reimbursement laws.

Interest income is recognized on installment receivables 
based on the terms of the installment agreements. Installment 
accounts are monitored and if a customer defaults on 
payments and is moved to collection, interest income is no 
longer recognized. Subsequent payments received once an 
account is put on non-accrual status are generally first applied 
to the principal balance and then to the interest. Accruing of 
interest on collection accounts would only be restarted if the 
account became current again.

All installment accounts are accounted for using the same 
methodology regardless of the duration of the installment 
agreements. When an account is placed in collection status, 
the company goes through a legal process for pursuing 
collection of outstanding amounts, the length of which 
typically approximates eighteen months. Any write-offs are 
made after the legal process has been completed. 
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Installment receivables consist of the following (in thousands): 

 March 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
 Current Long-Term Total Current Long-Term Total
Installment receivables $ 263 $ 197 $ 460 $ 311 $ 266 $ 577 
Allowance for doubtful accounts  —  —  —  —  —  — 

Installment receivables, net $ 263 $ 197 $ 460 $ 311 $ 266 $ 577 

No sales of installment receivables were made by the company during the quarter. 

Installment receivables by class as of March 31, 2023 consist of the following (in thousands):

 

Total
Installment
Receivables

Unpaid
Principal
Balance

Related
Allowance for

Doubtful
Accounts

Interest
Income

Recognized
Asia Pacific

Non-impaired installment receivables with no related 
allowance recorded  460  460  —  — 

Total installment receivables $ 460 $ 460 $ — $ — 
 
Installment receivables by class as of December 31, 2022 consist of the following (in thousands):

 

Total
Installment
Receivables

Unpaid
Principal
Balance

Related
Allowance for

Doubtful
Accounts

Interest
Income

Recognized
Asia Pacific

Non-impaired installment receivables with no related 
allowance recorded  577  577  —  — 

Total installment receivables $ 577 $ 577 $ — $ — 

The aging of the company’s installment receivables was as follows (in thousands):

March 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Total Asia Pacific Total Asia Pacific

Current $ 460 $ 460 $ 533 $ 533 
0-30 days past due  —  —  44  44 
31-60 days past due  —  —  —  — 
61-90 days past due  —  —  —  — 
90+ days past due  —  —  —  — 

$ 460 $ 460 $ 577 $ 577 
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Inventories, Net

Inventories consist of the following (in thousands):

March 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Raw materials $ 50,385 $ 45,476 
Finished goods  44,263  57,174 
Work in process  8,987  9,911 

Inventories, net $ 103,635 $ 112,561 

Other Current Assets

Other current assets consist of the following (in thousands):

March 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Tax receivables principally value added taxes $ 11,498 $ 22,946 
Prepaid insurance  4,353  1,223 
Prepaid inventory and freight  3,519  3,077 
Service contracts  1,987  1,366 
Receivable due from information technology provider  1,965  934 
Recoverable income taxes  1,358  1,990 
Derivatives (foreign currency forward exchange contracts)  —  1,117 
Deferred financing fees  —  339 
Prepaid and other current assets  8,267  6,710 

Other Current Assets $ 32,947 $ 39,702 

The receivable due from information technology provider is related to the Master Services Agreement with Birlasoft Solutions 
Inc. which was terminated on January 27, 2023 for breach of the agreement, including but not limited to Birlasoft's failure to meet 
transformation milestones, failure to provide services, and breach of representations, warranties and covenants in the Master Services 
Agreement. This receivable relates to the period prior to the bankruptcy filing. Collection of such receivable will be impacted by the 
outcome of the bankruptcy proceedings. Subsequent to quarter ended March 31, 2023, the company reached a settlement with 
Birlasoft Solutions Inc. which was approved by the Bankruptcy Court for a settlement payment of $2,000,000 by the company for 
disengagement services to be provided by Birlasoft and completed on or about May 31, 2023.
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Long-Term Assets

Other Long-Term Assets

Other long-term assets consist of the following (in thousands):

March 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Cash surrender value of life insurance policies $ 2,708 $ 2,686 
Deferred income taxes  1,330  1,102 
Installment receivables  197  266 
Investments  87  85 
Deferred financing fees  —  733 
Other  288  287 

Other Long-Term Assets $ 4,610 $ 5,159 

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment consist of the following (in thousands):

March 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Machinery and equipment $ 264,629 $ 269,835 
Capitalized software  30,921  30,923 
Land, buildings and improvements  25,554  25,095 
Furniture and fixtures  8,113  8,053 
Leasehold improvements  4,684  4,802 

Property and Equipment, gross  333,901  338,708 
Accumulated depreciation  (283,387)  (287,175) 

Property and Equipment, net $ 50,514 $ 51,533 

Machinery and equipment includes demonstration units 
placed in provider locations which are depreciated to their 
estimated recoverable values over their estimated useful lives. 

In 2019, the company initiated the first stage of an 
Enterprise Resource Planning ("ERP") software 
implementation. Related to the ERP project, the company 
capitalized certain costs in accordance with ASC 350 as 
shown in capitalized software above. The net book value of 
capitalized software was $25,180,000 and $26,015,000 at 
March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively. 
Depreciation expense related to capitalized software was 
$833,000 and $677,000 for the three months ended March 31, 
2023 and March 31, 2022, respectively. 
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Goodwill

The change in goodwill from December 31, 2022 to 
March 31, 2023 was due to foreign currency translation.

In accordance with Intangibles—Goodwill and Other, 
ASC 350, goodwill is tested annually for impairment or 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate the 
carrying value of a reporting unit could be above its fair value. 
A reporting unit is defined as an operating segment or one 
level below. The company has determined that its reporting 
units are North America, Europe and Asia Pacific.

Assessment for impairment indicators for the first quarter 
of 2023 included considerations of the Chapter 11 Cases 
which were also assessed for the fourth quarter of 2022. Both 
assessments for the first quarter of 2023 and fourth quarter of 
2022 concluded an updated quantitative assessment was not 
warranted. 

Refer to Goodwill in the company's Annual Report on 
Form 10-K for the period ending December 31, 2022 for 
further disclosure regarding the company's annual impairment 
assessment methodology.
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Intangibles

The company's intangibles consist of the following (in thousands):
 

 March 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

 
Historical

Cost
Accumulated
Amortization

Historical
Cost

Accumulated
Amortization

Customer lists $ 49,129 $ 49,129 $ 48,515 $ 48,515 
Trademarks  19,116  —  18,867  — 
Developed technology  7,231  6,973  7,154  6,859 
Patents  4,088  4,088  4,092  4,092 
License agreements  3,982  1,591  3,981  1,480 
Other  1,148  1,142  1,148  1,142 

Intangibles $ 84,694 $ 62,923 $ 83,757 $ 62,088 

All of the company’s intangible assets have been assigned 
definite lives and continue to be amortized over their useful 
lives, except for trademarks shown above, which have 
indefinite lives. 

The changes in intangible balances reflected on the 
balance sheet from December 31, 2022 to March 31, 2023 
were primarily the result of foreign currency translation on 
historical cost and accumulated amortization as well as new 
license agreements.

The company evaluates the carrying value of definite-
lived assets whenever events or circumstances indicate 
possible impairment. 

Definite-lived assets are determined to be impaired if the 
future undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by 
the asset are less than the carrying value. Actual impairment 
amounts for definite-lived assets are then calculated using a 
discounted cash flow calculation. 

The company evaluates the carrying value of indefinite-
lived assets annually in the fourth quarter and whenever events 
or circumstances indicate possible impairment.

Any impairment for indefinite-lived intangible assets is 
calculated as the difference between the future discounted cash 
flows expected to be generated by the asset and the carrying 
value of the asset. 

Amortization expense related to intangible assets was 
$153,000 in the first three months of 2023 and is expected to 
be $611,000 in 2023, $568,000 in 2024, $439,000 in 2025, 
$437,000 in 2026, $310,000 in 2027 and $212,000 in 
2028. Amortized intangible assets are being amortized on a 
straight-line basis over remaining lives of 2 to 7 years with a 
weighted average remaining life of approximately 5.4 years.
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Current Liabilities

Accrued Expenses

Accrued expenses consist of accruals for the following (in thousands):

March 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Salaries and wages $ 17,553 $ 19,307 
Reorganization items, net  15,051  — 
Taxes other than income taxes, primarily value added taxes  12,084  27,106 
IT service contracts  7,528  5,581 
Warranty  7,026  7,981 
Professional  6,616  11,267 
Interest  6,359  6,900 
Freight  4,324  4,542 
Product line exit obligations  3,743  3,743 
Product liability, current portion  2,344  2,125 
Severance  1,979  3,472 
Rebates  1,840  4,923 
Deferred revenue  1,507  2,279 
Insurance  770  951 
Supplemental executive retirement program liability  391  391 
Derivative liabilities (foreign currency forward exchange contracts)  —  137 
Other items, principally trade accruals  7,345  5,386 

Accrued Expenses, prior to reclassification to Liabilities Subject to Compromise $ 96,460 $ 106,091 
Less: Amounts reclassified to Liabilities Subject to Compromise  18,748  — 
Accrued Expenses $ 77,712 $ 106,091 

Generally, the company's products are covered by 
warranties against defects in material and workmanship for 
various periods depending on the product from the date of sale 
to the customer. Certain components carry a lifetime warranty. 
A provision for estimated warranty cost is recorded at the time 
of sale based upon actual experience. In addition, the company 
has sold extended warranties that, while immaterial, require 
the company to defer the revenue associated with those 
warranties until earned. The company has established 
procedures to appropriately defer such revenue. The company 
continuously assesses the adequacy of its product warranty 
accrual and makes adjustments as needed. Historical analysis 
is primarily used to determine the company's warranty 
reserves. Claims history is reviewed and provisions are 
adjusted as needed. However, the company does consider 
other events, such as product field actions and recalls, which 
could require additional warranty reserve provisions.

Accrued rebates relate to several volume incentive 
programs the company offers its customers. The company 
accounts for these rebates as a reduction of revenue when the 
products are sold. Rebates are netted against gross accounts 
receivables. If rebates are in excess of such receivables, they 
are then classified as accrued expenses. The reduction in 
accrued rebates from December 31, 2022 to March 31, 2023 
primarily relates to payments principally made in the first 
quarter each year, earned from the previous year.
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The following is a reconciliation of the changes in 
accrued warranty costs for the reporting period (in thousands):

Balance as of January 1, 2023 $ 7,981 
Warranties provided during the period  396 
Settlements made during the period  (1,194) 
Changes in liability for pre-existing warranties 
during the period, including expirations  (157) 

Balance as of March 31, 2023 $ 7,026 

Warranty reserves are subject to adjustment in future 
periods as new developments change the company's estimate 
of the total cost. The lower balance at March 31, 2023 is 
primarily attributable to favorable claim development and 
lower sales, specifically respiratory products. 
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Long-Term Liabilities

Long-Term Debt

Debt consists of the following (in thousands):

March 31, 
2023

December 31, 
2022

Convertible senior notes Series I at 5.00%, due in November 2024  72,909  72,408 
Convertible senior notes Series II at 5.00%, due in November 2024  77,758  76,719 
Convertible senior notes at 4.25%, due in March 2026  69,700  67,665 
Secured convertible senior notes at 5.68%, due in July 2026  37,404  37,240 
Term loan, due in July 2026  50,954  82,808 
DIP term loan, due upon emergence or by June 2, 2023  68,499  — 
Other obligations  16,040  17,401 
Total debt, prior to reclassification to Liabilities Subject to Compromise  393,264  354,241 
Less current maturities of long-term debt  (35,656)  (154) 
Less amounts reclassified to Liabilities Subject to Compromise  220,367  — 

Long-Term Debt $ 137,241 $ 354,087 

Events of Default

The Company Parties filed voluntary petitions under 
Chapter 11 on January 31, 2023, which constitutes an event of 
default which accelerated the Debtor' obligations described 
below. As such, unsecured convertible senior notes have been 
classified as Liabilities Subject to Compromise in the 
accompanying condensed consolidated balance sheets at 
March 31, 2023. Refer to Accounting Policies in the notes to 
the financial statements for further detail on the Company 
Parties’ voluntary reorganization under Chapter 11. 

The Prior ABL Credit Agreement was amended and 
restated (the “Prior ABL” or "Prior ABL Credit Agreement") 
on July 26, 2022. The Prior ABL was entered into by and 
among the company, certain of the company’s direct and 
indirect U.S. and Canadian subsidiaries and PNC Bank, 
National Association (“PNC”). 

On February 2, 2023 the company entered into a Debtor-
in-Possession Revolving Credit and Security Agreement  
(“DIP ABL”) with PNC, which replaced the Prior ABL Credit 
Agreement, with a maturity of June 2, 2023 or upon 
emergence from bankruptcy. On May 5, 2023 the DIP ABL 
was repaid upon the company's emergence from bankruptcy.

The company had outstanding borrowings of $13,870,000 
under its DIP ABL as of March 31, 2023. The company had 
outstanding borrowings of $15,220,000 under its Prior ABL as 
of December 31, 2022. 

The company had outstanding letters of credit of 
$3,249,000 and $4,229,000 as of March 31, 2023 and 
December 31, 2022, respectively. Outstanding letters of credit 
and other reserves impacting borrowing capacity were 
$3,187,000 and $3,654,000 as of March 31, 2023 and 
December 31, 2022, respectively.

Prior ABL Credit Agreement

On July 26, 2022, the company entered into a Second 
Amended and Restated Revolving Credit and Security 
Agreement (the “Prior ABL Credit Agreement” or "Prior 
ABL"), amending and restating the company’s existing 
Revolving Credit and Security Agreement, as amended (the 
“Prior Credit Agreement”). The Prior ABL Credit Agreement 
was entered into by and among the company, certain of the 
company’s direct and indirect domestic and Canadian 
subsidiaries (together with the company, the “Borrowers”), 
certain other of the company’s direct and indirect domestic 
and Canadian subsidiaries (the “Guarantors”), and PNC and 
JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A. (the “ABL Lenders”). PNC is the 
administrative agent (the “Administrative Agent”) under the 
Prior ABL Credit Agreement.

The Prior ABL Credit Agreement retained the existing 
asset-based lending senior secured revolving credit facility 
provided for the company and the domestic and Canadian 
Borrowers under the Prior Credit Agreement but extended the 
maturity date to January 16, 2026, reduced the maximum 
aggregate principal amount the company and the domestic and 
Canadian Borrowers could borrow to $35,000,000, limited the 
borrowing base thereunder to eligible domestic and Canadian 
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accounts receivable and included a minimum availability 
reserve of $3,000,000. Borrowings under the Prior ABL Credit 
Agreement were subject to a springing maturity date of 191 
days prior to the maturity dates of certain convertible notes 
due 2024 and 2026, and 100 days prior to the maturity date of 
the Secured Term Loan under the Highbridge Loan 
Agreement, if such notes or such term loan remain outstanding 
as of such respective dates. The Prior ABL Credit Agreement 
also permitted the loans made under the Highbridge Loan 
Agreement. The aggregate borrowing availability under the 
Prior ABL Credit Agreement was determined based on a 
borrowing base formula. 

Interest accrued on outstanding indebtedness under the 
Prior ABL Credit Agreement at an adjusted Term SOFR rate, 
plus a margin of 3.25%, or for swing line loans and prime rate 
revolving loans, at the overnight Prime rate, plus a margin of 
2.25%.

The Prior ABL Credit Agreement contained customary 
terms and covenants and negative covenants, such as 
limitations on indebtedness, liens, fundamental changes, asset 
sales, investments and other matters customarily restricted in 
such agreements. Most of these restrictions were subject to 
certain minimum thresholds and exceptions. The Prior ABL 
Credit Agreement also contained customary events of default, 
after which the revolving loan may be due and payable 
immediately, including, without limitation, payment defaults, 
material inaccuracy of representations and warranties, 
covenant defaults, bankruptcy and insolvency proceedings, 
cross-defaults to certain other agreements, judgments against 
the company and its subsidiaries, change in control and lien 
priority.

In connection with entering into the company's Prior ABL 
Credit Agreement, the company incurred fees which were 
capitalized and were being amortized as interest expense. 
Unamortized debt issuance costs of $1,036,000 were written 
off to Reorganization items, net upon bankruptcy petition.

Debtor-in-Possession (DIP) Term Loan and ABL Facilities

On January 31, 2023, the Debtors entered into a 
Restructuring Support Agreement (the “Restructuring Support 
Agreement” or “RSA”) with certain prepetition stakeholders 
(the “Consenting Stakeholders”). The Consenting 
Stakeholders represent holders of at least a majority of the 
aggregate principal amount of the Company Parties’ debt 
obligations under various debt agreements. Under the RSA, 
the Consenting Stakeholders have agreed, subject to certain 
terms and conditions, to support a financial restructuring (the 
“Restructuring”) of the existing debt of, existing equity 
interests in, and certain other obligations of the Debtors. The 
Restructuring Support Agreement contemplated: (a) the 
Debtors’ entry into the $70,000,000 debtor-in-possession term 
loan facility, (b) the Debtors’ entry into the $17,425,000 
debtor-in-possession ABL facility; (c) the consummation of a 
rights offering, backstopped by members of the Ad Hoc 
Committee of Noteholders (the “Backstop Parties”) pursuant 

to a certain Backstop Commitment Agreement (the “Backstop 
Commitment Agreement”); (d) issuance of the new common 
equity; (e) exit takeback financing in the form of an Exit Term 
Loan Facility and Exit Secured Convertible Notes, and (f) as 
necessary, exit financing in the form of the Exit NA ABL 
Facility and Exit EMEA ABL Facility.

The DIP Term Loan bears interest at a rate of 15.00% per 
year payable on the last business day of each calendar month 
and matured on May 5, 2023. The DIP ABL bears interest at a 
rate of 4.25% plus the Alternate Base Rate payable on the last 
business day of each calendar month and matured on May 1, 
2023.

The Alternate Base Rate shall mean, for any day, a rate 
per annum equal to the highest of (a) the Base Rate in effect 
on such day, (b) the sum of the Overnight Bank Funding Rate 
in effect on such day plus one half of one percent (0.5%), and 
(c) the sum of Adjusted Daily Simple SOFR in effect on such 
day plus one percent (1.0%), so long as Daily Simple SOFR is 
offered, ascertainable and not unlawful; provided, however, if 
the Alternate Base Rate as determined above would be less 
than zero, then such rate shall be deemed to be zero. Any 
change in the Alternate Base Rate (or any component thereof) 
shall take effect at the opening of business on the day such 
change occurs.

The company was in compliance with the DIP Term Loan 
and DIP ABL facility covenants at March 31, 2023.

As of March 31, 2023, the company had a gross 
borrowing availability of $14,023,000 under the DIP ABL, 
considering the minimum availability reserve, then-
outstanding letters of credit and other reserves and had 
borrowings of $13,870,000.  The DIP ABL is classified as 
long-term debt as the company intends to have an exit ABL 
facility upon emergence from bankruptcy

As of March 31, 2023, the company had borrowings of 
$70,000,000 under the DIP Term Loan. Refer to Debtor-in-
Possession Term Loan due June 2, 2023 section below.  

Convertible senior notes due 2022

In 2017, the company issued $120,000,000 aggregate 
principal amount of 4.50% Convertible Senior Notes due 2022 
(the “2022 Notes”) in a private offering to qualified 
institutional buyers pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securities 
Act. The 2022 Notes matured on June 1, 2022. At maturity, 
$2,650,000 principal amount of the 2022 Notes was 
outstanding, which the company repaid in cash. 

The company entered into separate, privately negotiated 
warrant transactions with the option counterparty at a higher 
strike price relating to the same number of the company’s 
common shares, subject to customary anti-dilution 
adjustments, pursuant to which the company sold warrants to 

Notes to Financial Statements Long-Term Liabilities

Table of Contents

37



the option counterparties. The warrants could have a dilutive 
effect on the company’s outstanding common shares and the 
company’s earnings per share to the extent that the price of the 
company’s common shares exceeds the strike price of those 
warrants. The initial strike price of the warrants is $21.4375 
per share and is subject to certain adjustments under the terms 
of the warrant transactions. The company evaluated the 
warrants under the applicable accounting literature, including 
Derivatives and Hedging, ASC 815, and determined that the 
warrants meet the definition of a derivative, are indexed to the 
company's own shares and should be classified in 
shareholders' equity. The amount paid for the warrants and 
capitalized in shareholders' equity was $14,100,000. 

Warrants relating to the 2022 Notes outstanding on 
March 31, 2023 were 1,113,854. If exercised, one common 
share is issued upon exercise of each warrant but may be 
adjusted under certain circumstances if the relevant share price 
exceeds the warrant strike price for the relevant measurement 
period at the time of exercise. Common shares are reserved for 
issuance upon exercise of the remaining warrants relating to 
the 2022 Notes at two common shares per warrant. The 
warrants began to expire on September 1, 2022 and then 
partially expire on each trading day over the 220 trading day 
period following September 1, 2022. 

Convertible senior notes Series I due 2024

During the fourth quarter of 2019, the company entered 
into separate privately negotiated agreements with certain 
holders of its 2021 Notes to exchange $72,909,000 in 
aggregate principal amount of 2021 Notes for aggregate 
consideration of $72,909,000 in aggregate principal amount of 
new 5.00% Convertible Senior Notes due 2024 (the “Series I 
2024 Notes”) of the company and $6,928,000 in cash. 

The notes bear interest at a rate of 5.00% per year payable 
semi-annually in arrears on May 15 and November 15 of each 
year, beginning May 15, 2020. The notes will mature on 
November 15, 2024, unless repurchased, redeemed or 
converted in accordance with their terms prior to such date. 
Prior to May 15, 2024, the Series I 2024 Notes will be 
convertible only upon satisfaction of certain conditions and 
during certain periods, and thereafter, at any time until the 
close of business on the second scheduled trading day 
immediately preceding the maturity date. The Series I 2024 
Notes may be settled in cash, the company’s common shares 
or a combination of cash and the company’s common shares, 
at the company’s election. 

Prior to the maturity of the Series I 2024 Notes, the 
company may, at its election, redeem for cash all or part of the 
Series I 2024 Notes if the last reported sale price of the 
company’s common shares equals or exceeds 130% of the 
conversion price then in effect for at least 20 trading days 
(whether or not consecutive) during any 30 consecutive 

trading day period (including the last trading day of such 
period) ending on, and including, the trading day immediately 
preceding the date on which the company provides notice of 
redemption. The redemption price will be equal to 100% of 
the principal amount of the Series I 2024 Notes to be 
redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but excluding, 
the redemption date (subject to certain limited exceptions). No 
sinking fund is provided for the Series I 2024 Notes, which 
means the company is not required to redeem or retire the 
Series I 2024 Notes periodically.

Holders of the Series I 2024 Notes may convert their 
Series I 2024 Notes at their option at any time prior to the 
close of business on the business day immediately preceding 
May 15, 2024 only under the following circumstances: (1) 
during any calendar quarter commencing after the calendar 
quarter ending December 31, 2019 (and only during such 
calendar quarter), if the last reported sale price of the 
company’s common shares for at least 20 trading days 
(whether or not consecutive) during the period of 30 
consecutive trading days ending on the last trading day of the 
immediately preceding calendar quarter is greater than or 
equal to 130% of the conversion price for the Series I 2024 
Notes on each applicable trading day; (2) during the five 
business day period after any 10 consecutive trading day 
period (the “measurement period”) in which the “trading 
price” (as defined in the Indenture) per one thousand U.S. 
dollar principal amount of Series I 2024 Notes for each trading 
day of such measurement period was less than 98% of the 
product of the last reported sale price of the company’s 
common shares and the applicable conversion rate for the 
Series I 2024 Notes on each such trading day; (3) upon the 
occurrence of specified corporate events described in the 
Indenture; or (4) if the company calls the Series I 2024 Notes 
for redemption pursuant to the terms of the Indenture. Holders 
of the Series I 2024 Notes will have the right to require the 
company to repurchase all or some of their Series I 2024 
Notes at 100% of their principal, plus any accrued and unpaid 
interest, upon the occurrence of certain fundamental changes. 
The initial conversion rate is 67.6819 common shares per 
$1,000 principal amount of Series I 2024 Notes (equivalent to 
an initial conversion price of approximately $14.78 per 
common share). On or after May 15, 2024 until the close of 
business on the second scheduled trading day immediately 
preceding the maturity of the Series I 2024 Notes, holders may 
convert their Series I 2024 Notes, at the option of the holder, 
regardless of the foregoing circumstances.
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The liability components of the Series I 2024 Notes 
consist of the following (in thousands):

March 31, 
2023

December 31, 
2022

Principal amount of liability 
component $ 72,909 $ 72,909 
Debt fees  —  (501) 
Net carrying amount of 
liability component $ 72,909 $ 72,408 

The effective interest rate on the liability component was 
8.8% upon original issuance including consideration of the 
discount. Total interest expense includes coupon interest and 
amortization of debt fees. Interest expense of $303,000 was 
accrued for the three months ended March 31, 2023 compared 
to $911,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2022 based 
on the stated coupon rate of 5.0%. Interest expense was not 
recorded after the Bankruptcy filing date as the debt is 
expected to be compromised. The Series I 2024 Notes were 
not convertible as of March 31, 2023 nor was the applicable 
conversion threshold met. Unamortized debt issuance costs of 
$479,000 were written off in the first quarter of 2023 to 
Reorganization items, net upon Bankruptcy and the principal 
is included in Liabilities Subject to Compromise.

Convertible senior notes Series II due 2024

During the second quarter of 2020, the company entered 
into separate, privately negotiated agreements with certain 
holders of its 2021 Notes and certain holders of its 2022 Notes 
to exchange $35,375,000 in aggregate principal amount of 
2021 Notes and $38,500,000 in aggregate principal amount of 
2022 Notes, for aggregate consideration of $73,875,000 in 
aggregate principal amount of new 5.00% Series II 
Convertible Senior Notes due 2024 (the “Series II 2024 
Notes”) of the company and $5,593,000 in cash. 

The Series II 2024 Notes bear interest at a rate of 5.00% 
per year, payable semi-annually in arrears on May 15 and 
November 15 of each year, beginning November 15, 2020. 
The Series II 2024 Notes will mature on November 15, 2024, 
unless repurchased, redeemed or converted in accordance with 
their terms prior to such date. Prior to May 15, 2024, the 
Series II 2024 Notes will be convertible only upon satisfaction 
of certain conditions and during certain periods, and thereafter, 
at any time until the close of business on the second scheduled 
trading day immediately preceding the maturity date. The 
Series II 2024 Notes may be settled in cash, the company’s 
common shares or a combination of cash and the company’s 
common shares, at the company’s election. 

Prior to the maturity of the Series II 2024 Notes, the 
company may, at its election, redeem for cash all or part of the 
Series II 2024 Notes, if the last reported sale price of the 
company’s common shares equals or exceeds 130% of the 

conversion price then in effect for at least 20 trading days 
(whether or not consecutive) during any 30 consecutive 
trading day period (including the last trading day of such 
period) ending on, and including, the trading day immediately 
preceding the date on which the company provides notice of 
redemption. The redemption price will be equal to 100% of 
the accreted principal amount of the Series II 2024 Notes to be 
redeemed, plus any accrued and unpaid interest, if any, on the 
original principal amount of the Series II 2024 Notes 
redeemed to, but excluding, the redemption date (subject to 
certain limited exceptions). No sinking fund is provided for 
the Series II 2024 Notes, which means the company is not 
required to redeem or retire the Series II 2024 Notes 
periodically.

Holders of the Series II 2024 Notes may convert their 
Series II 2024 Notes at their option at any time prior to the 
close of business on the business day immediately preceding 
May 15, 2024 only under the following circumstances: (1) 
during any calendar quarter commencing after the calendar 
quarter ending June 30, 2020 (and only during such calendar 
quarter), if the last reported sale price of the company’s 
common shares for at least 20 trading days (whether or not 
consecutive) during the period of 30 consecutive trading days 
ending on the last trading day of the immediately preceding 
calendar quarter is greater than 130% of the conversion price 
for the Series II 2024 Notes on each applicable trading day; 
(2) during the five business day period after any 10 
consecutive trading day period (the “measurement period”) in 
which the “trading price” (as defined in the Indenture) per one 
thousand U.S. dollar principal amount of Series II 2024 Notes 
for each trading day of such measurement period was less than 
98% of the product of the last reported sale price of the 
company’s common shares and the applicable conversion rate 
for the Series II 2024 Notes on each such trading day; (3) 
upon the occurrence of specified corporate events described in 
the Indenture; or (4) if the company calls the Series II 2024 
Notes for redemption pursuant to the terms of the Indenture. 
Holders of the Series II 2024 Notes will have the right to 
require the company to repurchase all or some of their Series 
II 2024 Notes at 100% of the accreted principal amount, plus 
any accrued and unpaid interest, upon the occurrence of 
certain fundamental changes. The initial conversion rate is 
67.6819 common shares per $1,000 principal amount of Series 
II 2024 Notes (equivalent to an initial conversion price of 
approximately $14.78 per common share). On or after May 
15, 2024 until the close of business on the second scheduled 
trading day immediately preceding the maturity of the Series 
II 2024 Notes, holders may convert their Series II 2024 Notes, 
at the option of the holder, regardless of the foregoing 
circumstances.

The principal amount of the Series II 2024 Notes, until 
Bankruptcy petition on January 31, 2023, accreted at a rate of 
approximately 4.7% per year commencing June 4, 2020, 
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compounding on a semi-annual basis. The accreted portion of 
the principal was payable in cash upon maturity but did not 
bear interest and was not convertible into the company’s 
common shares. The total amount accreted as of March 31, 
2023 was $8,883,000. 

The liability components of the Series II 2024 Notes 
consist of the following (in thousands):

March 31, 
2023

December 31, 
2022

Principal amount of liability 
component - including 
accretion $ 77,758 $ 77,309 
Debt fees  —  (590) 
Net carrying amount of 
liability component $ 77,758 $ 76,719 

The effective interest rate on the liability component was 
9.0% upon original issuance including consideration of the 
discount. Total interest expense includes coupon interest, 
accretion and amortization of debt fees. Interest expense for 
accretion of $449,000 was recognized for the three months 
ended March 31, 2023 compared to $911,000 for the three 
months ended March 31, 2022. Interest expense of $287,000 
was recognized for the three months ended March 31, 2023 
compared to $923,000 for the three months ended March 31, 
2022, based on the stated coupon rate of 5.0%. Interest 
expense was not recorded after the Bankruptcy filing date as 
the debt is expected to be compromised. The Series II 2024 
Notes were not convertible as of March 31, 2023 nor was the 
applicable conversion threshold met. Unamortized debt 
issuance costs of $564,000 were written off in the first quarter 
of 2023 to Reorganization items, net upon Bankruptcy and the 
principal is included in Liabilities Subject to Compromise. 

Convertible senior notes due 2026

In the first quarter of 2021, the company issued 
$125,000,000 aggregate principal amount of 4.25% 
Convertible Senior Notes due 2026 (the “2026 Notes”) in a 
private offering to qualified institutional buyers pursuant to 
Rule 144A under the Securities Act.

The notes bear interest at a rate of 4.25% per year payable 
semi-annually in arrears on March 15 and September 15 of 
each year, beginning September 15, 2021. The notes will 
mature on March 15, 2026, unless repurchased, redeemed or 
converted in accordance with their terms prior to such date. 
Prior to September 15, 2025, the 2026 Notes will be 
convertible only upon satisfaction of certain conditions and 
during certain periods, and thereafter, at any time until the 
close of business on the second scheduled trading day 
immediately preceding the maturity date. The 2026 Notes may 
be settled in cash, the company’s common shares or a 

combination of cash and the company’s common shares, at the 
company’s election. 

The company may not redeem the 2026 Notes prior to 
March 20, 2024. The company may, at its election, redeem for 
cash all or part of the 2026 Notes, on or after March 20, 2024, 
if the last reported sale price of the company’s common shares 
equals or exceeds 130% of the conversion price then in effect 
for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive) during 
any 30 consecutive trading day period (including the last 
trading day of such period) ending on, and including, the 
trading day immediately preceding the date on which the 
company provides notice of redemption. The redemption price 
will be equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2026 
Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but 
excluding, the redemption date (subject to certain limited 
exceptions). No sinking fund is provided for the 2026 Notes, 
which means the company is not required to redeem or retire 
the 2026 Notes periodically.

Holders of the 2026 Notes may convert their 2026 Notes 
at their option at any time prior to the close of business on the 
business day immediately preceding September 15, 2025 in 
multiples of $1,000 principal amount, only under the 
following circumstances: (1) during any calendar quarter 
commencing after the calendar quarter ending June 30, 2021 
(and only during such calendar quarter), if the last reported 
sale price of the company’s common shares for at least 20 
trading days (whether or not consecutive) during the period of 
30 consecutive trading days ending on the last trading day of 
the immediately preceding calendar quarter is greater than 
130% of the conversion price for the 2026 Notes on each 
applicable trading day; (2) during the five business day period 
after any 10 consecutive trading day period (the “measurement 
period”) in which the “trading price” (as defined in the 
Indenture) per one thousand U.S. dollar principal amount of 
2026 Notes for each trading day of such measurement period 
was less than 98% of the product of the last reported sale price 
of the company’s common shares and the applicable 
conversion rate for the 2026 Notes on each such trading day; 
(3) upon the occurrence of specified corporate events 
described in the Indenture; or (4) if the company calls any or 
all of the 2026 Notes for redemption, at any time prior to the 
close of business on the scheduled trading day immediately 
preceding the redemption date. Holders of the 2026 Notes will 
have the right to require the company to repurchase all or 
some of their 2026 Notes at 100% of their principal, plus any 
accrued and unpaid interest, upon the occurrence of certain 
fundamental changes. The initial conversion rate is 94.6096 
common shares per $1,000 principal amount of 2026 notes 
(equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately 
$10.57 per common share). On or after September 15, 2025 
until the close of business on the second scheduled trading day 
immediately preceding the maturity of the 2026 Notes, holders 
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may convert their 2026 Notes, at the option of the holder, 
regardless of the foregoing circumstances.

The liability components of the 2026 Notes consist of the 
following (in thousands):

March 31, 
2023

December 31, 
2022

Principal amount of liability 
component $ 69,700 $ 69,700 
Debt fees  —  (2,035) 
Net carrying amount of 
liability component $ 69,700 $ 67,665 

Interest expense of $247,000 was accrued for the three 
months ended March 31, 2023 compared to $1,328,000 for the 
three months ended March 31, 2022 based on the stated 
coupon rate of 4.25%. Interest expense was not recorded after 
the Bankruptcy filing date as the debt is expected to be 
compromised. The 2026 Notes were not convertible as of 
March 31, 2023 nor was the applicable conversion threshold 
met. Unamortized debt issuance costs of $1,982,000 were 
written off in the first quarter of 2023 to Reorganization items, 
net upon Bankruptcy and the principal is included in 
Liabilities Subject to Compromise.

In 2022, $55,300,000 aggregate principal amount of 2026 
Notes were exchanged and retired as part of the Secured 2026 
Convertible Notes and Secured Term Loan transactions 
discussed below. 

Secured convertible senior notes due 2026

In the third and fourth quarter of 2022, the company 
issued an aggregate $41,475,000 (split equally between two 
separate tranches ("Tranche I Notes" and "Tranche II Notes") 
in aggregate principal amount of 5.68% Convertible Senior 
Secured Notes due 2026 (the “Secured 2026 Notes”) in a 
private offering. This was in exchange for $55,300,000 
aggregate principal amount of 2026 Notes which were retired. 

The Secured 2026 Notes are initially guaranteed by 
certain subsidiaries of the company in the United States, 
United Kingdom, Canada, France, the Netherlands and 
Luxembourg pursuant to separate guarantees (each, a 
“Guarantee”), and are secured on a pari passu basis by the 
same collateral that secures the Highbridge Loan Agreement 
(discussed below). In addition, the company's subsidiaries that 
provide guarantees of the Highbridge Loan Agreement in 
connection with the post-closing draws provided Guarantees 
of the Secured 2026 Notes.

Interest on the Secured 2026 Notes will be payable semi-
annually in cash in arrears on January 1 and July 1 of each 
year, beginning on January 1, 2023, at a rate of 5.68% per 
year. The Secured 2026 Notes will mature on July 1, 2026, 
unless earlier converted, redeemed or repurchased in 

accordance with their terms. Holders of the Secured 2026 
Notes have the right, at their option, at any time prior to the 
close of business on the second scheduled trading day 
immediately preceding July 1, 2026 (the maturity date), to 
convert any Secured 2026 Notes or portion thereof that is 
$1,000 or an integral multiple thereof, subject to certain 
conditions, into cash, common shares or a combination of cash 
and common shares at the company’s election (subject to, and 
in accordance with, the settlement provisions set forth the 
indentures governing the Tranche I Notes and Tranche II 
Notes (collectively, the "Indentures")). The initial conversion 
rate for the (i) Tranche I Notes is 333.3333 common shares 
(subject to adjustment as provided for in the Tranche I 
Indenture) per $1,000 principal amount of the Tranche I 
Notes, which is equal to an initial conversion price of $3.00 
per share, and (ii) Tranche II Notes is 222.222 common shares 
(subject to adjustment as provided for in the Tranche II 
Indenture) per $1,000 principal amount of the Tranche II 
Notes, which is equal to an initial conversion price of $4.50 
per share. In addition, following certain corporate events as 
described in the Indentures that occur prior to the maturity 
date of the Secured 2026 Notes or if the company delivers a 
notice of redemption, the company will pay a make-whole 
premium by increasing the conversion rate for a holder who 
elects to convert its Secured 2026 Notes in connection with 
such a corporate event or notice of redemption, as the case 
may be, in certain circumstances, subject to adjustment as 
provided for and in accordance with the Indentures. These 
features are bifurcated driving convertible derivative liability. 

The company may not elect to redeem the Secured 2026 
Notes prior to January 26, 2023. The company may redeem 
for cash all or any portion of the Secured 2026 Notes, at its 
option, on or after January 26, 2023 if the last reported sale 
price of the common shares exceeds 150% of the conversion 
price then in effect for at least 20 trading days (whether or not 
consecutive) during any 30 consecutive trading day period 
(including the last trading day of such period) ending on, and 
including, the trading day immediately preceding the date on 
which the company provides notice of redemption, at a 
redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 
Secured 2026 Notes to be redeemed, plus any accrued and 
unpaid interest on such Secured 2026 Notes to, but excluding, 
the redemption date (subject to certain conditions set forth the 
Indentures). No sinking fund is provided for the Secured 2026 
Notes.

If the company undergoes a Fundamental Change (as 
defined in the Indentures), prior to the maturity date of the 
Secured 2026 Notes, holders of the Secured 2026 Notes will, 
subject to specified conditions, have the right, at their option, 
to require the company to repurchase for cash all or a portion 
of their Secured 2026 Notes at a repurchase price equal to 
100% of the principal amount of the Secured 2026 Notes to be 
repurchased, plus any accrued and unpaid interest to, but not 
including, the Fundamental Change repurchase date.
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The Indentures provide for customary events of default. In 
the case of an event of default with respect to the Secured 
2026 Notes arising from specified events of bankruptcy or 
insolvency, all outstanding Secured 2026 Notes will become 
due and payable immediately without further action or notice. 
If any other event of default with respect to the Secured 2026 
Notes under the Indentures occur or is continuing, the Trustee 
or holders of at least 25% in aggregate principal amount of the 
then outstanding Secured 2026 Notes may declare the 
principal amount of the Secured 2026 Notes to be immediately 
due and payable.

In certain circumstances if, at any time during the six-
month period beginning on, and including, the date that is six 
months after the date of original issuance for any sub-tranche 
of the Secured 2026 Notes, the company fails to timely file 
certain documents or reports required under the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Secured 2026 
Notes are not otherwise freely tradable under Rule 144 by 
holders of the Secured 2026 Notes other than the company’s 
affiliates or holders that were affiliates at any time during the 
three months preceding, additional interest will accrue at a rate 
of up to 0.50% on the Secured 2026 Notes during the period in 
which its failure to file has occurred and is continuing or such 
Secured 2026 Notes are not otherwise freely tradable under 
Rule 144 by holders other than the company’s affiliates or 
holders that were affiliates at any time during the three months 
preceding until such failure is cured.

In addition, if, and for so long as, the restrictive legend on 
any sub-tranche of the Secured 2026 Notes has not been 
removed, any sub-tranche of the Secured 2026 Notes are 
assigned a restricted CUSIP number or any sub-tranche of the 
Secured 2026 Notes are not otherwise freely tradable under 
Rule 144 by holders other than the company’s affiliates or 
holders that were affiliates at any time during the three months 
preceding (without restrictions pursuant to U.S. securities laws 
or the terms of the Indentures or the Secured 2026 Notes) as of 
the 380th day after the date of original issuance of such sub-
tranche of the Secured 2026 Notes, the company will pay 
additional interest at a rate of 0.50% on the Secured 2026 
Notes during the period in which the Secured 2026 Notes 
remain so restricted.

The company may not issue common shares upon 
conversions of the Secured 2026 Notes, net of the 2,700,000 
common shares issued in the Exchange, in excess of 19.99% 
of the company’s common shares outstanding on July 25, 
2022; until the requisite approval under the applicable New 
York Stock Exchange rules by the company’s shareholders is 
obtained. Prior to the Bankruptcy petition on January 31, 
2023, the company intended to seek this approval at its 2023 
Annual Meeting of Shareholders.

Debt issuance costs of $3,099,000 were capitalized and 
are being amortized as interest expense through July 2026. 
Debt issuance costs are presented on the balance sheet as a 

direct deduction from the carrying amount of the related debt 
liability. 

The liability components of the Secured 2026 Notes 
consist of the following (in thousands):

March 31, 
2023

December 31, 
2022

Principal amount of liability 
component $ 41,475 $ 41,475 
Unamortized discount  (1,356)  (1,447) 
Debt fees  (2,715)  (2,788) 
Net carrying amount of 
liability component $ 37,404 $ 37,240 

Interest expense of $589,000 was accrued for the three 
months ended March 31, 2023 based on the stated coupon rate 
of 5.68%. Non-cash interest expense of $91,000 was 
recognized for the three months ended March 31, 2023. The 
effective interest rate of the Secured 2026 Notes as of 
March 31, 2023 was 8.6%. The Secured 2026 Notes were not 
convertible as of March 31, 2023 nor was the applicable 
conversion threshold met.

Secured Term Loan due 2026

On July 26, 2022, the company entered into a credit 
agreement (the “Highbridge Loan Agreement” or "Secured 
Term Loan") with a certain fund managed by Highbridge 
Capital Management, LLC (“Highbridge”), as the lender 
(together with the other lenders from time to time party 
thereto, the “Lenders”), Cantor Fitzgerald Securities as 
administrative agent and GLAS Trust Corporation Limited, as 
collateral agent.

Pursuant to the Highbridge Loan Agreement, the 
company may borrow up to an aggregate of $104,500,000 
principal amount of Secured Term Loan, including 
$66,500,000 with $2,000,000 original issuance discount in 
initial Secured Term Loans drawn at closing, $8,500,000 in 
additional Secured Term Loans principal to be made in a 
single draw subject to satisfaction of certain conditions, 
another $10,000,000 in additional Secured Term Loan 
principal to be made in a single draw subject to satisfaction of 
certain further conditions and $19,500,000 in additional 
Secured Term Loan principal to be made subject to 
satisfaction of certain further conditions. 

The Secured Term Loan was scheduled to mature on July 
26, 2026 and accrued interest at an initial annual rate of SOFR 
plus 7.00% or a base rate plus 6.00% and after the second 
anniversary of closing at an annual rate of SOFR plus 8.75% 
or a base rate plus 7.75%. The Secured Term Loan was also 
subject to a springing maturity date of 91 days prior to the 
maturity date of certain convertible notes due November 2024 
if more than $20,000,000 of such notes remain outstanding as 
of such date. The obligations under the Highbridge Loan 
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Agreement are secured, initially, by substantially all assets of 
the company and certain subsidiaries of the company (subject 
to certain exceptions), subject to intercreditor agreements in 
connection with the ABL Credit Agreement and the 5.68% 
Indentures and are guaranteed by certain subsidiaries of the 
company in the United States, United Kingdom, Canada, 
France, the Netherlands and Luxembourg at the closing. 
Additional collateral owned by subsidiaries of the company in 
various jurisdictions have been added to the security for the 
Secured Term Loan and additional subsidiaries of the 
company in various jurisdictions have been added to guarantee 
the obligations in connection with the post-closing draws.

The company has the right to prepay the Secured Term 
Loan at any time, subject to a prepayment premium, which in 
case of a prepayment before the second anniversary of the 
closing date is equal to the greater of (i) 1.00% of the 
aggregate principal amount of the Secured Term Loan so 
prepaid and (ii) the excess, if any of (A) the present value as of 
the date of repayment of all interest that would have accrued 
on the Secured Term Loan being prepaid from such date 
through the second anniversary of the closing plus the present 
value as of such date of the principal amount of the Secured 
Term Loan being prepaid assuming a prepayment date of the 
second anniversary of the closing over (B) the principal 
amount of such Secured Term Loan being prepaid and, after 
the second anniversary of the closing and prior to the third 
anniversary of the closing is equal to 1.00% of the aggregate 
principal amount of the Secured Term Loan so prepaid, as 
well as, in each case, an additional redemption fee equal to 
3.00% of the aggregate principal amount of the Secured Term 
Loan so prepaid.

The Highbridge Loan Agreement contained customary 
terms and covenants, including without limitation a financial 
covenant to maintain a minimum liquidity of $20,000,000 and 
negative covenants, such as limitations on indebtedness, liens, 
fundamental changes, asset sales, investments and other 
matters customarily restricted in such agreements. Most of 
these restrictions were subject to certain minimum thresholds 
and exceptions. The Highbridge Loan Agreement also 
contained customary events of default, after which the Secured 
Term Loan may be due and payable immediately, including, 
without limitation, payment defaults, material inaccuracy of 
representations and warranties, covenant defaults, bankruptcy 
and insolvency proceedings, cross-defaults to certain other 
agreements, judgments against the company and its 
subsidiaries, change in control and lien priority.

Debt issuance costs of $6,480,000 were capitalized and 
are being amortized as interest expense through July 2026. 
Debt issuance costs are presented on the balance sheet as a 
direct deduction from the carrying amount of the related debt 
liability. 

On October 3, 2022, the company consummated 
additional draws of an aggregate of $18,500,000 under the 
Highbridge Loan Agreement. On December 23, 2022, the 

company entered into an amendment under the Highbridge 
Loan Agreement (the “Amended Highbridge Loan 
Agreement”) and consummated an additional draw of an 
aggregate principal amount of $5,500,000 of principal (the 
“Additional Draw”). Additional commitments of $14,000,000 
remained available under the Amended Highbridge Loan 
Agreement, subject to satisfaction of certain conditions set 
forth therein at December 31, 2022.

On February 2, 2023, the company rolled $35,000,000 of 
Secured Term Loan principal to a new DIP Term Loan with 
maturity of June 2, 2023 as a result of the bankruptcy filing 
and further discussed below. The rollover of the principal from 
the Secured Term Loan to the DIP Term Loan resulted in a 
modification of the Secured Term Loan which allocated 
previous debt issuance costs and original issuance discount to 
the DIP Term Loan which is amortized over the DIP Term 
Loan period.

The liability components of the Secured Term Loan 
consist of the following (in thousands):

March 31, 
2023

December 31, 
2022

Principal amount of liability 
component $ 55,500 $ 90,500 
Unamortized original 
issuance discount  (1,075)  (1,846) 
Debt fees  (3,471)  (5,846) 
Net carrying amount of 
liability component $ 50,954 $ 82,808 

Interest expense of $2,225,000 was accrued for the three 
months ended March 31, 2023. Non-cash interest expense of 
$420,000 was recognized for the three months ended 
March 31, 2023. The effective interest rate of the Secured 
Term Loan as of March 31, 2023 was 14.9%.

Debtor-in-Possession Term Loan due June 2, 2023

On February 2, 2023, the company entered into a 
superpriority debtor-in-possession credit agreement (the “DIP 
Term Loan”) with a certain fund managed by Highbridge 
Capital Management, LLC (“Highbridge”), as the lender 
(together with the other lenders from time to time party 
thereto, the “Lenders”), Cantor Fitzgerald Securities as 
administrative agent and GLAS Trust Corporation Limited, as 
collateral agent.

The DIP Term Loan rolled $35,000,000 from the Secured 
Term Loan and funded an additional $35,000,000 in the first 
quarter of 2023. Debt issuance costs for the DIP Term Loan 
were expensed to Reorganization items, net. The rollover of 
the principal from the Secured Term Loan to the DIP Term 
Loan resulted in a modification of the Secured Term Loan 
which allocated previous debt issuance costs and original 
issuance discount to the DIP Term Loan which is amortized 
over the DIP Term Loan period. 
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 The liability components of the DIP Term Loan consist 
of the following (in thousands):

March 31, 
2023

Principal amount of liability component $ 70,000 
Unamortized original issuance discount  (352) 
Debt fees  (1,149) 
Net carrying amount of liability component $ 68,499 

Interest expense of $2,639,000 was accrued for the three 
months ended March 31, 2023. Non-cash interest expense of 
$1,501,000 was recognized for the three months ended 
March 31, 2023. The effective interest rate of the DIP Term 
Loan as of March 31, 2023 was 19.3%.  Approximately 
$35,000,000 of the DIP Term Loan is classified as short-term 
in nature as of March 31, 2023 as the intent is to settle the 
obligation upon emergence from bankruptcy.

Other

In the second quarter of 2022, the company borrowed 
$2,000,000 against the cash surrender value of its life 
insurance policies. 

The weighted average interest rate on all borrowings, 
excluding finance leases, was 9.5% for the three months ended 
March 31, 2023 and 5.3% for the year ended December 31, 
2022.
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Other Long-Term Obligations

Other long-term obligations consist of the following (in thousands):

March 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Deferred income taxes $ 19,139 $ 18,771 
Product liability  11,023  10,438 
Deferred compensation  4,914  4,970 
Deferred gain on sale leaseback  4,747  4,834 
Supplemental executive retirement plan liability  4,413  4,383 
Uncertain tax obligation including interest  2,918  2,891 
Death benefit obligation plan  2,616  2,533 
Pension  1,055  1,019 
Secured Convertible 2026 debt conversion liability  —  85 
Other  388  478 

Other Long-Term Obligations, prior to reclassification to Liabilities Subject to 
Compromise $ 51,213 $ 50,402 
Less: Amounts reclassified to Liabilities Subject to Compromise  21,563  — 

Other Long-Term Obligations $ 29,650 $ 50,402 

On April 23, 2015, the company entered into a real estate 
sale leaseback transaction which resulted in the company 
recording an initial deferred gain of $7,414,000, the majority 
of which is included in Other Long-Term Obligations and will 
be recognized over the 20-year life of the leases. The gain 
realized was $84,000 for the three months ended March 31, 
2023, compared to $81,000 for the three months ended 
March 31, 2022.
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Leases and Commitments

Refer to the Subsequent Events note for discussion of 
changes (modifications and rejections) to certain real estate 
leases upon bankruptcy emergence on May 5, 2023. During 
the bankruptcy period through March 31, 2023, there were no 
modifications of Debtors leases. 

The company reviews new contracts to determine if the 
contracts include a lease. To the extent a lease agreement 
includes an extension option that is reasonably certain to be 
exercised, the company has recognized those amounts as part 
of the right-of-use assets and lease liabilities. The company 
combines lease and certain non-lease components, such as 
common area maintenance, in the calculation of the lease 
assets and related liabilities. As most lease agreements do not 
provide an implicit rate, the company uses an incremental 
borrowing rate (IBR) based on information available at 
commencement date in determining the present value of lease 
payments and to help classify the lease as operating or 
financing. The company calculates its IBR based on the 
secured rates of the company's recent debt issuances, the credit 
rating of the company, changes in currencies, lease repayment 
timing as well as other publicly available data.

The company leases a portion of its facilities, 
transportation equipment, data processing equipment and 
certain other equipment. These leases have terms from 1 to 20 
years and provide for renewal options. Generally, the company 
is required to pay taxes and normal expenses associated with 
operating the facilities and equipment. As of March 31, 2023, 
the company is committed under non-cancelable leases, which 
have initial or remaining terms in excess of one year and 
expire on various dates through 2040. 

On April 23, 2015, the company sold and leased back, 
under four separate lease agreements, four properties located 
in Ohio and one property in Florida for net proceeds of 
$23,000,000, which were used to reduce debt under the U.S. 
and Canadian Credit Facility. The initial total annual rent for 
the properties was $2,275,000 and can increase annually over 
the 20-year term of the leases based on the applicable 
geographical consumer price index (CPI). Each of the four 
lease agreements contains three 10-year renewals with the rent 
for each option term based on the greater of the then-current 
fair market rent for each property or the then-current rate and 
increasing annually by the applicable CPI. Under the terms of 
the lease agreements, the company is responsible for all taxes, 
insurance and utilities. The company is required to adequately 
maintain each of the properties and any leasehold 
improvements will be amortized over the lesser of the lives of 
the improvements or the remaining lease lives, consistent with 
any other company leases. 

In connection with the transaction, the requirements for 
sale lease-back accounting were met. Accordingly, the 
company recorded the sale of the properties, removed the 
related property and equipment from the company's balance 
sheet, recognized an initial deferred gain of $7,414,000 and an 
immediate loss of $257,000 related to one property and 
recorded new lease liabilities. Specifically, the company 
recorded four finance leases totaling $32,339,000 and one 
operating lease related to leased land, which was not a 
material component of the transaction. The gains on the sales 
of the properties were required to be deferred and recognized 
over the life of the leases as the property sold is being leased 
back. The deferred gain is classified under Other Long-Term 
Obligations on the condensed consolidated balance sheets. 

In July of 2020, the company entered into a 19.75-year 
lease agreement in Germany. The lease increased the 
company's finance lease obligation by $38,704,000 and 
increased the finance lease expense compared to previous 
periods. 

Lease expenses for the three months ended March 31, 
2023 and March 31, 2022, respectively, were as follows (in 
thousands):

For the Three 
Months Ended 

March 31,
2023 2022

Operating leases $ 1,548 $ 1,610 
Variable and short-term leases  610  714 

Total operating leases $ 2,158 $ 2,324 

Finance lease interest cost $ 1,067 $ 1,083 
Finance lease depreciation  1,067  1,092 

Total finance leases $ 2,134 $ 2,175 
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Future minimum operating and finance lease 
commitments, as of March 31, 2023, are as follows (in 
thousands):

Finance 
Leases

Operating 
Leases

2023 $ 5,151 $ 3,689 
2024  6,808  3,894 
2025  6,710  2,539 
2026  6,599  1,224 
2027  6,485  392 
Thereafter  63,035  1,356 
Total future minimum lease payments  94,788  13,094 
Amounts representing interest  (33,818)  (996) 
Present value of minimum lease 
payments  60,970  12,098 
Less: current maturities of lease 
obligations  (3,162)  (4,142) 
Long-term lease obligations $ 57,808 $ 7,956 

Supplemental cash flow amounts for the three months 
ended March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022 were as follows (in 
thousands):  

For the Three 
Months Ended 

March 31,
Cash Activity:  Cash paid in measurement 
of amounts for lease liabilities 2023 2022

Operating leases $ 1,528 $ 2,239 
Finance leases  1,843  1,829 
Total $ 3,371 $ 4,068 

Non-Cash Activity:  Right-of-use assets 
obtained in exchange for lease obligations 2023 2022

Operating leases $ 2,631 $ 716 
Finance leases  5  175 
Total $ 2,636 $ 891 

Weighted-average remaining lease terms and discount 
rates for finance and operating leases are as follows as of 
March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, respectively: 

March 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Weighted-average 
remaining lease term - 
finance leases 14.5 years 14.8 years
Weighted-average 
remaining lease term - 
operating leases 4.1 years 4.6 years
Weighted-average 
discount rate - finance 
leases 3.74% 3.74%
Weighted-average 
discount rate - operating 
leases 15.36% 9.36%
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Revenue

The company has two revenue streams: products and 
services. Services include repair, refurbishment, preventive 
maintenance and rental of products. Services for the North 
America segment include maintenance and repair of products. 
Services for the Europe segment include repair, refurbishment 
and preventive maintenance services. Services in All Other, 
are in the Asia Pacific region, and include rental and repair of 
products.

 The following tables disaggregate the company’s 
revenues by major source and by reportable segment for the 
three months ended March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022 (in 
thousands):

Three Months Ended March 31, 2023
Product Service Total

Europe $ 101,874 $ 3,049 $ 104,923 
North America  51,906  458  52,364 
All Other  6,876  1,318  8,194 

Total $ 160,656 $ 4,825 $ 165,481 
% Split 97% 3% 100%

Three Months Ended March 31, 2022
Product Service Total

Europe $ 115,265 $ 2,814 $ 118,079 
North America  75,183  136  75,319 
All Other  6,382  1,208  7,590 

Total $ 196,830 $ 4,158 $ 200,988 
% Split 98% 2% 100%

The company's revenues are principally related to the 
sale of products, approximately 97%, with the remaining 3% 
related to services including repair, refurbishment, preventive 
maintenance and rental of products. While the company has a 
significant amount of contract types, the sales split by 
contract type is estimated as follows: general terms and 
conditions (25%), large national customers (20%), 
governments, principally pursuant to tender contracts (23%) 
and other customers including buying groups and 
independent customers (32%).  

All product revenues and substantially all service 
revenues are recognized at a point in time. The remaining 
service revenue, recognized over time, are reflected in the 
Europe segment and include multiple performance obligations. 
For such contracts, the company allocates revenue to each 
performance obligation based on its relative standalone selling 
price. The company generally determines the standalone 

selling price based on the expected cost-plus margin 
methodology. 

Revenue is recognized when obligations under the terms 
of a contract with the customer are satisfied; generally, this 
occurs with the transfer of control of the company’s products 
and services. The amount of consideration received and 
revenue recognized by the company can vary as a result of 
variable consideration terms included in the contracts related 
to customer rebates, cash discounts and return policies. 
Revenue is measured as the amount of consideration probable 
of not having a significant reversal of cumulative revenue 
recognized when related uncertainties are resolved. Customer 
rebates and cash discounts are estimated based on the most 
likely amount principle and these estimates are based on 
historical experience and anticipated performance. In addition, 
customers have the right to return products within the 
company’s normal terms policy, and as such the company 
estimates the expected returns based on an analysis of 
historical experience. The company adjusts its estimate of 
revenue at the earlier of when the most likely amount of 
consideration it expects to receive changes or when the 
consideration becomes fixed. The company generally does not 
expect that there will be significant changes to its estimates of 
variable consideration (refer to “Receivables” and "Accrued 
Expenses" in the notes to the condensed consolidated financial 
statements included elsewhere in this report for more detail).  

Depending on the terms of the contract, the company may 
defer the recognition of a portion of the revenue at the end of a 
reporting period to align with transfer of control of the 
company’s products to the customer. In addition, to the extent 
performance obligations are satisfied over time, the company 
defers revenue recognition until the performance obligations 
are satisfied. As of March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, 
the company had deferred revenue of $1,507,000 and 
$2,279,000, respectively, related to outstanding performance 
obligations. 
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Equity Compensation

The company’s common shares have a $0.25 stated value. 
The common shares and the Class B common shares generally 
have identical rights, terms and conditions and vote together as 
a single class on most issues, except that the Class B common 
shares have ten votes per share and, in general, can only be 
transferred to family members or for estate planning purposes. 
Holders of Class B common shares are entitled to convert their 
shares into common shares at any time on a share-for-share 
basis. When Class B common shares are transferred out of a 
familial relationship, they automatically convert to common 
shares.

As of March 31, 2023, 3,667 Class B common shares 
remained outstanding. Prior conversions of Class B common 
shares have virtually eliminated the company’s dual-class 
voting structure. As of March 31, 2023, the holders of the 
common shares represented approximately 99.9% of the 
company’s total outstanding voting power.

Equity Compensation Plan

On May 17, 2018, the shareholders of the company 
approved the Invacare Corporation 2018 Equity Compensation 
Plan (the “2018 Plan”), which was adopted on March 27, 2018 
by the company's Board of Directors (the “Board”). The 
company’s Board adopted the 2018 Plan in order to authorize 
additional common shares for grant as equity compensation 
and to reflect changes to Section 162(m) of the Internal 
Revenue Code (the “Code”) resulting from the U.S. Tax Cuts 
and Jobs Act of 2017. 

Following shareholder approval of the 2018 Plan, all of 
the common shares then-remaining available for issuance 
under the Invacare Corporation 2013 Equity Compensation 
Plan (the “2013 Plan”) and all of the common shares that were 
forfeited or remained unpurchased or undistributed upon 
termination or expiration of awards under the 2013 Plan and 
under the Invacare Corporation 2003 Performance Plan (the 
“2003 Plan”), become available for issuance under the 2018 
Plan. Awards granted previously under the 2013 Plan and 
2003 Plan will remain in effect under their original terms.

The 2018 Plan uses a fungible share-counting method, 
under which each common share underlying an award of stock 
options or stock appreciation rights ("SAR") will count against 
the number of total shares available under the 2018 Plan as 
one share; and each common share underlying any award 
other than a stock option or a SAR will count against the 
number of total shares available under the 2018 Plan as two 
shares. Shares underlying awards made under the 2003 Plan or 
2013 Plan that are forfeited or remain unpurchased or 
undistributed upon termination or expiration of the awards will 

become available under the 2018 Plan for use in future 
awards. Any common shares that are added back to the 2018 
Plan as the result of forfeiture, termination or expiration of an 
award granted under the 2018 Plan or the 2013 Plan will be 
added back in the same manner such shares were originally 
counted against the total number of shares available under the 
2018 Plan or 2013 Plan, as applicable. Each common share 
that is added back to the 2018 Plan due to a forfeiture, 
termination or expiration of an award granted under the 2003 
Plan will be added back as one Common Share. 

The Compensation and Management Development 
Committee of the Board (the “Compensation Committee”), in 
its discretion, may grant an award under the 2018 Plan to any 
director or employee of the company or an affiliate. As of 
March 31, 2023, 5,329,514 common shares were available for 
future issuance under the 2018 Plan in connection with the 
following types of awards with respect to the company's 
common shares: incentive stock options, nonqualified stock 
options, SARs, restricted stock, restricted stock units, 
unrestricted stock and performance shares. The Compensation 
Committee also may grant performance units that are payable 
in cash. The Compensation Committee has the authority to 
determine which participants will receive awards, the amount 
of the awards and the other terms and conditions of the 
awards. 

The 2018 Plan provides that shares granted come from the 
company's authorized but unissued common shares or treasury 
shares. In addition, the company's stock-based compensation 
plans allow employee participants to exchange shares for 
minimum withholding taxes, which results in the company 
acquiring treasury shares. 
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The amounts of equity-based compensation expense 
recognized as part of SG&A expenses in All Other in business 
segment reporting were as follows (in thousands):

For the Three Months 
Ended March 31,
2023 2022

Restricted stock and restricted stock units $ 235 $ 655 
Performance shares and performance 
share units  (54)  (345) 
Total stock-based compensation expense $ 181 $ 310 

As of March 31, 2023, unrecognized compensation 
expense related to equity-based compensation arrangements 
granted under the company's 2018 Plan, which is related to 
non-vested awards, was as follows (in thousands):

March 31, 2023
Restricted stock and restricted stock units $ 1,836 
Performance shares and performance share units  2 
Total unrecognized stock-based compensation 
expense $ 1,838 

Total unrecognized compensation cost will be adjusted for 
future changes in actual and estimated forfeitures and for 
updated vesting assumptions for the performance share awards 
(refer to "Stock Options" and "Performance Shares and 
Performance Share Units" below). No tax benefits for stock 
compensation were realized during the three months ended 
March 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, due to a valuation 
allowance against deferred tax assets. In accordance with ASC 
718, any tax benefits resulting from tax deductions in excess 
of the compensation expense recognized are classified as a 
component of financing cash flows.

Stock Options

Generally, non-qualified stock option awards have a term 
of ten years and were granted with an exercise price per share 
equal to the fair market value of the company’s common 
shares on the date of grant.  

The following table summarizes information about stock option activity for the three months ended March 31, 2023:

2023
Weighted Average

Exercise Price
Options outstanding at January 1, 2023  189,689 $ 13.43 

Forfeited  (103,462) 14.49
Options outstanding at March 31, 2023  86,227 $ 12.15 
Options exercise price range at March 31, 2023 $ 12.15 to $ 12.15 
Options exercisable at March 31, 2023  86,227 
Shares available for grant under the 2018 Plan at March 31, 2023*  5,329,514 

________
 * Shares available for grant under the 2018 Plan as of March 31, 2023 are reduced by awards and increased by forfeitures or 

expirations. At March 31, 2023, an aggregate of 1,466,569 common shares underlie awards which were forfeited or expired 
unexercised under the 2003 and 2013 Plans and thus are available for future issuance under the 2018 Plan upon transfer.

The following table summarizes information about stock options outstanding at March 31, 2023:

 Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Exercise Prices

Number
Outstanding at
March 31, 2023

Weighted Average
Remaining

Contractual Life 
(Years)

Weighted Average
Exercise Price

Number 
Exercisable at

March 31, 2023
Weighted Average

Exercise Price
$12.15 – $20.00  86,227 3.96 $ 12.15  86,227 $ 12.15 
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The 2018 Plan provides for a one-year minimum vesting 
period for stock options and, generally, options must be 
exercised within ten years from the date granted. No stock 
options were issued in 2023 or 2022. 

Restricted Stock and Restricted Stock Units

The following table summarizes information about 
restricted stock and restricted stock units (primarily for non-
U.S. recipients):

2023

Weighted 
Average Fair 

Value
Stock / Units unvested at 
January 1, 2023  1,061,867 $ 2.75 

Forfeited  (23,601)  3.35 
Stock / Units unvested at 
March 31, 2023  1,038,266 $ 2.73 

The restricted awards generally vest ratably over the three 
years after the award date. Unearned restricted awards 
compensation, determined as the market value of the shares at 
the date of grant, is being amortized on a straight-line basis 
over the vesting period as adjusted for forfeiture estimates. 

Performance Shares and Performance Share Units

The following table summarizes information about 
performance shares and performance share units (primarily for 
non-U.S. recipients):

 2023

Weighted 
Average Fair 

Value
Shares / Units unvested at 
January 1, 2023  318,071 $ 5.15 
Shares / Units unvested at 
March 31, 2023  318,071 $ 5.15 

During the three months ended March 31, 2023, no 
performance shares or performance share units (for non-U.S. 
recipients) were granted. Performance awards have a three 
year performance period with payouts based on achievement 
of certain performance goals. The awards are classified as 
equity awards as they will be settled in common shares upon 
vesting. The number of shares earned will be determined at the 
end of the three year performance period based on 
achievement of performance criteria for January 1, 2021 
through December 31, 2023 and January 1, 2022 through 
December 31, 2024, respectively established by the 
Compensation Committee at the time of grant. Recipients will 
be entitled to receive a number of common shares equal to the 
number of performance shares that vest based upon the levels 
of achievement which may range between 0% and 150% of 

the target number of shares with the target being 100% of the 
initial grant. 

The fair value of the performance awards is based on the 
stock price on the date of grant discounted for the estimated 
value of dividends foregone as the awards are not eligible for 
dividends except to the extent vested. The grant fair value is 
further updated each reporting period while variable 
accounting applies. The company assesses the probability that 
the performance targets will be met with expense recognized 
whenever it is probable that at least the minimum performance 
criteria will be achieved. Depending upon the company's 
assessment of the probability of achievement of the goals, the 
company may not recognize any expense associated with 
performance awards in a given period, may reverse prior 
expense recorded or record additional expense to recognize the 
cumulative estimated achievement level of proportionate term 
of the award. Performance award compensation expense is 
generally expected to be recognized over three years. 
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Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) by Component

Changes in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) ("OCI") (in thousands):

Foreign 
Currency

Long-Term 
Notes

Defined 
Benefit 
Plans Derivatives Total

December 31, 2022 $ (23,879) $ (3,230) $ 2,386 $ — $ (24,723) 
OCI before reclassifications  6,283  (470)  (77)  (93)  5,643 
Amount reclassified from accumulated OCI  —  —  107  93  200 
Net current-period OCI  6,283  (470)  30  —  5,843 

March 31, 2023 $ (17,596) $ (3,700) $ 2,416 $ — $ (18,880) 

Foreign 
Currency

Long-Term 
Notes

Defined 
Benefit 
Plans Derivatives Total

December 31, 2021 $ 18,961 $ 2,127 $ (4,101) $ 1 $ 16,988 
OCI before reclassifications  (6,768)  426  318  875  (5,149) 
Amount reclassified from accumulated OCI  —  —  (94)  (51)  (145) 
Net current-period OCI  (6,768)  426  224  824  (5,294) 

March 31, 2022 $ 12,193 $ 2,553 $ (3,877) $ 825 $ 11,694 

Reclassifications out of accumulated OCI were as follows (in thousands):

Amount reclassified 
from OCI

Affected line item in the Statement 
of Comprehensive (Income) Loss

For the Three Months 
Ended March 31,

2023 2022
Defined Benefit Plans  

Service and interest costs $ 107 $ (94) 
Selling, general and administrative 
expenses

Tax  —  — Income taxes
Total after tax $ 107 $ (94) 

Derivatives
Foreign currency forward contracts hedging sales $ — $ (27) Net sales
Foreign currency forward contracts hedging purchases  133  (31) Cost of products sold
Total loss (income) before tax  133  (58) 

Tax  (40)  7 Income taxes
Total after tax $ 93 $ (51) 
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Charges Related to Restructuring Activities

The company's restructuring charges were originally 
necessitated primarily by continued declines in Medicare and 
Medicaid reimbursement by the U.S. government, as well as 
similar healthcare reimbursement pressures abroad, which 
negatively affected the company's customers (e.g. home 
healthcare providers) and continued pricing pressures faced by 
the company due to the outsourcing by competitors to lower 
cost locations. Restructuring decisions were also the result of 
reduced profitability in each of the segments. Restructuring 
actions have continued into 2023.  

For the three months ended March 31, 2023, charges 
totaled $4,694,000 which were related to North America of 
$3,722,000 and Europe of $972,000. Charges were related to 
severance costs and other restructuring costs (primarily 
advisory professional fees). Payments for the three months 
ended March 31, 2023 were $10,706,000 and the cash 

payments were funded with the company's cash on hand. The 
2023 charges are expected to be paid out within 12 months.

For the three months ended March 31, 2022, severance 
and other charges totaled $3,790,000 which were related to 
North America of $1,662,000, Europe of $2,119,000 and All 
Other of $9,000. Payments for the three months ended 
March 31, 2022 were $1,336,000 and the cash payments were 
funded with the company's cash on hand. 

There have been no material changes in accrued balances 
related to the charges, either as a result of revisions to the 
plans or changes in estimates. In addition, the savings 
anticipated as a result of the company's restructuring plans 
have been or are expected to be achieved, primarily resulting 
in reduced salary and benefit costs principally impacting 
selling, general and administrative expenses, and to a lesser 
extent, costs of products sold.  

A progression by reporting segment of the accruals recorded as a result of the restructuring for the three months ended March 31, 
2023 is as follows (in thousands): 

Severance
Contract 

Terminations Other Total
December 31, 2022 Balances

North America $ 967 $ — $ 3,026 $ 3,993 
Europe  1,314  —  1,493  2,807 
All Other  1,191  —  —  1,191 
Total  3,472  —  4,519  7,991 

Charges
North America  57  —  3,665  3,722 
Europe  78  654  240  972 
All Other  —  —  —  — 
Total  135  654  3,905  4,694 

Payments
North America  (591)  —  (6,691)  (7,282) 
Europe  (849)  (654)  (1,733)  (3,236) 
All Other  (188)  —  —  (188) 
Total  (1,628)  (654)  (8,424)  (10,706) 

March 31, 2023 Balances
North America  433  —  —  433 
Europe  543  —  —  543 
All Other  1,003  —  —  1,003 
Total $ 1,979 $ — $ — $ 1,979 
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Income Taxes

The company had an effective tax rate of 2.3% and 5.8% 
on losses before tax for the three months ended March 31, 
2023 and March 31, 2022, respectively, compared to a 
statutory benefit of 21.0% on the pre-tax loss for each period. 
The company's effective tax rate for the three months 
ended March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022 
was unfavorable as compared to the U.S. federal statutory rate, 
principally due to the negative impact of the company's 
inability to record tax benefits related to the significant losses 
in countries which had tax valuation allowances. The effective 
tax rate was increased for the three months ended March 31, 
2023 and March 31, 2022 by certain taxes outside the United 
States, excluding countries with tax valuation allowances, that 
were at an effective rate higher than the U.S. statutory rate.
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Net Loss Per Common Share

The following table sets forth the computation of basic and diluted net loss per common share for the periods indicated.

(In thousands except per share data)
For the Three Months 

Ended March 31,
2023 2022

Basic
Weighted average common shares outstanding  37,994  35,046 

Net loss $ (41,177) $ (24,197) 

Net loss per common share $ (1.08) $ (0.69) 

Diluted
Weighted average common shares outstanding  37,994  35,046 
Share options and awards  43  373 
Weighted average common shares assuming dilution  38,037  35,419 

Net loss $ (41,177) $ (24,197) 

Net loss per common share * $ (1.08) $ (0.69) 
________
* Net loss per common share assuming dilution calculated utilizing weighted average shares outstanding-basic for the periods in which 
there was a net loss.

For the three ended March 31, 2023, shares associated 
with equity compensation awards of 1,246,025 and for the 
three months ended March 31, 2022, shares associated with 
equity compensation awards of 1,861,644 were excluded from 
the weighted average common shares assuming dilution as 
incremental shares were antidilutive. 

At March 31, 2023, the majority of the antidilutive 
incremental shares were awards granted at an exercise price 
above $12.15, which was higher than the average fair market 
value price of $0.23. At March 31, 2022, the majority of the 
antidilutive incremental shares were awards granted at an 
exercise price above $12.15, which was higher than the 
average fair market value price of $2.14.

For the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 
March 31, 2022, respectively, no shares were included in the 
common shares assuming dilution related to the company's 
issued warrants as the average market price of the company 
shares for these periods did not exceed the strike price of the 
warrants.

Upon adoption of ASU 2020-06, effective in 2021 for 
the company, use of the if-converted earnings per share 
method is required. However, no shares were included in the 
weighted average common shares assuming dilution for the 
three months ended March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022 

related to the company's convertible notes as conversion prices 
were above the company's average stock price for the periods 
and other requirements for the notes to be convertible to shares 
were not met. 
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Concentration of Credit Risk

The company manufactures and distributes durable 
medical equipment to the home healthcare, retail and extended 
care markets. The company performs credit evaluations of its 
customers’ financial condition. The company utilizes De Lage 
Landen, Inc. (“DLL”), a third-party financing company, to 
provide lease financing to Invacare's U.S. customers. The DLL 
agreement provides for direct leasing between DLL and the 
Invacare customer. The company retains a recourse obligation 
of $2,113,000 at March 31, 2023 to DLL for events of default 
under the contracts, which total $6,941,000 at March 31, 2023. 
Guarantees, ASC 460, requires the company to record a 
guarantee liability as it relates to the limited recourse 
obligation. As such, the company has recorded an immaterial 
liability for this guarantee obligation within other long-term 
obligations. The company's recourse is reevaluated by DLL 
biannually, considers activity between the biannual dates and 
excludes any receivables purchased by the company from 
DLL. The company monitors the collections status of these 
contracts and has provided amounts for estimated losses in its 
allowances for doubtful accounts in accordance with 
Receivables, ASC 310-10-05-4. Credit losses are provided for 
in the financial statements.

Substantially all the company’s receivables are due from 
healthcare, medical equipment providers and long-term care 
facilities located throughout the United States, Australia, 
Canada, New Zealand and Europe or also direct from 
governmental entities in certain countries. A significant 
portion of products sold to dealers, both foreign and domestic, 
is ultimately funded through government reimbursement 
programs such as Medicare and Medicaid. Changes in these 
programs can have a significant shift in reimbursement to 
customers from managed care entities. As a consequence, 
changes in these programs can have an adverse impact on 
dealer liquidity and profitability. In addition, reimbursement 
guidelines in the home healthcare industry have a substantial 
impact on the nature and type of equipment an end user can 
obtain as well as the timing of reimbursement and, thus, affect 
the product mix, pricing and payment patterns of the 
company’s customers.
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Derivatives

ASC 815 requires companies to recognize all derivative 
instruments in the condensed consolidated balance sheets as 
either assets or liabilities at fair value. The accounting for 
changes in fair value of a derivative is dependent upon 
whether or not the derivative has been designated and qualifies 
for hedge accounting treatment and the type of hedging 
relationship. For derivatives designated and qualifying as 
hedging instruments, the company must designate the hedging 
instrument, based upon the exposure being hedged, as a fair 
value hedge, cash flow hedge, or a hedge of a net investment 
in a foreign operation.

Cash Flow Hedging Strategy

The company uses derivative instruments in an attempt to 
manage its exposure to transactional foreign currency 
exchange risk. Foreign forward exchange contracts are used to 
manage the price risk associated with forecasted sales 
denominated in foreign currencies and the price risk associated 
with forecasted purchases of inventory over the next twelve 
months.

The company recognizes its derivative instruments as 
assets or liabilities in the condensed consolidated balance 
sheets measured at fair value. All of the company’s derivative 
instruments are designated and qualify as cash flow hedges. 
Accordingly, the effective portion of the gain or loss on the 
derivative instrument is reported as a component of other 
comprehensive income and reclassified into earnings in the 
same period or periods during which the hedged transaction 
affects earnings. The remaining gain or loss on the derivative 
instrument in excess of the cumulative change in the fair value 
of the hedged item, if any, is recognized in current earnings 
during the period of change.

To protect against increases/decreases in forecasted 
foreign currency cash flows resulting from inventory 
purchases/sales over the next year, the company utilizes 
foreign currency forward contracts to hedge portions of its 
forecasted purchases/sales denominated in foreign currencies. 
The gains and losses are included in cost of products sold and 
selling, general and administrative expenses on the condensed 
consolidated statements of comprehensive income (loss). If it 
is later determined that a hedged forecasted transaction is 
unlikely to occur, any prospective gains or losses on the 
forward contracts would be recognized in earnings. The 
company does not expect any material amount of hedge 
ineffectiveness related to forward contract cash flow hedges 
during the next twelve months.

The company has historically not recognized any material 
amount of ineffectiveness related to forward contract cash 
flow hedges because the company generally limits its hedges 
to between 50% and 90% of total forecasted transactions for a 
given entity’s exposure to currency rate changes and the 
transactions hedged are recurring in nature. Furthermore, most 
of the hedged transactions are related to intercompany sales 
and purchases for which settlement occurs on a specific day 
each month. Forward contracts with a total notional amount in 
USD of $6,720,000 and $10,666,000 matured during the three 
months ended March 31, 2023 and March 31, 2022. 
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At March 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022, there were no outstanding foreign currency forward exchange contracts qualifying 
and designated for hedge accounting treatment.

Derivatives Not Qualifying or Designated for Hedge Accounting Treatment

The company utilizes foreign currency forward contracts 
that are not designated as hedges in accordance with ASC 
815. These contracts are entered into to eliminate the risk 
associated with the settlement of short-term intercompany 
trading receivables and payables between Invacare 
Corporation and its foreign subsidiaries. The currency forward 
contracts are entered into at the same time as the intercompany 

receivables or payables are created so that upon settlement, the 
gain/loss on the settlement is offset by the gain/loss on the 
foreign currency forward contract. No material net gain or loss 
was realized by the company in 2023 or 2022 related to these 
contracts and the associated short-term intercompany trading 
receivables and payables.

Foreign currency forward exchange contracts not qualifying or designated for hedge accounting treatment, as well as ineffective 
hedges, entered into in 2023 and 2022, respectively, and outstanding were as follows (in thousands USD):

 March 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

 
Notional
Amount

Gain
(Loss)

Notional
Amount

Gain
(Loss)

USD / EUR  —  —  60,964  980 
$ — $ — $ 60,964 $ 980 

The fair values of the company’s derivative instruments were as follows (in thousands):

 March 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
 Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
Derivatives not designated as hedging instruments under ASC 815

Foreign currency forward exchange contracts  —  —  1,117  137 
Total derivatives $ — $ — $ 1,117 $ 137 

The fair values of the company’s foreign currency forward exchange contract assets and liabilities are included in Other Current 
Assets and Accrued Expenses, respectively in the condensed consolidated balance sheets. 
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The effect of derivative instruments on Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income (Loss) (OCI) and the condensed consolidated 
Statements of comprehensive income (loss) was as follows (in thousands):

Derivatives (foreign currency forward exchange 
contracts) in ASC 815 cash flow hedge
relationships

Amount of Gain
(Loss) Recognized 
in Accumulated 

OCI on Derivatives
(Effective Portion)

Amount of Gain (Loss)
Reclassified from

Accumulated OCI into
Income (Effective

Portion)

Amount of Gain (Loss)
Recognized in Income on
Derivatives (Ineffective 

Portion and Amount 
Excluded from

Effectiveness Testing)
Three months ended March 31, 2023

Foreign currency forward exchange contracts $ (93) $ (93) $ — 
Three months ended March 31, 2022

Foreign currency forward exchange contracts $ 875 $ 51 $ — 

Derivatives (foreign currency forward exchange 
contracts) not designated as hedging
instruments under ASC 815   

Amount of Gain (Loss)
Recognized in Income on 

Derivatives
Three months ended March 31, 2022

Foreign currency forward exchange contracts $ 602 

The gains or losses recognized as the result of the 
settlement of cash flow hedge foreign currency forward 
contracts are recognized in net sales for hedges of inventory 
sales and in cost of products sold for hedges of inventory 
purchases. For the three months ended March 31, 2023, net 
sales were decreased by $0 while cost of products sold was 
increased by $133,000 for net pre-tax realized loss of 
$133,000. For the three months ended March 31, 2022, net 
sales were increased by $27,000 while cost of products sold 
was decreased by $31,000 for net realized pre-tax gain of 
$58,000.

No gain or loss was recognized in selling, general and 
administrative (SG&A) expenses for the three months ended 
March 31, 2023 compared to a gain of $602,000  for the three 
months ended March 31, 2022 related to forward contracts not 
designated as hedging instruments. The forward contracts 
were entered into to offset gains/losses that were also recorded 
in SG&A expenses on intercompany trade receivables or 
payables. The gains/losses on the non-designated hedging 
instruments were substantially offset by gains/losses on 
intercompany trade payables.

The company's derivative agreements provide the 
counterparties with a right of set off in the event of a default. 
The right of set off would enable the counterparty to offset any 
net payment due by the counterparty to the company under the 

applicable agreement by any amount due by the company to 
the counterparty under any other agreement. For example, the 
terms of the agreement would permit a counterparty to a 
derivative contract that is also a lender under the company's 
Prior Credit Agreement to reduce any derivative settlement 
amounts owed to the company under the derivative contract by 
any amounts owed to the counterparty by the company under 
the Prior Credit Agreement. In addition, the agreements 
contain cross-default provisions that could trigger a default by 
the company under the agreement in the event of a default by 
the company under another agreement with the same 
counterparty. 

As a result of the Debtors filing for bankruptcy, any 
outstanding cash flow hedges were required to be settled and 
the company is not able to enter into such transactions while in 
Bankruptcy. 

During 2022, the company entered into privately 
negotiated Secured Convertible 2026 Notes of $41,475,000 in 
aggregate principal amount. Convertible debt conversion 
liabilities of $1,595,000 were recorded based on initial fair 
values and these fair values are updated quarterly with the 
offset to the income statement. Refer to “Long-Term Debt” in 
the notes to the consolidated financial statements for more 
detail. 

The fair values of the outstanding convertible note derivatives as of March 31, 2023 and their effect on the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income (Loss) were as follows (in thousands):
 Fair Value Gain
Secured Convertible 2026 Notes conversion long-term liability $ — $ 85 

The secured convertible 2026 notes conversion liability amounts are included in Other Long-Term Obligations in the company's 
condensed consolidated balance sheets. 
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Fair Values

Pursuant to ASC 820, the inputs used to derive the fair 
value of assets and liabilities are analyzed and assigned a level 
I, II or III priority, with level I being the highest and level III 
being the lowest in the hierarchy. Level I inputs are quoted 
prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

Level II inputs are quoted prices for similar assets or 
liabilities in active markets: quoted prices for identical or 
similar instruments in markets that are not active; and model-
derived valuations in which all significant inputs are 
observable in active markets. Level III inputs are based on 
valuations derived from valuation techniques in which one or 
more significant inputs are unobservable. 

The following table provides a summary of the company’s assets and liabilities that are measured on a recurring basis (in 
thousands):

 

Basis for Fair Value Measurements at Reporting Date
Quoted Prices in Active
Markets for Identical
Assets / (Liabilities)

Significant Other
Observable

Inputs

Significant Other
Unobservable

Inputs
Level I Level II Level III

December 31, 2022
Forward exchange contracts—net — $ 980 —
Secured convertible 2026 debt conversion liability — $ (85) —

The carrying values and fair values of the company’s financial instruments are as follows (in thousands):

 March 31, 2023 December 31, 2022

 
Carrying 

Value Fair Value
Carrying 

Value Fair Value
Cash and cash equivalents $ 66,284 $ 66,284 $ 58,792 $ 58,792 
Forward contracts in Other current assets  —  —  1,117  1,117 
Forward contracts in Accrued expenses  —  —  (137)  (137) 
Total debt (including current maturities of long-term debt) *  (393,264)  (170,940)  (354,241)  (278,027) 

Series I 2024 Notes  (72,909)  (3,645)  (72,408)  (62,460) 
Series II 2024 Notes  (77,758)  (3,888)  (76,719)  (64,678) 
2026 Notes  (69,700)  (3,485)  (67,665)  (32,276) 
2026 Secured Notes  (37,404)  (27,529)  (37,240)  (34,341) 
2026 Term Loan  (50,954)  (47,854)  (82,808)  (66,871) 
DIP Term Loan  (68,499)  (68,499)  —  — 
Other  (16,040)  (16,040)  (17,401)  (17,401) 

Secured convertible 2026 debt conversion liability in Other Long-Term 
Obligations  —  —  (85)  (85) 

________
* The company's total debt is shown net of discount and fees on the company's condensed consolidated balance sheets. Accordingly, 
the fair values included in the long-term debt presented in this table are also shown net of discount and fees. Total debt amounts 
exclude operating and finance lease obligations.
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The company, in estimating its fair value disclosures for 
financial instruments, used the following methods and 
assumptions:

Cash, cash equivalents: The carrying value reported in the 
balance sheet for cash, cash equivalents equals its fair value. 
The fair values are deemed to be categorized as Level 1. 

Forward Contracts: The company operates 
internationally, and as a result, is exposed to foreign currency 
fluctuations. Specifically, the exposure includes intercompany 
loans and third-party sales or payments. In an attempt to 
reduce this exposure, foreign currency forward contracts are 
utilized and accounted for as hedging instruments. The 
forward contracts are used to hedge the following currencies: 
AUD, CAD, DKK, EUR, GBP, MXN, NOK, NZD, SEK, 
THB, and USD. The company does not use derivative 
financial instruments for speculative purposes. Fair values for 
the company’s foreign exchange forward contracts are based 
on quoted market prices for contracts with similar maturities. 
The fair values are deemed to be categorized as Level 2. The 
company's forward contracts are included in Other Current 
Assets or Accrued Expenses in the condensed consolidated 
balance sheets. 

Total debt: Fair value for the company’s convertible debt 
at December 31, 2022, other than the 2026 Secured Notes and 
Term Loan, is based on quoted market-based estimates as of 
the end of the period. For the company's unsecured convertible 
debt at March 31, 2023, fair values align with the general 
unsecured creditor estimations presented to the Bankruptcy 
Court on March 29, 2023. The fair values are deemed to be 
categorized as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. The 2026 
Secured Notes and Term Loan fair values are based on 
valuation models in which significant inputs are observable in 
active markets. The fair values are deemed to be categorized 
as Level 2. The DIP Term Loan is short term in nature where 
the gross carrying value reported in the balance approximates 
its fair value. Other total debt is primarily attributable to 
revolving credit facilities borrowings where the carrying value 
reported in the balance approximates its fair value due to the 
variable rates approximating market and the short term nature 
of the DIP ABL. 

Convertible debt derivative: The fair value for the 
convertible debt conversion liability is based on valuation 
models in which significant inputs are observable in active 
markets. The fair values are deemed to be categorized as Level 
2.
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Business Segments

The company operates in two primary business segments: 
North America and Europe with each selling the company's 
primary product categories, which include: lifestyle, mobility 
and seating and respiratory therapy products. Sales in Asia 
Pacific are reported in All Other and include products similar 
to those sold in North America and Europe. The accounting 
policies of each segment are the same as those described in the 
summary of significant accounting policies for the company's 
condensed consolidated financial statements. Intersegment 
sales and transfers are based on the costs to manufacture plus a 
reasonable profit element. 

Segment performance is measured and resources are 
allocated based on a number of factors, with the primary 
income or loss measure being segment operating income 
(loss). Segment operating income (loss) represents net sales 
less cost of products sold less selling general and 
administrative expenses. Segment operating income (loss) 

excludes unallocated corporate general and administrative 
expenses not allocated to the segments and intersegment sales 
and profit eliminations, which are included in All Other. In 
addition, segment operating income (loss) further excludes 
charges related to restructuring activities, asset impairment 
and gain on sale of business (as applicable).

This performance measure, segment operating income 
(loss), is used by the Chief Operating Decision Maker 
(CODM) for purposes of making decisions about allocating 
resources to a segment and assessing its performance. In 
addition, this metric is reviewed by the company's Board of 
Directors regarding segment performance and is a key metric 
in the performance management assessment of the company's 
employees. 
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The information by segment is as follows (in thousands):

2023 2022
Revenues from external customers

Europe $ 104,923 $ 118,079 
North America  52,364  75,319 
All Other (Asia Pacific)  8,194  7,590 

Consolidated $ 165,481 $ 200,988 
Intersegment revenues

Europe $ 4,431 $ 4,435 
North America  6,842  11,096 
All Other (Asia Pacific)  10  — 

Consolidated $ 11,283 $ 15,531 
Restructuring charges before income taxes

Europe $ 972 $ 2,119 
North America  3,722  1,662 
All Other  —  9 

Consolidated $ 4,694 $ 3,790 
Operating income (loss)

Europe $ 6,170 $ 3,225 
North America  (10,315)  (8,336) 
All Other  (5,820)  (7,724) 
Charges related to restructuring activities  (4,694)  (3,790) 
Net gain on sale of businesses  4,212  — 

Consolidated operating loss  (10,447)  (16,625) 
Net gain on convertible debt derivatives  85  — 
Net interest expense  (9,084)  (6,252) 
Reorganization items, net  (20,791)  — 

Loss before income taxes $ (40,237) $ (22,877) 

 
For the Three Months 

Ended March 31,
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Net sales by product, are as follows (in thousands):

For the Three Months 
Ended March 31,

2023 2022
Europe

Lifestyle $ 52,802 $ 61,064 
Mobility and Seating  42,916  47,402 
Respiratory Therapy  4,692  4,663 
Other(1)  4,513  4,950 

$ 104,923 $ 118,079 
North America

Lifestyle $ 28,049 $ 34,301 
Mobility and Seating  22,312  25,422 
Respiratory Therapy  1,545  15,460 
Other(1)  458  136 

$ 52,364 $ 75,319 
All Other (Asia Pacific)

Mobility and Seating $ 2,384 $ 2,690 
Lifestyle  2,758  2,826 
Respiratory Therapy  1,639  779 
Other(1)  1,413  1,295 

$ 8,194 $ 7,590 

Total Consolidated $ 165,481 $ 200,988 
   ________________________
(1) Includes various services, including repair services, equipment rentals and external contracting.

Notes to Financial Statements Business Segments

Table of Contents

64



Contingencies

General

In the ordinary course of its business, the company is a 
defendant in a number of lawsuits, primarily product liability 
actions in which various plaintiffs seek damages for injuries 
allegedly caused by defective products. All the product 
liability lawsuits that were asserted against the company in the 
United States prior to January 31, 2023 had been referred to 
the company's captive insurance company ("Invatection 
Insurance Company"), and/or excess insurance carriers.  All 
non-U.S. lawsuits have been referred to the company's 
commercial insurance carriers. All such lawsuits are generally 
contested vigorously. The coverage territory of the company's 
insurance is worldwide with the exception of those countries 
with respect to which, at the time the product is sold for use or 
at the time a claim is made, the U.S. government has 
suspended or prohibited diplomatic or trade relations. The 
amount recorded for identified contingent liabilities is based 
on estimates. Amounts recorded are reviewed periodically and 
adjusted to reflect additional technical and legal information 
that becomes available. Actual costs to be incurred in future 
periods may vary from the estimates, given the inherent 
uncertainties in evaluating certain exposures. On January 31, 
2023, the company entered into a Commutation and Release 
Agreement with Invatection pursuant to which, among other 
things, the company assumed all outstanding insured claims 
and cancelled the captive insurance policy. On March 28, 
2023, Invatection was dissolved. The company self-insures 
product liability claims for the first $10 million per claim 
beyond which the company has commercial excess liability 
insurance coverage. The product liability lawsuits and claims 
arising prior to January 31, 2023, will be compromised 
pursuant to the company’s plan of reorganization under the 
Bankruptcy Cases.

As a medical device manufacturer, the company is 
subject to extensive government regulation, including 
numerous laws directed at preventing fraud and abuse and 
laws regulating reimbursement under various government 
programs. The marketing, invoicing, documenting, 
developing, testing, manufacturing, labeling, promoting, 
distributing and other practices of healthcare suppliers and 
medical device manufacturers are all subject to government 
scrutiny. Most of the company's facilities are subject to 
inspection at any time by the FDA or similar medical device 
regulatory agencies in other jurisdictions. Violations of law or 
regulations can result in administrative, civil and criminal 
penalties and sanctions, which could have a material adverse 
effect on the company's business.

Medical Device Regulatory Matters

The FDA in the United States and comparable medical 
device regulatory authorities in other jurisdictions regulate 
virtually all aspects of the marketing, invoicing, documenting, 
development, testing, manufacturing, labeling, promotion, 
distribution and other practices regarding medical devices. The 
company and its products are subject to the laws and 
regulations of the FDA and other regulatory bodies in the 
various jurisdictions where the company's products are 
manufactured or sold. The company's failure to comply with 
the regulatory requirements of the FDA and other applicable 
medical device regulatory requirements can subject the 
company to administrative or judicially imposed sanctions or 
enforcement actions. These sanctions include injunctions, 
consent decrees, warning letters, civil penalties, criminal 
penalties, product seizure or detention, product recalls and 
total or partial suspension of production.

In December 2012, the company became subject to a 
consent decree of injunction filed by the FDA with respect to 
the company's Corporate facility and its Taylor Street 
manufacturing facility in Elyria, Ohio. The consent decree 
initially limited the company's (i) manufacture and distribution 
of power and manual wheelchairs, wheelchair components and 
wheelchair sub-assemblies at or from its Taylor Street 
manufacturing facility ("Taylor Street products") , except in 
verified cases of medical necessity, (ii) design activities 
related to wheelchairs and power beds that take place at the 
impacted Elyria facilities and (iii) replacement, service and 
repair of products already in use from the Taylor Street 
manufacturing facility. Under the terms of the consent decree, 
in order to resume full operations, the company had to 
successfully complete independent, third-party expert 
certification audits at the impacted Elyria facilities, comprising 
three distinct certification reports separately submitted to, and 
subject to acceptance by, the FDA; submit its own report to 
the FDA; and successfully complete a reinspection by the 
FDA of the company's Corporate and Taylor Street facilities.

On July 24, 2017, following its June 2017 reinspection of 
the Corporate and Taylor Street facilities, the FDA notified the 
company that it was in substantial compliance with the Federal 
Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act ("FDA Act"), FDA regulations 
and the terms of the consent decree and, that the company was 
permitted to resume full operations at those facilities including 
the resumption of unrestricted sales of products made in those 
facilities.

Since July 24, 2017, an independent company-retained 
audit firm conducted two semi-annual audits in the first year 
and then four annual audits in the next four years of the 
company's headquarters and Taylor Street facilities, as 
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required under the consent decree. The expert audit firm 
determined that the facilities remained in continuous 
compliance with the FDA Act, FDA regulations and the terms 
of the consent decree and issued post-audit reports 
contemporaneously to the FDA. The FDA has the authority to 
inspect these facilities and any other FDA registered facility, 
at any time.

The FDA has continued to actively inspect the company's 
facilities, other than through the processes established under 
the consent decree. The company expects that the FDA will, 
from time to time, inspect substantially all the company's 
domestic and foreign FDA-registered facilities.

In 2021, FDA conducted an inspection of the company’s 
Corporate and Taylor Street facilities and at the close of the 
inspection on June 24, 2021, issued its FDA Form 483 with 
six observations.  The company timely responded to the FDA 
and has diligently taken actions to address FDA’s inspectional 
observations. On November 18, 2021, the company received a 
warning letter from the FDA concerning certain of the 
inspectional observations in the June 2021 FDA Form 483 
related to the complaint handling process, the corrective and 
preventive action (“CAPA”) process, and medical device 
reporting (“MDR”) associated with oxygen concentrators (the 
“Warning Letter”). On November 16, 2021, the company 
received a consent decree non-compliance letter from the FDA 
concerning the same complaint and CAPA handling matters as 
in the Warning Letter observations but associated with the 
Taylor Street products (this letter, together with the Warning 
Letter, the “FDA Letters”). The company timely responded to 
the FDA Letters, has diligently taken actions to address the 
FDA’s concerns, and has provided the FDA with periodic 
updates on the corrective actions taken to address the matters 
in the FDA Letters. 

The FDA conducted an inspection at the company’s 
Corporate and Taylor Street facilities from March 1 through 
March 30, 2023. At the conclusion of the inspection, two FDA 
Form 483 observations were issued. The company timely 
responded to FDA and intends to diligently address the 
observations.

The company remains committed to resolving the FDA’s 
concerns; however, it is not possible to predict the outcome or 
timing of a resolution at this time. There can be no assurance 
that the FDA will be satisfied with the company’s responses to 
the FDA Letters and Form 483, nor any assurance as to the 
timeframe that may be required for the company to adequately 
address the FDA’s concerns or whether the matters in the FDA 
Letters and Form 483 will result in an extension in the 
duration of the consent decree. As of the date of filing of the 
company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, there has been no 
impact on the company’s ability to produce and market its 
products as a result of the FDA Letters or the Form 483. 

Under the consent decree, the FDA has the authority to 
order the company to take a wide variety of actions if the FDA 
finds that the company is not in compliance with the consent 
decree, FDA Act or FDA regulations, including requiring the 
company to cease all operations relating to Taylor Street 
products. The FDA also can order the company to undertake a 
partial cessation of operations or a recall, issue a safety alert, 
public health advisory, or press release, or to take any other 
corrective action the FDA deems necessary with respect to 
Taylor Street products. 

The FDA also has authority under the consent decree to 
assess liquidated damages of $15,000 per violation per day for 
any violations of the consent decree, FDA regulations or the 
FDA Act. The FDA also may assess liquidated damages for 
shipments of adulterated or misbranded devices in the amount 
of twice the sale price of any such adulterated or misbranded 
device. The liquidated damages, if assessed, are limited to a 
total of $7,000,000 for each calendar year. The authority to 
assess liquidated damages is in addition to any other remedies 
otherwise available to the FDA, including civil money 
penalties.

The results of regulatory claims, proceedings, 
investigations, or litigation are difficult to predict. An 
unfavorable resolution or outcome of the FDA Letters, any 
other FDA warning letters or inspectional observations, or 
other FDA enforcement related to company facilities, could 
materially and adversely affect the company's business, 
financial condition, and results of operations.

The limitations previously imposed by the FDA consent 
decree negatively affected net sales in the North America 
segment and, to a certain extent, the Asia Pacific region 
beginning in 2012. The limitations led to delays in new 
product introductions. Further, uncertainty regarding how long 
the limitations would be in effect limited the company's ability 
to renegotiate and bid on certain customer contracts and 
otherwise led to a decline in customer orders. 

Although the company has been permitted to resume full 
operations at the Corporate and Taylor Street facilities, the 
negative effect of the consent decree on customer orders and 
net sales in the North America segment and Asia Pacific 
region has been considerable, and it is uncertain as to whether, 
or how quickly, the company will be able to rebuild net sales 
to more typical historical levels, irrespective of market 
conditions. Accordingly, when compared to the company's 
historic results, the previous limitations in the consent decree 
had, and likely may continue to have, a material adverse effect 
on the company's business, financial condition and results of 
operations. 
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Warranty Matters

The company's warranty reserves are subject to 
adjustment in future periods based on historical analysis of 
warranty claims and as new developments occur that may 
change the company's estimates related to specific product 
recalls. Refer to Current Liabilities in the notes to the 
condensed consolidated financial statements for the total 
provision amounts and a reconciliation of the changes in the 
warranty accrual.

Any of the above contingencies could have an adverse 
impact on the company's financial condition or results of 
operations. 

For additional information regarding the consent decree, 
other regulatory matters, and risks and trends that may impact 
the company’s financial condition or results of operations, 
please see the following sections of the company's Annual 
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2022: 
Item 1. Business - Government Regulation and Item 1A. Risk 
Factors; Item 3. Legal Proceedings; and Item 7. Management's 
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations - Liquidity and Capital Resources.
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Liabilities Subject to Compromise

During the Chapter 11 Cases, the company operated as debtor-in-possession under the jurisdiction of the Bankruptcy Court and 
in accordance with provisions of the Bankruptcy Code. On the accompanying Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet, the caption 
“Liabilities Subject to Compromise” reflects the expected allowed amount of the pre-petition claims that are not fully secured and that 
have at least a possibility of not being repaid at the full claim amount. 

Liabilities Subject to Compromise at March 31, 2023 consisted of the following (in thousands):

March 31, 2023
Current liabilities

Accounts payable $ 26,948 
Accrued expenses  18,748 

Total current liabilities  45,696 

Long-term debt  220,367 
Other long-term obligations  21,563 

Total Liabilities Subject to Compromise $ 287,626 

Determination of the value at which liabilities will ultimately be settled cannot be made until the Bankruptcy Court approves the 
Plan and reconciliation of claims occurs. The company will continue to evaluate the amount and classification of its pre-petition 
liabilities. Any additional liabilities that are subject to compromise will be recognized accordingly, and the aggregate amount of 
Liabilities Subject to Compromise may change.
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Reorganization Items, Net

Reorganization items incurred as a result of the Chapter 11 Cases are presented separately in the Condensed Consolidated 
Statements of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the three months ended March 31, 2023 and consist of the following (in thousands):

For the Three 
Months Ended 
March 31, 2023

Professional fees $ 13,598 
DIP financing costs  5,474 
Write-off of pre-petition debt issuance costs  4,060 
Gain on settlements of pre-petition claims  (2,341) 

Reorganization items, net $ 20,791 

Professional fees included in Reorganization items, net represent fees for post-petition expenses related to the Chapter 11 Cases. 

As of March 31, 2023, $15,051,000 of professional fees and DIP financing costs were unpaid and accrued in Accrued Expenses 
in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet.

Cash paid for reorganization items, net was $4,021,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2023. Payments consisted of 
$3,664,000 for DIP financing costs reflected in the Financing Activities section of the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash 
Flows, and $357,000 of professional fees reflected in the Operating Activities section of the Condensed Consolidated Statements of 
Cash Flows.

The write-off of pre-petition debt issuance costs and gain on settlements of pre-petition claims are included on the 
Reorganization items, net line as a non-cash adjustment on the Condensed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows.
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Condensed Combined Debtor-In-Possession Financial Information

The financial statements below represent the condensed combined financial statements of the Company Parties (Debtors), which 
comprise the three legal entities which filed for bankruptcy in the U.S.. The company's entities which did not file bankruptcy are 
comprised primarily of the company's international entities and are not included in the Debtors' balance sheet, Debtors' statement of 
loss and Debtors' statement of cash flows below. 

Intercompany transactions among the Company Parties have been eliminated in the financial statements contained herein. 
Intercompany transactions among the Company Parties and the non-filing entities have not been eliminated in the Debtors' balance 
sheet. 

INVACARE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
(Debtor-in-Possession)

Condensed Combined Statement of Comprehensive Income (Loss) (unaudited)

Debtors' Statements of Loss

 (In thousands, except per share data)
Three Months 

Ended March 31,

2023
Net sales $ 41,678 
Cost of products sold  36,937 

Gross Profit  4,741 
Selling, general and administrative expenses  23,481 
Gain on sale of business  (4,212) 
Charges related to restructuring activities  3,749 

Operating Loss  (18,277) 
Net gain on convertible debt derivatives  (85) 
Reorganization items, net  20,791 
Interest expense (excludes contractual interest of $2,269 for the three months ended March 31, 2023)  9,241 
Equity in earnings of non-debtor entities  (7,057) 

Loss Before Income Taxes  (41,167) 
Income tax provision  10 

Net Loss $ (41,177) 
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Defined benefit plans:

Amortization of prior service costs and unrecognized losses  23 
Deferred tax adjustment resulting from defined benefit plan activity  (5) 
Valuation reserve associated with defined benefit plan activity  5 
Other Comprehensive Income (Loss)  23 
Comprehensive Loss $ (41,154) 
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INVACARE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
(Debtor-in-Possession)

Condensed Combined Balance Sheets (unaudited)

Debtors' Balance Sheet

March 31,
2023

Assets (In thousands)
Current Assets

Cash and cash equivalents $ 27,892 
Trade receivables, net  18,595 
Due from non-debtor affiliates  105,690 
Inventories, net  28,171 
Other current assets  10,664 

Total Current Assets  191,012 
Other Assets  2,593 
Investment in subsidiaries  515,759 
Intangibles, net  2,415 
Property and Equipment, net  29,754 
Finance Lease Assets, net  20,259 
Operating Lease Assets, net  324 
Total Assets $ 762,116 

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities

Accounts payable $ 14,697 
Due to non-debtor affiliates  117,233 
Accrued expenses  30,481 
Current taxes payable  758 
Current portion of long-term debt  35,500 
Current portion of finance lease obligations  1,642 
Current portion of operating lease obligations  222 

Total Current Liabilities  200,533 
Long-Term Debt  137,228 
Finance Lease Long-Term Obligations  21,166 
Operating Leases Long-Term Obligations  83 
Other Long-Term Obligations  5,063 
Liabilities Subject to Compromise  287,626 
Total Equity attributable to the debtors  110,417 
Total Liabilities and Equity $ 762,116 
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INVACARE CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
(Debtor-in-Possession)

Condensed Combined Statements of Cash Flows (unaudited)

Debtors' Statement of Cash Flows 

For the Three 
Months Ended 

March 31,
2023

Operating Activities (In thousands)
Net loss $ (41,177) 
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash used by operating activities:

Gain on sale of business  (4,212) 
Depreciation and amortization  1,895 
Amortization of operating lease right of use assets  199 
Provision for losses on trade and installment receivables  23 
Provision for other deferred liabilities  169 
Provision for equity compensation  181 
Gain on disposals of property and equipment  (88) 
Reorganization items, net (1)  5,464 
Equity in earnings of non-debtor entities  (7,057) 
Amortization of convertible debt discount, term loan original issuance discount and accretion of convertible debt  960 
Amortization of debt fees  1,817 
Net gain on convertible debt derivatives  (85) 
Other non-cash  184 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Trade receivables  5,159 
Inventories, net  6,046 
Other current assets  (1,623) 
Accounts payable  (2,254) 
Accrued expenses  13,931 
Other long-term liabilities  (945) 

Net Cash Used by Operating Activities  (21,413) 
Investing Activities

Purchases of property and equipment  (54) 
Proceeds from sale of business  11,596 
Change in other long-term assets  (2) 
Other  (540) 

Net Cash Provided by Investing Activities  11,000 
Financing Activities

Proceeds from revolving lines of credit and long-term borrowings  43,042 
Payments on revolving lines of credit, finance leases and intercompany loans  (12,080) 
Payment of financing costs (1)  (4,155) 

Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities  26,807 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash  — 
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents  16,394 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  11,498 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period $ 27,892 

(1) Includes cash outflows of $3,664 for DIP financing costs.
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Subsequent Events

Exiting Sanford, Florida Production and Distribution Facility 

On April 5, 2023, the company announced the decision 
to close its Sanford, Florida production and distribution 
facility, effective at the end of September 2023. The 
manufacturing and distribution activities currently conducted 
at the Sanford facility will be performed at other company 
locations or by third parties. The consolidation is expected to 
impact approximately 90 associates in Florida. This decision is 
supportive of the company’s transformation efforts and is part 
of the company’s long-term plan to increase enterprise value 
by targeting significant contributions from cost reduction 
activities in North America.

The company expects to incur pre-tax cash restructuring 
charges of approximately $1.7 million in the North America 
segment, of which $0.9 million is expected to be incurred for 
severance and transition assistance and $0.8 million 
recognized for other closure-related costs. The charges are 
anticipated to be expensed in the second and third quarters of 
2023, with the majority of cash payments expected to be made 
in third quarter of 2023, aligned with the planned timing for 
the exit of the facility. 

Termination of Information Technology Services Agreement

Effective October 1, 2019, the company entered into a 
Master Information Technology Services Agreement (the 
“Master Services Agreement”) with Birlasoft Solutions Inc. 
and certain of its affiliates (collectively, “Birlasoft”), which 
are part of The CK Birla Group, to outsource substantially all 
of the company's information technology business service 
activities, including, among other things, support, 
rationalization and upgrading of the company's legacy 
information technology systems and implementation of a 
global enterprise resource planning system and eCommerce 
platform. 

On January 27, 2023, the company terminated the 
Master Services Agreement following Birlasoft's breach of the 
Master Services Agreement, including but not limited to 
Birlasoft's failure to meet transformation milestones, failure to 
provide services, and breach of representations, warranties and 
covenants in the Master Services Agreement.

On April 24, 2023, the company reached a settlement 
with Birlasoft Solutions Inc. which was approved by the 
Bankruptcy Court, pursuant to which the company will make 
payments to Birlasoft in the aggregate amount of $2,000,000 
for disengagement services to be completed by Birlasoft on or 
about May 31, 2023. 

Bankruptcy Emergence

On April 28, 2023, the Bankruptcy Court entered an 
order (the “Confirmation Order”) confirming the First 
Amended Joint Chapter 11 Plan of Reorganization of Invacare 
Corporation and its Debtor Affiliates (Technical 
Modifications) (the “Plan”). 

On May 5, 2023, the Debtors satisfied the remaining 
conditions precedent to consummation of the Plan as set forth 
in the Plan, the Plan became effective in accordance with its 
terms, and the Debtors emerged from the Chapter 11 Cases 
without any need for further action or order of the Bankruptcy 
Court. 

In connection with the satisfaction of the conditions to 
effectiveness as set forth in the Confirmation Order and in the 
Plan, Invacare Corporation completed a series of transactions 
pursuant to which it became a wholly owned subsidiary of 
Invacare Holdings Corporation, a Delaware corporation, and 
conveyed certain of its foreign subsidiaries to a second wholly 
owned subsidiary of Invacare Holdings Corporation, Invacare 
Holdings Corp.

On May 5, 2023, in connection with emergence from the 
Chapter 11 Cases, Invacare Holdings Corporation (A) entered 
into an Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, which 
amends, restates and replaces in its entirety the Credit 
Agreement, originally dated as of July 26, 2022, among 
Invacare Corporation, the lenders party thereto, Cantor 
Fitzgerald Securities, as administrative agent for the lenders 
thereunder, and GLAS Trust Corporation Limited, as 
collateral agent for the secured parties thereunder, with certain 
funds managed by Highbridge Capital Management, LLC, as 
the lenders, Cantor Fitzgerald Securities, as administrative 
agent, and GLAS Trust Company LLC, as collateral agent; (B) 
entered into a Loan and Security Agreement, among Invacare 
Holdings Corporation, Invacare Corporation, Medbloc, Inc., 
Invacare Canada L.P., Perpetual Motion Enterprises Limited, 
the guarantors party thereto, the several financial institution 
parties as lenders, and White Oak Commercial Finance, LLC, 
as administrative agent and collateral agent; (C) issued (i) 
$25,739,000 in aggregate principal amount of the Invacare 
Holdings Corporation’s new 7.50% Convertible Senior 
Secured Notes due 2028, Tranche I, issued pursuant to that 
certain indenture, by and among Invacare Holdings 
Corporation, the guarantors party thereto, and GLAS 
Company LLC, as trustee (in such capacity, the “Trustee”) and 
notes collateral agent (in such capacity, the “Collateral 
Agent”), and (ii) $20,736,000 in aggregate principal amount of 
Invacare Holdings Corporation’s new 7.50% Convertible 
Senior Secured Notes due 2028, Tranche II, issued pursuant to 
that certain indenture, by and among Invacare Holdings 
Corporation, the guarantors party thereto, the Trustee and the 
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Collateral Agent; and (D) issued 9,999,980 shares of common 
stock (the “Common Stock”), par value $0.001 per share, and 
6,750,011 shares of Invacare Holdings Corporation’s 9.00% 
Series A Convertible Participating Preferred Stock, par value 
$0.001 per share, (including the Common Stock that may be 
issued in exchange therefor); as further disclosed in the 
Current Report on 8-K filed by Invacare Holdings Corporation 
with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on May 8, 
2023.

The company’s use of its net operating loss 
carryforwards is generally limited under section 382 of the 
Internal Revenue Code of 1986 (the “IRC”) if the company 
undergoes an “ownership change.” When an “ownership 
change” occurs pursuant to a case commenced under chapter 
11 of the Bankruptcy Code, the general limitation under 
section 382 of the IRC may not apply if certain requirements 
are satisfied under either section 382(l)(5) or section 382(l)(6) 
of the IRC. The company will experience an “ownership 
change” in connection with the reorganization, but the 
company has not yet determined whether it will be eligible for 
or rely on the special rule under section 382(l)(5) or the 
special rule under section 382(l)(6) of the IRC. If the company 
relies on section 382(l)(5) of the IRC, a second “ownership 
change” within two years from the Effective Date could 
eliminate completely the company’s ability to utilize its net 
operating loss carryovers. Regardless of whether the company 
relies on section 382(l)(5) of the IRC, an “ownership change” 
after the Effective Date could significantly limit the 
Company’s ability to utilize its net operating loss 
carryforwards for taxable years including or following such 
“ownership change.”

Further, various leases were rejected or amended upon 
emergence from the Chapter 11 Cases. Specifically, the real 
estate leases of two properties adjacent to the headquarters 
building and manufacturing facility in Elyria, Ohio were 
rejected. The headquarters and manufacturing facilities 
properties leases in Elyria, Ohio were amended to a term of 
five years, and the property lease for the manufacturing 
facility in Sanford, Florida was amended to a term ending 
December 31, 2023. 
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Item 3.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About 
Market Risk. 

Invacare Holdings Corporation (predecessor Invacare 
Corporation) is a smaller reporting company as defined by 
Rule 12b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended, and is not required to provide the information 
otherwise required under this item.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures.

(a) Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of March 31, 2023, an evaluation was performed, 
under the supervision and with the participation of the 
company’s management, including the Chief Executive 
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the 
design and operation of the company’s disclosure controls and 
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 
15d-15(e)). Based on that evaluation, the company’s 
management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief 
Financial Officer, concluded that the company’s disclosure 
controls and procedures were effective as of March 31, 2023, 
in ensuring that information required to be disclosed by the 
company in the reports it files and submits under the Exchange 
Act is (1) recorded, processed, summarized and reported, 
within the time periods specified in the Commission’s rules 
and forms and (2) accumulated and communicated to the 
company’s management, including the Chief Executive 
Officer and the Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to 
allow for timely decisions regarding required disclosure.   

(b) Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in the company’s internal 
control over financial reporting that occurred during the 
company’s last fiscal quarter that have materially affected, or 
are reasonably likely to materially affect, the company’s 
internal control over financial reporting.
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Part II.  OTHER INFORMATION 

Item 1. Legal Proceedings.

On January 31, 2023 (the “Petition Date”), the company 
and two of its U.S. subsidiaries (collectively, the “Debtors” or 
“Company Parties”) filed voluntary petitions under chapter 11 
of the United States Bankruptcy Code (the “Bankruptcy 
Code”) in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern 
District of Texas (the “Bankruptcy Court”).  The Debtors 
obtained joint administration of their chapter 11 cases under 
the caption In re Invacare Corporation, et al., Case No. 
23-90068 (CML) (the “Chapter 11 Cases”).  See  Part I, Item 2 
of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and Item 1. Business 
— Bankruptcy and Item 1A. Risk Factors — Bankruptcy in 
the company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 2022.

In the ordinary course of its business, the company is a 
defendant in a number of lawsuits, primarily product liability 
actions in which various plaintiffs seek damages for injuries 
allegedly caused by defective products. All the product 
liability lawsuits that were asserted against the company in the 
United States had been referred to the company's captive 
insurance company, Invatection Insurance Company 
(“Invatection”), and/or excess insurance carriers. All non-U.S. 
lawsuits have been referred to the company's commercial 
insurance carriers. All such lawsuits are generally contested 
vigorously. The coverage territory of the company's insurance 
is worldwide with the exception of those countries with 
respect to which, at the time the product is sold for use or at 
the time a claim is made, the U.S. government has suspended 
or prohibited diplomatic or trade relations. On January 31, 
2023, the company entered into a Commutation and Release 
Agreement with Invatection pursuant to which, among other 
things, the company assumed all outstanding insured claims 
and cancelled the captive insurance policy.  On March 28, 
2023, Invatection was dissolved. The company self-insures 
product liability claims for the first $10 million per claim 
beyond which the company has commercial excess liability 
insurance coverage. Management does not believe that the 
outcome of any of these actions will have a material adverse 
effect upon the company's business or financial condition. The 
product liability lawsuits and claims arising prior to January 
31, 2023, are to be compromised pursuant to the company’s 
plan of reorganization under the Bankruptcy Cases.

In December 2012, the company became subject to a 
consent decree of injunction filed by the FDA in the U.S. 
District Court for the Northern District of Ohio with respect to 
the company's Corporate facility and its Taylor Street 
manufacturing facility in Elyria, Ohio. On July 24, 2017, 
following its reinspection of the Corporate and Taylor Street 
facilities, FDA notified the company that it was in substantial 
compliance with the FDA Act, FDA regulations and the terms 

of the consent decree and that the company was permitted to 
resume full operations at those facilities, including the 
resumption of unrestricted sales of products made in those 
facilities.

Since July 24, 2017, an independent company-retained 
audit firm conducted two semi-annual audits in the first year 
and then four annual audits in the next four years of the 
company's Corporate and Taylor Street facilities, as required 
under the consent decree. The expert audit firm determined 
that the facilities remained in continuous compliance with the 
Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act (“FDA Act”), FDA 
regulations and the terms of the consent decree and issued 
post-audit reports contemporaneously to the FDA. 

The FDA has the authority to inspect the Corporate and 
Taylor Street facilities, and any other FDA registered facility, 
at any time. The FDA also has the authority to order the 
company to take a wide variety of actions if the FDA finds 
that the company is not in compliance with the consent decree, 
FDA Act or FDA regulations, including requiring the 
company to cease all operations relating to Taylor Street 
products. The FDA also can order the company to undertake a 
partial cessation of operations or a recall, issue a safety alert, 
public health advisory, or press release, or to take any other 
corrective action the FDA deems necessary with respect to 
Taylor Street products. 

The FDA also has authority under the consent decree to 
assess liquidated damages of $15,000 per violation per day for 
any violations of the consent decree, FDA Act or FDA 
regulations. The FDA also may assess liquidated damages for 
shipments of adulterated or misbranded devices in the amount 
of twice the sale price of any such adulterated or misbranded 
device. The liquidated damages, if assessed, are limited to a 
total of $7,000,000 for each calendar year. The authority to 
assess liquidated damages is in addition to any other remedies 
otherwise available to the FDA, including civil money 
penalties.

In November 2021, the company received a Warning 
Letter from the FDA concerning certain of the June 2021 FDA 
Form 483 inspectional observations related to the complaint 
handling, CAPA and MDR processes, associated with oxygen 
concentrators. The company also received a consent decree 
non-compliance letter from the FDA concerning the same 
complaint and CAPA handling matters as in the Warning 
Letter but associated with the Taylor Street products. The 
company timely responded to the FDA Letters, has diligently 
taken actions to address the FDA’s concerns, and has provided 
the FDA with periodic updates on the corrective actions taken 
to address the matters in the FDA Letters. 
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The FDA conducted an inspection at the company’s 
Corporate and Taylor Street facilities from March 1 through 
March 30, 2023. At the conclusion of the inspection, two FDA 
Form 483 observations were issued. The company timely 
responded to the FDA and intends to diligently address the 
observations.

The company remains committed to resolving the FDA’s 
concerns; however, it is not possible to predict the outcome or 
timing of a resolution at this time. There can be no assurance 
that the FDA will be satisfied with the company’s responses to 
the FDA Letters and Form 483, nor any assurance as to the 
timeframe that may be required for the company to adequately 
address the FDA’s concerns or whether the matters in the FDA 
Letters and Form 483 will result in an extension in the 
duration of the consent decree. Additional information 
regarding the consent decree and the FDA Letters is included 
in the "Contingencies" note to the financial statements 
contained in Part I of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and 
Item 1. Business - Government Regulation and Item 1A. Risk 
Factors in the company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the 
year ended December 31, 2022.
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Item 1A.  Risk Factors

Except as set forth below, there have been no material 
changes to the risk factors disclosed in Part 1, Item 1A "Risk 
Factors" in the company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for 
the year ended December 31, 2022.

Risks Related to the Company's Emergence from 
Bankruptcy 

The ongoing effects of the Chapter 11 Cases, including 
the risks and uncertainties associated with bankruptcy, may 
harm the company’s business following emergence.

The company has only recently emerged from 
bankruptcy. The company’s senior management has been 
required to spend a significant amount of time and effort 
attending to the Plan instead of focusing exclusively on the 
company’s business operations. Risks associated with 
emergence from bankruptcy include the company’s ability to 
maintain its relationships with its suppliers, customers, 
employees, service providers, regulators, and other third 
parties; and its ability to maintain contracts that are critical to 
its operations.

The company’s historical financial information may 
not be indicative of its future financial performance as a 
result of the implementation of the Plan.

The company’s capital structure was significantly altered 
under the Plan. Upon emergence from bankruptcy, the 
company will adopt fresh-start accounting in accordance with 
ASC 852, Reorganizations. Under fresh-start accounting rules 
that apply to the company following its emergence from 
bankruptcy, the company’s assets and liabilities will be 
adjusted to fair value and the company’s accumulated deficit 
will be restated to zero. In addition, the company expects to 
adopt certain accounting policy changes as part of fresh-start 
accounting and such policies could result in material changes 
to the company’s financial reporting and results. Accordingly, 
the company’s financial condition and results of operations 
following its emergence from Chapter 11 will not be 
comparable to the financial condition and results of operations 
reflected in the company’s historical consolidated financial 
statements. As a result, investors should not rely on these 
results as indicative of the company’s future performance. 

There can be no assurance as to the effect that the 
company’s bankruptcy and emergence from Chapter 11 will 
have on its relationships with its business partners.

There can be no assurance as to the effect that the 
company’s bankruptcy and emergence from Chapter 11 will 
have on its ongoing relationships with its suppliers, customers, 
employees, or service providers. To the extent that any of 

these events result in the tightening of payment or credit 
terms, increases in the price of supplied goods, or the loss of 
one or more major customers, service providers or key 
employees, it could have a material adverse effect on the 
company’s business, financial condition, liquidity and results 
of operations.

Upon emergence from bankruptcy, the composition of 
the company’s management team may change and the 
composition of the Board of Directors has changed 
significantly.

The composition of the company’s senior management 
team has remained unchanged through the Chapter 11 Cases 
and emergence from bankruptcy, however the composition of 
the company’s management team may change, and could 
change significantly. Qualified individuals are in high demand 
and the company may incur significant costs to attract them. 
The loss of key employees or unexpected changes in the 
composition of the company’s management team could 
materially and adversely affect its ability to execute its 
strategy and implement operational initiatives which could 
have a material and adverse effect on the company’s financial 
condition, liquidity and results of operations.

In addition, upon emergence from bankruptcy, the 
composition of the company’s board of directors changed 
significantly. The company’s current directors have different 
backgrounds, experiences and perspectives from those 
individuals who previously served on the company’s board of 
directors during bankruptcy, and the current board of directors 
may have different views on strategic initiatives and a range of 
issues that will determine the future of the company. As a 
result, the future strategy and plans of the company may differ 
materially from those of the past.
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Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

The following table presents information with respect to repurchases of common shares made by the company during the three 
months ended March 31, 2023.

Period

Total Number 
of Shares

Purchased (1)
Avg. Price Paid

Per Share $

Total Number
of Shares Purchased 

as Part of Publicly
Announced Plans 

or Programs

Maximum Number
of Shares That May 

Yet Be Purchased 
Under the Plans or 

Programs (2)
1/1/2023 - 1/31/2023 — $ — — 2,453,978
2/1/2023 - 2/28/2023 —  — — 2,453,978
3/1/2023 - 3/31/2023 —  — — 2,453,978
Total — $ — — 2,453,978

________ 
(1) No shares were repurchased between January 1, 2023 and March 31, 2023 or were surrendered to the company by employees 

for minimum tax withholding purposes in conjunction with the vesting of restricted shares awarded to the employees or 
exercise of non-qualified options under the company's equity compensation plans. 

(2) In 2001, the Board of Directors authorized the company to purchase up to 2,000,000 common shares, excluding any shares 
acquired from employees or directors as a result of the exercise of options or vesting of restricted shares pursuant to the 
company’s performance plans. The Board of Directors reaffirmed its authorization of this repurchase program on November 5, 
2010, and on August 17, 2011 authorized an additional 2,046,500 shares for repurchase under the plan. To date, the company 
has purchased 1,592,522 shares under this program, with authorization remaining to purchase 2,453,978 shares. The company 
purchased no shares pursuant to this Board authorized program during the quarter ended March 31, 2023. 

Under the terms of the company's Credit Agreement, repurchases of shares by the company generally are not permitted except in 
certain limited circumstances in connection with the vesting or exercise of employee equity compensation awards. 

NYSE Delisting Proceedings

On February 1, 2023, the company was notified by the staff of NYSE Regulation, Inc. (“NYSE Regulation”) that it had 
suspended trading in the company's common shares on the New York Stock Exchange (“NYSE”) and determined to commence 
proceedings to delist the company’s common shares from the NYSE. NYSE Regulation reached its decision that the company is no 
longer suitable for listing pursuant to NYSE Listed company Manual Section 802.01D after the company filed the Chapter 11 Cases 
referenced in Item 1. Business - Bankruptcy in the company's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year-end December 31, 2022.  The 
company's common shares were subsequently delisted from the NYSE effective February 16, 2023.

Following delisting from the NYSE, the company's common shares commenced trading in the OTC Pink Open Market under the 
symbol “IVCRQ”. The OTC Pink Open Market is a significantly more limited market than the NYSE, and quotation on the OTC Pink 
Open Market likely results in a less liquid market for existing and potential holders of the common shares to trade the company’s 
common shares and could further depress the trading price of the common shares. The company can provide no assurance that its 
common shares will continue to trade on this market, whether broker-dealers will continue to provide public quotes of the common 
shares on this market, or whether the trading volume of the common shares will be sufficient to provide for an efficient trading market.
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Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities.

The filing of the Chapter 11 Cases constituted an event of default that accelerated the Debtors' obligations under the following 
debt instruments (the "Debt Instruments"):

• Indenture, dated as of November 19, 2019, by and between Invacare Corporation and Wells Fargo Bank, National 
Association, as trustee, and the $72,909,000 aggregate outstanding principal amount of Invacare Corporation's 5.00% 
Convertible Senior Exchange Notes due 2024 issued thereunder.

• Indenture, dated as of June 4, 2020, by and between Invacare Corporation and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as 
trustee, and the $68,875,000 aggregate outstanding principal amount of Invacare Corporation’s 5.00% Series II Convertible 
Senior Exchange Notes due 2024 issued thereunder.

• Indenture, dated as of March 16, 2021, by and between Invacare Corporation and Wells Fargo Bank, National Association, as 
trustee, and the $69,700,000 aggregate outstanding principal amount of Invacare Corporation’s 4.25% Convertible Senior 
Notes due 2026 issued thereunder.

• Indenture, dated as of July 26, 2022, by and among Invacare Corporation, the guarantors party thereto, Computershare Trust 
Company, N.A., as trustee, and GLAS Corporation Limited, as notes collateral agent, and the $20,739,000 aggregate 
outstanding principal amount of Invacare Corporation’s 5.68% Convertible Senior Secured Notes due 2026, Tranche I issued 
thereunder.

• Indenture, dated as of July 26, 2022, by and among Invacare Corporation, the guarantors party thereto, Computershare Trust 
Company, N.A., as trustee, and GLAS Corporation Limited, as notes collateral agent, and the $20,736,000 aggregate 
outstanding principal amount of Invacare Corporation’s 5.68% Convertible Senior Secured Notes due 2026, Tranche II issued 
thereunder.

• Credit Agreement, dated as of July 26, 2022, by and among Invacare Corporation for up to an aggregate of $104,500,000 
principal amount of secured term loan with Highbridge Capital Management, LLC as the lender, Cantor Fitzgerald Securities 
as administrative agent and GLAS Trust Corporation Limited, as collateral agent.

• Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of July 26, 2022, by and among Invacare Corporation, the 
borrowers, guarantors and lenders party thereto, and PNC Bank, National Association, as administrative agent.

As previously disclosed, any efforts to enforce the payment obligations under the Debt Instruments are automatically stayed as a 
result of the Chapter 11 Cases, and the creditors' rights of enforcement in respect of the Debt Instruments are subject to the applicable 
provisions of the Bankruptcy Code. 

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information.

None. 
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Item 6. Exhibits

Exhibit       
No.  

31.1 Chief Executive Officer Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification (filed herewith).
31.2 Chief Financial Officer Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification (filed herewith).
32.1 Certification of the Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 

of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (furnished herewith).
32.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of 

the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (furnished herewith).

101.INS*
Inline XBRL instance document - The instance document does not appear in the interactive data file because its 
XBRL tags are embedded within the inline XBRL document.

101.SCH* Inline XBRL taxonomy extension schema
101.CAL* Inline XBRL taxonomy extension calculation linkbase
101.DEF* Inline XBRL taxonomy extension definition linkbase
101.LAB* Inline XBRL taxonomy extension label linkbase
101.PRE* Inline XBRL taxonomy extension presentation linkbase
104* Cover page of the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q formatted in Inline XBRL.

 * Filed herewith
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its 
behalf by the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.  
 

  INVACARE HOLDINGS CORPORATION

Date: May 15, 2023 By:  /s/ Kathleen P. Leneghan
Name:  Kathleen P. Leneghan

   Title:  Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
   (As Principal Financial and Accounting Officer and on behalf of the registrant)

Signatures
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Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Geoffrey P. Purtill, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Invacare Holdings Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material 
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not 
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present 
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the 
periods presented in this report;

4. I am responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 
designed under my supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to me by others within those entities, particularly during the period 
in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial 
reporting to be designed under my supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report 
my conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period 
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred 
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual 
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control 
over financial reporting; and

5. I have disclosed, based on my most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s 
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over 
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, 
summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role 
in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

 /s/ GEOFFREY P. PURTILL

Date: May 15, 2023

Geoffrey P. Purtill
President and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATIONS

I, Kathleen P. Leneghan, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of Invacare Holdings Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material 
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not 
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present 
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the 
periods presented in this report;

4. I am responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 
designed under my supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to me by others within those entities, particularly during the period 
in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial 
reporting to be designed under my supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report 
my conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period 
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred 
during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual 
report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control 
over financial reporting; and

5. I have disclosed, based on my most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s 
auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over 
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, 
summarize and report financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role 
in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

 /s/ KATHLEEN P. LENEGHAN

Date: May 15, 2023

Kathleen P. Leneghan
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)



Exhibit 32.1

Certification
Pursuant to Section 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,

as adopted pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Invacare Holdings Corporation (the “company”) on Form 10-Q for the period 
ending March 31, 2023 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Geoffrey P. 
Purtill, President and Chief Executive Officer of the company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant 
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 
operations of the company.

 /s/ GEOFFREY P. PURTILL

Date: May 15, 2023

Geoffrey P. Purtill
President and Chief Executive Officer

(Principal Executive Officer)

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Invacare Holdings Corporation 
and will be retained by Invacare Holdings Corporation and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff 
upon request.



Exhibit 32.2

Certification
Pursuant to Section 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,

as adopted pursuant to Section 906
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

In connection with the Quarterly Report of Invacare Holdings Corporation (the “company”) on Form 10-Q for the period 
ending March 31, 2023 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Kathleen P. 
Leneghan, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as 
adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 
operations of the company.

 /s/ KATHLEEN P. LENEGHAN

Date: May 15, 2023

Kathleen P. Leneghan
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

(Principal Financial Officer)

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to Invacare Holdings Corporation 
and will be retained by Invacare Holdings Corporation and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff 
upon request.
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